

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

Using Transformational Leadership to Reduce Employee Turnover in Hospital Organizations

Sylvia McManus Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Sylvia McManus

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Romuel Nafarrete, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration
Faculty

Dr. Tim Truitt, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Mary Dereshiwsky, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2019

Abstract

Using Transformational Leadership to Reduce Employee Turnover in Hospital
Organizations

by

Sylvia McManus

MS, Walden University, 2014

BS, Walden University, 2011

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2019

Abstract

Employee turnovers have been challenging and costly for most organizations. Organization leaders are concerned with employee turnover due to the high cost of training replacements. Grounded in Burns's model of transformational leadership, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to identify strategies hospital managers used to reduce Environmental Services (EVS) employee turnover. The participants consisted of 5 EVS managers with recruiting and hiring responsibilities from the Piedmont Triad and Research Triangle Park of North Carolina who experienced EVS turnover, yet implemented effective leadership strategies to retain workers. Yin's 5 stages of data analysis were used to analyze data collected through semistructured interviews, company documents, and note taking. Four themes emerged from the analysis: communication, leadership, training and development, and employee engagement and productivity. The implications for positive social change include the potential for stakeholders to effectively use strategies to improve retention and turnover, decrease the unemployment rate, increase the growth of the organization, and increase employee productivity and patient safety. Positive social change may lead to better opportunities for employees and provide prosperity for families and communities.

Using Transformational Leadership to Reduce Employee Turnover in Hospital Organizations

by

Sylvia McManus

MS, Walden University, 2014 BS, Walden University, 2011

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2019

Dedication

This study is dedicated to my wonderful children, DeOsher Little, and Kayla McManus-Wilson; to the loving memories of my father, William Little, my mother, Bettie Little, and my sisters, Ola Stone, Betty Ham, Marilyn Little, and Pattie Little; and to my four grandchildren, Nassir Martin, Ja'Marion Martin, Dezah'nya Martin and Amar'ee McManus. With a special thank you to my dear friend Cynthia Carmicheal and family.

Acknowledgments

I thank God for an outstanding achievement I could not have done without his favor and blessings upon my life and family. I would like to thank Dr. Freda Turner as well as my chairperson, Dr. Roy Nafarrete, and my committee members, Dr. Tim Truitt, Dr. Julia East, and Dr. Mary Dereshiwsky for their support and feedback. I would like to thank my Editor Reginald Stone. I thank my colleagues at Walden University for the encouragement and for believing in me throughout my doctoral study.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	2
Problem Statement	3
Purpose Statement.	3
Nature of the Study	4
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	6
Operational Definitions	7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
Assumptions	7
Limitations	8
Delimitations	8
Significance of the Study	9
Contribution to Business Practice	9
Implications for Social Change	10
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
Transformational Leadership Theory	12
Contrasting Theories of the Conceptual Framework	28
The Efficacy of Transformational Leadership as a Retention Strategy	53

Transition	65
Section 2: The Project	68
Purpose Statement	68
Role of the Researcher	68
Participants	71
Research Method and Design	73
Research Method	73
Research Design	75
Population and Sampling	77
Ethical Research	79
Data Collection Instruments	81
Data Collection Technique	83
Data Organization Technique	86
Data Analysis	87
Reliability and Validity	90
Reliability	90
Validity	91
Transition and Summary	93
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	94
Introduction	94
Presentation of the Findings.	94
Keywords	95

Emerging Theme 1: Effective Communication	96
Emerging Theme 2: Leadership	98
Emerging Theme 3: Training and Development	100
Emerging Theme 4: Employee Engagement and Productivity	101
Applications to Professional Practice	104
Implications for Social Change	105
Recommendations for Action	106
Recommendations for Further Research.	107
Reflections	108
Summary and Study Conclusion.	110
References	111
Appendix A: Interview Questions	165
Annendix R: Interview Protocol	166

List of Tables

Table 1. Summary of Themes for Strategies to Retain EVS Employees	95
Table 2. Keyword Frequency: Top 14 Keywords and Phrases	96

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Employees of any organization are the most significant asset and losing a skilled workforce can become a costly complex business problem. Employee turnover continues to be challenging for U.S. hospital organizations (Collins, McKinnies, Matthews, & Collins, 2015; Davis, 2013; Miller, 2014). The associated cost of replacing employees ranges from 32% to 114% of an individual's annual salary (Collins et al., 2015). Turnover in health care organizations is expensive, hurts patient care quality, and negatively affects the organization (Tullar et al., 2016). The price of losing employees in the health care industry is challenging and often problematic. Losing employees bear a significant effect on patients, and their satisfaction with the services received. As people live longer and baby boomers retire, and the need for health care increases, turnover is expected to remain at the forefront of an organization's priority list, and managers must realize their long-term advantages reside in their employees.

Retaining valuable employees is critical to an organization. Conversely, strategies that preserve experienced and talented workers are essential to organization growth and contribute to an organization's profitability and sustainability (Chen, 2014; Mann & Gupta, 2014; Vasquez, 2014; Shaw et al., 2013). Hospital organizations losing key employees must develop effective retention strategies (Mann & Gupta, 2014). The Association for the Health care Environment of the American Hospital Association (AHA, 2013) defines *health care environmental services (EVS)* technicians as integral members of hospital patient care teams who play an increasingly strategic role in health care. Although EVS workers perform crucial and potentially life-saving work, these

departments suffer from very high voluntary and involuntary turnover (St. Clair, 2014). The findings from this study may provide insight into how EVS managers can better retain qualified employees, which may help improve overall patient care and decrease costs for hospitals.

Background of the Problem

Employees who remain with their organization help maintain a stable workforce while decreasing cost. Managers care about employee retention and turnover because having enough staff may ensure better work performance and productivity from workers. However, employee turnover continues to be challenging to health care industries and viewed as intrinsically harmful to an organization's bottom line (Collins et al., 2015; Davis, 2013; Miller, 2014). Failing to retain key employees is a costly proposition for an organization. In the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics Report in (2017), 3.2 million people quit their jobs. One of the critical components for maintaining a sustainable and profitable organization is employee retention (Mann & Gupta, 2014). Employee retention strategies are vital to an organization because issues such as employee training, recruitment, and loss of job knowledge become costly to the business (Bryant & Allen, 2013). When the turnover rate in the EVS department is low, the hospital organization can benefit from their employee's talents, knowledge, and a sustainable workforce (Tews, Michel, & Ellingson, 2013). Organizations are failing to retain valuable employees in light of voluntary turnover, and leadership styles used to oversee the employee causes human capital to deplete (Shaw, Park, & Kim, 2013). Implementing retention strategies can be beneficial to employees and a business' performance. Organizations failing to

retain quality workers risk losing the valuable knowledge that can help the business to grow. Replacing valuable employees is costly and destructive to the organization.

Problem Statement

U.S. business leaders spend more than \$720 million annually to retain experienced and talented employees (Collins et al., 2015). In the U. S. Bureau of Labor Statistics Report (2017), more than 5.4 million employees separated from their jobs because of voluntary employee turnover, layoffs, and terminations. Housekeeping, or EVS, has the enormous responsibility of maintaining and cleaning a large, complex facility that operates 24 hours per day 7 days a week, using a workforce susceptible to high turnover rates (St. Clair, 2014). The general business problem that I addressed in this study is that high turnover of talented employees decreases organizational profitability (Awan, 2015; Lussier & Hendon, 2015; Terera & Ngirande, 2014). The specific business problem that I addressed in this study is some hospital managers lack strategies to reduce EVS employee turnover.

Purpose Statement

My purpose in this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies that some hospital managers used to reduce EVS employee turnover. The population for this study consisted of two hospitals and five EVS managers with recruiting and hiring responsibilities from the Piedmont Triad and Research Triangle Park of North Carolina. The potential implications for positive social change include retaining experienced and talented EVS employees, decreasing voluntary turnover, decreasing the unemployment

rate, increasing the potential to improve sustainability and growth of the organization, and increasing patient safety by developing effective turnover strategies.

Nature of the Study

I selected a qualitative methodology for this study because I sought to understand and gain a deeper insight into strategies EVS managers used to decrease EVS employee turnover. The qualitative research method is the collection, analysis, and interpretation of comprehensive narrative and nonnumeric data to gain insights into a particular phenomenon of interest (Vasquez, 2014; Yin, 2015). Myers (2013) and Hoare and Hoe (2012) found that quantitative research relies on the collection, analysis, and data interpretation by observing figures, and mathematical patterns that determine relationships between variables. The quantitative research method was not appropriate because I did not concentrate on experimental methods, measures to test theories, hypothetical modeling, or mathematical modeling. The mixed method is a combination of both qualitative and quantitative data that provides a broader perspective (Venkatesh, Brown & Bala, 2013; Yin, 2014). The mixed method approach was not suitable for this study because I did not use both quantitative and qualitative method for a single study. Therefore, there is no need to analyze data from the combination of both qualitative and numerical patterns used in a quantitative method. A qualitative method was appropriate because my purpose in this study was to explore how managers in the health care industry reduce EVS employee turnover.

I considered three research designs for this doctoral study, ethnographical, phenomenological, and case study designs. A case study allows the researcher to focus on

contemporary issues and does not solely address historical phenomenon (Noor, 2008; Yin, 2014). A case study design was an appropriate choice for this study because this approach allows for a better understanding of *how* and *why* questions based on reallife situations. An ethnographical researcher focuses on exploring distinct cultural traits of individuals, groups, shared patterns, beliefs, and behaviors (Marshall & Rossman, 2014; Petty, Thomson, & Stew, 2012). Ethnographical was not appropriate because I did not interact with group members or focus on cultural traits. A phenomenological researcher explores, describes, and analyzes the lived experiences of a phenomenon (Marshall & Rossman, 2014). The phenomenological approach was not appropriate because I did not focus on prolonged engagement and the essence of participants' lived experiences.

Research Question

The overarching research question for this multiple qualitative study was as follows: What strategies do hospital managers use to reduce EVS employee turnover?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use to retain EVS employees?
- 2. How did you gather information to implement strategies to reduce EVS turnover?
- 3. How do you measure the effectiveness of EVS retention strategies?
- 4. How did the EVS employees respond to these strategies?
- 5. What elements of the occupation add to the employees' turnover?
- 6. Moreover, what elements of the organization contribute to, or detract from, EVS employee retention?

- 7. What advice can you provide to other management teams that struggle with implementing best practices for an effective leadership style that retain valuable employees?
- 8. What did I forget to ask that you found to be useful in reducing turnover?

Conceptual Framework

I chose the transformational leadership theory (TLT) as the conceptual framework for this study. Burns (1978) introduced the theory and argued that to achieve high levels of performance, leaders must act as role models that inspire followers, challenge individuals to take greater ownership of their work, and understand followers' strengths and weaknesses to align their tasks more appropriately. Burns (1978) used TLT to link the roles of leadership and followership and to affect positive changes in individuals and social systems.

Bass (1985) later expanded and refined the works of Burns. Bass (1999) concluded that transformational leadership inspires followers to accomplish more than anticipated by increasing their awareness of the value of specified, idealized goals. Also, the process of transformational leadership motivates the worker to surpass their self-interest for the organization and to address higher level needs (Bass, 1999). The central constructs of TLT are (a) idealized attribution, (b) inspirational motivation, (c) intellectual stimulation, and (d) individualized consideration (Bass, 1985). The TLT provided a lens through which I explored effective retention strategies EVS managers used to reduce employee turnover. Current literature suggested transformational leaders

are effective at bringing positive change into an organization by being motivators and provides the support that positively affects followers (Carmeli, Sheaffer, Binyamin, Reiter Palmon, & Shimoni, 2014; Herman, Huang, & Lam, 2013), which may benefit other managers challenged by turnover.

Operational Definitions

The following terms and expressions are defined to advance clarity and consistency.

Environmental services (EVS): Formerly referred to as housekeeping, EVS is departments that maintain and clean large, complex facilities that operate 24 hours a day 7 seven days a week (St. Clair, 2014).

Job satisfaction: Job satisfaction is the positive emotional state or pleasure an individual have about certain aspects of their job (Saks & Gruman, 2014).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

In the following subsections, I illuminated the assumptions, limitations, and the delimitations of this study. Outlining the parameters of a study help establish the limits utilized in the study (Bass, 1978).

Assumptions

Assumptions are the uncertainties within the researcher's perspective regarding the theory, phenomenon, instrument, methodology, analysis, power, and participants in the study; these components are understood to be true as a result (Dusick, 2014; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Three assumptions may affect this research study. I assumed that participants provided accurate responses to the interview questions based on their

experiences and knowledge and with the understanding that their answers are confidential. Second, I assumed that semistructured interview questions and hospital documents provide sufficient data to address the central research question. Finally, I assumed that participant responses would help distinguish themes and effective retention strategies for managers to practice.

Limitations

Bailey (2014), and Marshall and Rossman (2015), described *limitations* as boundaries that may or may not contribute to the understanding of the study, and Dusick (2014) stated that limitations are elements out of the control of the researcher. Connelly (2013) noted that some individuals may have selective memory and might not report information about a particular event as it transpires. The individual may describe real contents about events and outcomes of their actions and may relate adverse events and outcomes to external events, and even embellish the outcome of the event (Connelly, 2013). One of the limitations of this qualitative multiple case study was that some of the participants may not remember all of the steps used to reduce employee turnover. Other factors are time constraints; the participant work schedule may limit their participation.

Delimitations

Delimitations are the constraints of the study imposed by the researcher (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2012). One delimitation of this qualitative multiple case study involved my confinement of the population to only managers of EVS departments in hospitals located in the Piedmont Triad and Research Triangle Park regions of North Carolina. Another prominent delimitation was the exclusion of health care workers within

EVS, which may minimize inside information as to why employees leave their job. Also, the nature of the study is limited to a specific department involved in the research.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

This study may contribute to the practice of business by helping EVS managers to understand the reasons why employees voluntarily or involuntarily leave their jobs; understanding the elements that cause retention and turnover may help reduce turnover. Furthermore, this study may uncover effective retention strategies already used by managers that can be used by others to improve their departments. Improved retention strategies may benefit a hospital's business practice regarding their financial performance and their ability to fulfill strategic goals.

Researchers have indicated that health care organizations experience high turnover rates (Collins et al., 2015; Sandhya & Kumar, 2015). Employee turnover remains one of the highest ranked organizational risks (Balakrishnan, 2014; Collins et al., 2015; Oladapo, 2014). Workforce shortages exacerbate the impact of losing experienced and talented health care workers (Collins et al., 2015).

Losing skilled employees has a significant effect on whether or not a health care organization achieves its strategic goals (Collins et al., 2015). These effects include increased recruitment and termination expenses, decreased productivity and morale of the remaining employees, and low performance by new employees until they achieve full competence at their jobs (Collins et al., 2015).

A retention strategy involves taking measures to encourage employees to remain with the organization (Ratna & Chawla, 2012). Implementing retention strategies is a crucial factor in reducing turnover (Ratna & Chawla, 2012). Therefore, a key component of having a safe, profitable, and sustainable health care organization is maintaining human capital. My objective was to focus on the reduction of EVS employee turnover. Health care managers struggle to retain their experienced and talented EVS workers (St. Clair, 2014). The results of this study could improve retention strategies for reducing employee turnover. The results could improve an organization's business practices because employee turnover hurts a hospital's financial performance and ability to care for patients (Ratna & Chawla, 2012; St. Clair, 2014).

Implications for Social Change

The results of this study may contribute to positive social change by improving retention strategies for EVS managers. Voluntary turnover in EVS departments is high, which reflects low employee morale (St. Clair, 2014). With better EVS retention strategies the overall well-being of the workforce may improve. Managers with positive leadership strategies may inspire and motivate their employees (Cooper-Thomas, Paterson, Stadler, & Saks, 2014; Garg & Dhar, 2014; Karatepe, 2014). Improve employee performance may also result in positive social change as it may improve and increase the growth and sustainability of the organization and patient safety (Shuck et al., 2014). That may lead to better opportunities for employees and provide prosperity for families and communities.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

In the literature review, I provide a foundation for the topics including Burns's TLT consisting of the conceptual framework for the study. I explored a variety of professional and academic resources in the field of business and specifically within the health care system that is crucial to understanding EVS employee turnover. I organized the literature review by themes to represent the information comprehensively. In addition, I detailed Lewin, Lippitt, and White's (1939) laissez-faire leadership theory, Von Bertalanffy's (1968) systems theory, and Bass's (1985) transactional leadership theory. I addressed the qualities, shortcomings, and constraints of each theory and explained why they are inappropriate for this study. I also provided reasons why Burns's TLT was the appropriate conceptual framework.

I used the following databases and search engines to retrieve peer-reviewed journals, articles, and seminal books: ABI/INFORM Complete, Business Source Complete, Academic Search Complete, Dissertation and Theses at Walden University, ProQuest, eBook Collection (EBSCOhost) Emerald Management Journal, SAGE Premier, Thoreau, Google Scholar, and NC Live.org. Also, I used U.S. government agency websites and search engines to obtain statistics and data. Terms that I used to retrieve information included hospital retention and turnover challenges, job satisfaction, communication, transactional and transformational leadership theory, and laissez-faire leadership theory. Other topics I researched included voluntary and involuntary turnover, management-employee relationships, employee performance, engagement, empowerment, and organizational culture. To expand further, on the study, I used

keywords such as EVS workforce, entry-level and frontline employees, intention to leave, toxic employees, and toxic supervisors.

The review of the professional and academic literature for this study included seminal books, dissertations, scholarly peer-reviewed articles, and other sources to acquire appropriate information about the research topic. There are a total of 237 sources in the literature review; 213 (89.87%) are peer reviewed, of which 207 (87.0%) were published in 2014 and beyond. The literature review consists of (a) TLT (b) contrasting theories of the conceptual framework, (c) association of turnover with poor leadership, (d) retention strategies, (e) the efficacy of transformational leadership as a retention strategy, and (f) health care EVS departments reflect themes.

Transformational Leadership Theory

TLT is a leadership concept that motivates employees to engage more in their job and providers positive perception guide for employees in low paying jobs. Leaders place emphasizes on satisfying the basic needs and meeting higher desires of employees while encouraging workers to provide new and creative solutions in the workplace. Gyensare, Ankus-Tsede, Sanda, and Okpoti (2016) used TLT to study retention and turnover that resulted in an adverse outcome for highly promoted and focused followers but a positive outcome for employees in a low paying job. Followers seeing their managers using transformational leadership are less likely to quit their job. Leaders using transformational leadership commonly known to get employees to transcend their self interest on behalf of the organization (Effelsberg, Solga, & Gurt, 2014). Transformational leaders act as role models, inspire and empower employees, and recognize individual

needs. Transformational leaders provide a platform for individuals to engage in new and creative solutions.

In addition, leaders who employ transformational leadership can move employees to surpass expected performance and can prompt workers to experience a high level of satisfaction and sense of commitment to the group and organization (Bass & Riggio, 2006; Choi, Goh, Adam, & Tan, 2016). Leaders who exhibit a transformational leadership style encourage and stimulate their workers, focus on their employees' needs, and connect their employees' goals and values to the organization (Bøgh Andersen, Bjørnholt, Ladegaard Bro, & Holm-Petersen, 2018). Leaders, placing emphasizes on satisfying the basic needs and meeting higher desires of employees, encourage workers to provide new and creative solutions in the workplace that bring about positive change. TLT also enhances employee motivations, morale, and work performance, and creates value in an employee commitment to the organization. Therefore, transformational leadership is a positive concept in retaining workforces and motivating the employee in low paying jobs.

Burns's work is used in various businesses that allows leaders to change and transform employees into better workers while exceeding the organization expectations. Historically, scholars focused their research on transformational leadership in the military. The focus later expanded to leadership in business, government institutions, education, health care settings, and the nonprofit sectors (Bass & Riggio, 2006). In 1973, Downton first created the term *transformational leadership* as part of the new leadership paradigm, which emphasized attention on the charismatic, compelling features of

leadership. The paradigm later emerged as a fundamental approach to leadership and a vital part of Burns's (1978) work. Burns first developed the concept of transformational leadership. Burns argued that to achieve high levels of performance among individuals, leaders must act as role models that will inspire followers, challenge individuals to take more significant ownership of their work, and understand workers' strengths and weaknesses to assign tasks in alignment with those strengths and weaknesses. Burns used TLT to link the roles of leadership and followership to affect positive changes in individuals and social systems.

In 1985, Bass expanded and refined the works of Burns by placing more focus on the followers rather than the leader's needs. Bass noted transformational leadership could measure how it inspires supporters' enthusiasm and performance (Ross, Fitzpatrick, Click, Krouse, & Clavelle, 2015). Transformational leaders can be measured by how their behavior influences people and the success and sustainability of the organization (Bottomley, Burgess, & Fox, 2014). Bass (1999) concluded that transformational leadership inspires followers to accomplish more than anticipated by raising their level of awareness of the value of specified and idealized goals. Transformational leadership is a leadership used by some scholars to bring awareness to leaders and followers helping each other to advance to a higher level of transforming, inspiring, and achieving goals beyond normal expectations. The use of TLT through the years expanded from military to a variety of other businesses that can change and transform individuals into leaders.

Researchers found that TLT is a full range leadership model deemed to explore effective leadership in organizations, has international acceptance in leadership literature,

and receives significant support from empirical research (Caillier, 2014; Paladan, 2015). TLT is also, the most common theory used by researchers to explore strategies that bring about positive change in organizations and most scholars prefer transformational leadership to transactional leadership (Caillier, 2014). In addition, through the years, researchers used TLT to explore and understand the phenomena of employee retention and turnover in the workplace (Gyensare, Anku-Tsede, Sanda, & Okpoti, 2016). Transformational leadership has captured widespread attention and used by some leaders to explore strategies to implement positive change, which is helpful in the prediction of the business performance.

Transformational leaders help employees with their personal development and growth by challenging and stimulating their knowledge. Transformational leadership brings significant and positive change among supporters by leaders acting as role models who demonstrate intellectual motivation and concern for followers (Holstad, Korek, Rigotti & Mohr, 2014; Katou, 2015). Leaders focus on the growth of their employees and act on their talents to motivate and inspire. More so than with other leadership styles, leaders who use transformational leadership act as aides, guides, mentors, motivators, inspirers, listeners, and coaches to exchange the vision of members (Jyoti & Bhau, 2015; Mathew & Gupta, 2015). Leaders try to create a better working environment for workers of the organization. Researchers of transformational leadership Henker, Sonnentag, and Unget (2015) argued that transformational leadership is crucial to foster creative engagement in the workplace, primarily to explore new approaches without the fear of failure.

Employees are encouraged to participate in workplace decision making to add new ideas that help promote their talents. Leaders, who promote employee creativity, motivate employees to achieve a positive outcome (Dhar, 2015; Schmidt and Pohler, 2015; Qu, Janssen & Shi, 2015). In addition, transformational leaders are proactive in helping followers achieve unforeseen objectives and move past self-interest (Bass, 1999). The transformational initiative is an important forerunner to build the confidence or strength required for success when confronted with severe challenges (Gillet & Vandenberghe, 2014). Leaders who lead with transformational leadership have a positive outcome because managers empower, inspire, and encourage employees to voice their ideas. TLT managers give a real sense of a leader who wants employees to reach and exceed their usual levels of performance and their personal goals. Transformational leadership is the most leading leadership style used in the 2010's to bring about positive change in organizations.

Transformational leaders promote trust, admiration, trustworthiness, and respect among employees. Transformational leaders inspire followers to have an open mind and to develop a culture of trust and collaboration among team members (Boies, Fiset, & Gill, 2015). Transformational leadership positively affects employee satisfaction, productivity, performance and, their effectiveness (Andersen, Bjørnholt, Bro, & Holm-Petersen, 2017; Belias & Koustelios, 2014). Therefore researchers found it crucial for organizations to have influential leaders that help workers perform outside of their expectations, sustain a positive culture, and motivate followers to become transformational leaders themselves. Zwingmann et al. (2014) stated that the primary behavior of transformational leaders

includes articulating a vision for followers that emphasizes higher essential needs and organizational goals. Also, transformational leadership represents an exchange where both leaders and followers influence each other and gain something of value (Kuhnert & Lewis, 1987). Transformational leaders enhance their employee perception and expectation of the organization while working towards one common goal that affects the business bottom line. Transformational leaders promote trust, admiration, trustworthiness, respect amongst employees, and provides a clear vision of the organization.

Four components underlie the transformation leadership style that brings about positive change. Bass (1997) identified four dimensions of transformational leadership:

(a) idealized influence, (b) inspirational motivation, (c) intellectual stimulation, and (d) individualized consideration. These four dimensions, often referred to as the *four I's* of transformational leadership, describe traits exhibited by an experienced leader in a knowledge based economy grounded in developing and managing intellectual resources within organizations (Ghasabeh, Soosay, & Reaiche, 2015). The components of transformational leadership are an essential role in modeling, motivating, developing, and encouraging creativity. The use of the four transformational leadership components helps leaders to empower, coach and nurture their employees to change for the purpose of the organization and themselves and move followers to go beyond than just meeting simple expectation but to reach their full potential.

Cetin and Kinik (2015) found that the dynamics of transformational leadership involved followers (a) identifying personally with a leader, (b) having a shared vision for

the future, (c) working collectively for the benefit of the group, (d) feeling respected and admired by other followers, and (e) having a clear sense of purpose. The demonstration of leadership should motivate employees through a commitment to goals and a shared vision; moreover, creativity should be encouraged, and individual differences respected. TLT is relevant for identifying effective leadership strategies because these leaders demonstrate practices and qualities of effective leadership.

Transformational leaders tend to share a common enterprise and depend on one another. TLT is a mechanism that promotes two-way communication where information and ideas exchanges. Also, TLT leaders transform employees and get them to pursue a higher purpose that leads to positive change (Van Dierendonck, Stam, Boersma, De Windt, & Alkema, 2014). Transformational leaders bring positive change that helps to recognize needed change and create a vision to guide the change through stimulating employees to follow along. Transformational leaders lead by example, support commitment to goals and create an environment of trust and self confidence in employees. Transformational leaders also, elevate on the maturity and ideas of followers, concern for the employee achievements, encourage employees' creativity, envision a desired future, articulate how to reach their goals, coach, support the employee's needs, and represent the four I's of the TLT.

Researchers in other fields have expanded on the works of Burns's (1978) TLT.

Chou, Lin, Chang, and Chuang (2013) used TLT to explore relationships among transformational leadership style, cognitive trust, and collective efficacy and to explore how these variables impact team performance. The results of Chou et al.'s study revealed

that team leaders play a strategic role in determining group performance and that transformational leadership efficiently develops team performance. Ghasabeh et al. (2015) investigated TLT as a model leadership form in helping companies compete in global markets. Ghasabeh et al.'s study revealed that businesses in the world market applied intellectual stimulation strategies that motivated employees to create new and valuable services or products.

Quin, Deris, Bischoff, and Johnson (2015) explored the effectiveness of TLT practices in a study on school districts and school principal preparation programs. Quin et al. incorporated Kouzes and Posner's leadership practices inventory into school curricula to develop highly qualified school leaders. Kouzes and Posner's leadership practice entails young leaders helping others to make extraordinary things happen, transforming values, vision, obstacles to realities and innovations (Kouzer & Posner, 2014). Quin et al. revealed that school principals involved in the study used all five transformational leadership practices (model the way, inspire a shared vision, challenge the process, enable others to act, and encourage the heart) regularly with high performance. Moreover, Kazmi and Naaranoja, (2015) and Quin et al. (2015) noted that the findings from the five leadership practices showed exemplary changes in an organization between transformational practices of inspiring a shared vision and challenging the process. The Kouzes and Posner (2012) theory referred to as *The Leadership Challenge* that entails and reflects Burns's concept that the ultimate effects of leadership are only understood by way of evaluating leader and follower interactions.

Some transformational leaders approach leadership power with hope for a positive outcome. Transformational leadership is more than exchanges or agreements. TLT centers on inspirations and qualities in surveying how a leader approaches power and achieve superior results (Bass, & Riggio, 2006; Yaghoubi, Mahallati, Moghadam, & Fallah, 2014). Both Burns's TLT and The Kouzes and Posner theory achieve extraordinary results by developing a shared vision, setting the example, challenging the status quo, and supporting employees that generate change within an organization.

In (1985) Bass expanded on Burns's (1978) TLT, described specific behaviors associated with each underlying key construct/propositions (a) idealized influence, (b) inspirational motivation, (c) intellectual stimulation, and (d) individualized consideration. Leaders approach to power makes a difference between a negative or positive working relationship. Some leaders coerce employees to perform their jobs and pending the outcome, rewards or punishment may follow. Leaders using transformational leadership use their approach to power to create valuable change in the employees and the organization. Leaders want to create a positive change and inspire employees to go beyond task setting.

Idealized influence. Idealized influence (II) is an underlying key construct/proposition of the TLT that involves risk sharing on the part of the leader. Yaghoubi, Mahallati, Moghadam, and Fallah (2014) described II as an emotional component of leadership, the charisma that motivates followers and creates trust, and confidence between the leader and the worker. Employees are more motivated and productive when they feel appreciated or valued when leaders communicate their role in

the organization (White, 2014). Managers in EVS valuing and appreciating employee contribution to the organization, communicating with employees in an authentic way that is encouraging and meaningful may increase productivity and reduce turnover. Leaders act as role models who demonstrate specific moral behaviors where leaders lead by example (Kamal & Kamal, 2014; Cetin & Kinik, 2015). Also, exhibited behaviors may reflect high moral and ethical principles (Sosik, Chun, Blair, & Fitzgerald, 2014). Followers strive to emulate the behavior of their leaders (Caillier 2014). Leaders acting in a way inspires followers to build trust, makes the employees feel appreciated and valued, leading to a better working relationship with their employees.

II measures on two components, attributional and behavioral. The II construct can be further broken down into two elements: *attributional* and *behavioral* (Schweitzer, 2014). The attributional element refers to how the subordinates perceive their leader (Northouse, 2013). For example, the charismatic leader ensures subordinates will overcome difficulties (Rana, Malik & Hussain, 2016). The behavioral element refers to the followers' observations of their leader's behavior (Belias & Koustelios, 2014). For example, workers may observe their leader overcoming difficulties (Northouse, 2013). The leader wants employees to have a positive perception of how they lead and interact with others. Leaders exhibiting excellent behavior affects how an employee perceives them, and it enhances the influence and performance of their team.

Inspirational motivation. Inspirational motivation (IM) is another construct of transformational leadership that facilitates a feeling of optimism and commitment. IM reflects on leaders who motivate followers to commit to the shared organizational vision

and to strive toward high expectations (Hoffmeister et al., 2014). One means of motivating workers involved articulating a clear vision of a desirable future (Avolio et al., 1999; Bass, 1998). Leaders detail group expectations, simplifying the language so all subordinates can understand, keeping complex issues to a minimum, and encouraging relevant sacrifices (Mittal & Dhar, 2015). Leaders facilitate a sense of priorities and purpose that aligned with the followers' interests as well as organizational goals (Cetin & Kinik, 2015). Leaders communicate the organization's expectations in the hope of motivating employees to commit to the business vision. Employees realize how they could play a part in the organization; by achieving their vision which, gives them a sense of belonging to something unique and raises their team morale and motivation.

Employees understanding the big picture of the business can make a difference in the organization achieving their goals. Northouse (2015) noted that leaders who demonstrated IM communicate the essential role followers played in the future growth of the organization. By uplifting the vision, subordinates found their work more meaningful which could decrease turnover (Cetin & Kinik, 2015; Patton, 2015). Leaders used symbols and emotional appeals to focus group interest (Northouse, 2013). TLT leaders displayed the team spirit to enhance enthusiasm and motivation within the organization (Jiang, Gao, & Yang, 2018). Demonstrated enthusiasm for and commitment to organizational goals challenges as well as persuades employees (Avolio et al., 1999; Bass, 1998). Employees can accept the challenge, strive toward the goals, and exceed expectations (Hirschi & Valero, 2017).

Furthermore, leaders encouraged team spirit to reach organizational goals. Also, leaders stimulated followers by being visionary and motivational that inspire followers to accept the commitment of the organization meeting future goals. The employee felt they have a purpose to come to work and perform high expectations.

Intellectual stimulation. The intellectual stimulation (IS) component refers to how transformational leaders shared knowledge and challenge followers to think outside their comfort zone. Without the fear of punishment, workers used innovative, possibly controversial, approaches and engaged in problem solving that stimulated excellent ideas. The leader wants employees to use their imagination and creativity when dealing with issues within the organization (Bacha, 2014). Leaders encourage subordinates to revisit problems and create a new approach to the way they think and solve problems. Through IS, transformational leaders reexamine critical assumptions (Cetin & Kinik, 2015). When employees use their knowledge and engage in problem solving that enables the worker to create and make decision influences creativity among followers. Moreover, there is an opportunity for an employee to learn, grow, and develop in the business.

Individualized consideration. Employing individualized consideration (IC), a leader mentor, facilitate, listen and support the employee needs. Leaders who demonstrate IC listen to and concentrate on the unique needs of followers, provide a supportive climate, and empower their supporters (Norman, Gardner, & Pierce, 2015). Leaders treat subordinates as individuals rather than group members, identified their individual needs, and addressed them in a unique way that is acceptable to each employee (Ghasabeh et al., 2015). Cetin and Kinik (2015) described the main features of IC as

having the ability to recognize differences in each person's strengths, weaknesses, likes, and dislikes. Leaders applied IC through active listening, assigning projects to appropriate individuals, encouraging two-way exchanges, and promoting self-development (Chua & Murray, 2015). As noted by Bass (1999) leaders used delegation of assignments as an opportunity for growth for their subordinates. Ultimately, leaders who displayed IC foster self-actualized employees by coaching, mentoring, and teaching their followers (Avolio et al., 1999; Northouse, 2013). Transformational leaders listen to what the employee needs and provide a supportive climate. Each employee possesses their characteristics, strengths, and weakness; leaders act as coaches and mentors assisting employees in overcoming their weaknesses and becoming better employees. The leader plays a decisive role in assigning employees tasks that boost morale and productivity.

Transformational leadership is among the most popular approaches to effective leadership that influenced positive change within a follower's behavior. Over the years, researchers have identified transformational leadership as the leadership style that leads to positive job satisfaction and improved employee performance (Jyoti & Dev, 2015). It is crucial for an organization to have a strong leader who can sustain a positive culture, influence workers to perform beyond expectations, achieve excellence, and motivate followers to become transformational leaders themselves (Tse, To, & Chiu, 2017). The components of TLT positively associated with employee job satisfaction in analyzing the relationship between leaders and their workers (Bayram & Dinc, 2015). A transformational leader influences their employees by listening, providing constructive

feedback, encourage employees to go beyond their usual task to meet the organizational goals and to forgo personal interests, and to come up with a new way to solve the problem. Transformational leadership is an effective and positive way to approach leadership among followers.

Criticism of the transformational leadership theory. Although many researchers have accepted the TLT, some researchers have identified several weaknesses. One of the weaknesses noted by Northouse (2018) is that TLT covers such a wide range of activities and characteristics that it lacks conceptual clarity and is hard to define precisely the parameter of TLT, which leads to uncertainty in measuring and explaining the effectiveness of transformational leadership. Another weakness described by Andersen (2015) is that transformational leadership is the dark side of charisma since some leaders have a powerful influence over their subordinators who idolize or worship the leader, which could lead to potential abuse of power. Leaders who follow transformational leadership used positive influence to transition followers to be better employees which helps the organization attain goals. Andersen also noted that such influence is dangerous because it makes followers more susceptible to deception. Burns described transformational leaders as great men (Northouse, 2013). Bass noted transformational leadership is a flawless, perfect, an idealized form of leadership (Lee, 2014). The four components of transformational leadership inspirational motivation, inspirational leadership, idealized influence, and charisma leadership as advocated by Bass significant overlaps and should not be used because they are used interchangeably and are conceptually distinct (Northouse, 2013). Though, there are many criticisms of

transformational leadership some scholars noted it has a positive effect on organizations, improve productivity, creativity, and the performance of the organization.

TLT is the most observed and least understood phenomena. Most researchers still prefer TLT versus transactional leadership theory or laissez-faire leadership theory because transformational leaders help employees to grow and develop into leaders by responding to the employees' needs, by empowering and aligning the objectives and goals of the individuals, the leaders, and the organization's vision and goals (Tyssen, Wald, & Spieth, 2014; Ghasabeh, Soosay, & Reaiche, 2015). Also, TLT has increased in popularity, and its advantages of leadership effectiveness (Men, 2014). Transformational leadership has a positive effect on the organization that improves employee motivation, performance, and productivity; their innovation; respect for others; and inspire creativity among employees. However, some researchers have different opinions about the theory of TLT. The leader used transformational leadership in influencing individuals to work toward the greater good of the organization.

Implications of using transformational leadership theory. Some scholars indicated that transformational leadership could improve organizational effectiveness and help build a sustainable workforce. Herman et al. (2013) noted that researchers have devoted a significant amount of time exploring factors that influence an employee to leave their organization voluntarily. Negative variables such as discouraging finances, declining employee attitudes about their supervisors and jobs, and the undermining of workforce productivity relate to a worker's decision to leave their job (Sun & Wang, 2016). The ability of managers to understand these issues and to deal with their

employees' wellbeing may provide the organization with an unparalleled resource for operational effectiveness (Cohen, Blake, & Goodman, 2016). Sometimes it may be difficult to pinpoint the exact reason an employee left their job. Occasionally leaders know an employee's reason at the exit interviews, which is sometimes too late for the manager to correct. Incorporating TLT can help to transition people to a more stable atmosphere where they have the freedom to voice their concerns without fear. Leaders using transformational leadership open up many possibilities for an employee to engage, and share knowledge.

Transformational leaders are influential leaders that supply the right tools to strengthen leader employee relationships. Taylor, Cornelius, and Colvin (2014) noted that transformational leadership could strengthen the relationship between a leader and subordinates by communicating the organization's vision. When the vision of the organization is clearly communicated, the employee does not spend time trying to figure out what direction to take or becomes nonresponsive to the vision. An enhanced relationship between managers and workers could elevate the interest of the employee and generate awareness, which could influence the worker to perform beyond their normal levels of performance (Chiaburu, Smith & Wangm 2014). Transformational leaders can enhance the way employees perform by articulating the organization's vision and empowering workers to engage in the growth of the business. This creates high levels of commitment, trust, motivation, and enhances the performance and effectiveness of the organization. Transformational leaders who create change among employees may result in a positive perception that motivates and encourages the worker.

Similarly, transformational leaders demonstrating charismatic behaviors can inspire, motivate, and intellectually stimulate employees (Afsar, Badir, & Bin Saeed, 2014). By sharing knowledge with workers, leaders welcome their employees to try innovative ways of completing tasks and solving problems. The practices help subordinates achieve their maximum capacity and produce the most unusual amounts of execution (Pradhan & Pradhan, 2015). Transformational leaders act in the best interest of their employee while creating a positive change to obtain a high level goal through their charisma and appeal for high moral and ethical standards that influence workers (Dartey-Baah, 2015). Also, transformational leaders acting as role models enhance employee productivity (Trmal et al., 2015). Leaders who created a better relationship with employees generate a better workplace that enhances the vision and goals of the organization. Therefore, I selected transformational leadership as the conceptual framework for this qualitative multiple case study and the lens through which I viewed my study. The results may prompt positive changes in business performance and help health care managers retain employees while decreasing turnover.

Contrasting Theories of the Conceptual Framework

In addition to the TLT, researchers used other theories to explore employee turnover. To gain a more in-depth understanding of employee turnover, there were other theories considered that could have a profound effect on subordinates turnover. I considered using transactional leadership theory, laissez-faire theory, and systems theory but found those inappropriate to use as a conceptual framework. I selected TLT to guide

this study because it identifies strategies that managers can use to motivate their workers, boost employee performance, and reduce turnover.

Transactional leadership theory. Transactional leadership differs from transformational leadership and does not fit into an organization that values employees' ideas and their creativity. Leaders that use transactional leadership want a structure and order environment. The theory involves exchanges between the leaders and subordinates. These types of leaders use a system of punishment and reward to achieve their primary goals and to get subordinates to obey instructions (Birasnav, 2014). Bass (1985) noted that transactional leaders utilized different types of transactions based on what employees need to accomplish for their own desired personal outcomes. For example, an employee might want or need to work overtime to pay for a vacation.

Furthermore, transactional leaders exceedingly focus on reinforcement of hierarchical structures and compensation (Tyssen, Wald, & Spieth, 2014). Also, transactional leaders demonstrated reactive behavior, correcting mistakes after they arise, and dedicating a significant contribution to improving organizational performance (Birasnav, 2014). Transactional leaders tell the employee exactly what to do and expect the worker to follow through to complete the task. In the end, employees expect rewards for their performance. Transactional leaders used the reactive approach, positive and negative reinforcement to get employees to perform better. Although punishment is not always mentioned, it is understood that the employee not finishing assignments may lead to disciplinary actions.

In 1985, Burns described transformational and transactional leadership as a continuum. However, Burns had argued in 1978 that the use of transactional leadership leads to temporary relationships of exchange, as opposed to stronger, and more lasting relationships commonly associated with transformational leadership (as noted by McClesky, 2014). The literature reveals additional flaws in transactional leadership.

Breevaart et al., (2014) and Northouse (2013) argued that as opposed to transformational leadership, which derives authority from leaders who motivate employees to go beyond expectations, transactional leadership derives authority from power because leaders convince employees to fulfill expectations by exchanging specified rewards. Dartey-Baah (2015) and Rawung, Wuryaningrat, and Elvinita (2015) noted that transactional leaders neither focus on each employee nor nurture their personal development. More importantly, transactional leaders are motivated by self-interest and not by the interests of their followers (Vito, Higgins, & Denney 2014).

On the other hand, transformational leaders are influential in convincing subordinates to make decisions according to their subordinate's own best interests (Northouse, 2013). Ultimately, transactional leadership uses coercive power to lead subordinates. I found transformational leadership more appropriate for this study because the goal was to explore what approaches managers can take to address the needs of EVS workers and to encourage those workers to be more engaged in the organization.

Laissez-faire leadership theory. Some scholars prefer to use laissez-faire leadership as the delegation leadership, which can lead to low productivity among employees. The theory involves a passive leadership style where leaders delegate full

decision making authority to subordinates (Zareen, Razzaq, & Mujtaba, 2015). Puni, Agyemang, & Asamoah (2016) described the approach as "hands-off" where managers tend to "let things ride." Laissez-faire leaders empower workers with authority and responsibility, who may not have the abilities to accomplish the task without leadership guidance (Wong & Giessner, 2016). Laissez-faire leaders provide certain resources but allow subordinates to have the freedom to make their own decision without supervision. Laissez-faire leaders tend to trust the employees to work towards solutions on their own, deciding what is right or wrong.

Researchers identified a few benefits to using the laissez-faire style of leadership. Laissez-faire leaders may provide subordinates with necessary tools and resources to do their job (Northouse, 2015). Also, leaders who expect employees to solve their problems give workers the opportunity to develop and to better understand essential organizational tools (Zareen et al., 2015). Capable employees working under laissez-faire leadership may demonstrate high level skills, motivation, and willingness to take ownership of their decisions (Buch, Martinsen, & Kuvaas, 2015). Moreover, laissez-faire leadership may indicate a leader's admiration for a worker's capabilities in particular circumstances (Gilbert et al., 2016; Yang, 2015). Employees working independently may be capable of accomplishing the task with little guidance, and any decisions made, the leader takes full responsibility. This requires a great deal of trust from management. However, an employee with little knowledge may be unable to meet the deadline and work independently. Leaders having more interaction with employees can provide more

insights into how a worker can accomplish projects and deadlines. In addition, employees with the least knowledge about the task can shadow expert workers to gain information.

However, researchers found numerous negative aspects of laissez-faire leadership that could lead to disasters in the workplace (Yang, 2015). In general, laissez-faire leaders tend to avoid their obligations of directing and decision making, keeping themselves at a distance from the issues faced by their employees (Harold & Holtz, 2015; Buch, Martinsen, & Kuvaas, 2015). Leaders disregard their supervisory duties, provide little guidance or support to their subordinates, and pay little regard to productivity or deadline completion (Zareen et al., 2015). Leaders who choose to neglect their responsibilities may not be in the right position to exert authority. Moreover, the organization should scrutinize this type of leadership because it can lead to the inability or unwillingness of a leader to do their job (Yang, 2015). Some employees lack the knowledge and experience to perform their job duties, resulting in poor job performance, and an adverse outcome for the business.

Laissez-faire leadership managers transfer authority and responsibilities to employees can lead to small issues turning into serious problems. Flaws of the laissez-faire leadership style can be described by the expression *management by exception* (Bass, 1999). Laissez-faire leaders handle only exceptions and intervene when problems become perpetual (Gibert et al., 2016). Skogstad, Hetland, Glasø, and Einarsen (2014) described Laissez-faire leaders as those who wait for issues to emerge before making a restorative move. The absence of laissez-faire leaders can leave employees feeling unimportant,

frustrated, and disconnected. A lack of feedback from leaders on a special project might be problematic.

Laissez-faire leadership is a passively destructive form of leadership that could hurt the performance and attitudes of subordinates as well as the organization (Yang, 2015). It may cause stress in the workplace, demotivation, or bullying (Saeed, Almas, Anis-ul-Hag, Niazi, 2014). Lack of communication between leaders and employees may cause avoidance, or abandonment of representation (Yang, 2015). Ineffectiveness may result from the overall failure of leaders to take responsibility for managing employees (Yahaya & Ebrahim, 2016). Similarly, Fors Brandebo, Nilsson, & Larsson (2016) asserted that leaders with no organizational vision, lack clear competencies, or responsibilities, lack authority to discipline, or make demands of subordinates. I decided against using laissez-faire leadership theory as the conceptual framework for this study because it regularly involves unconcerned leaders who act passively towards potential issues. Laissez-faire leadership did not align with this study's purpose in solving turnover problems in hospital EVS departments and finding strategies to retain skilled EVS employees.

Systems theory. I considered the systems theory for the conceptual framework for my study because this theory provides a panoramic view of an organization that gives leaders an understanding of how the business functions. Organizations utilizing this concept aim to reach their full potential through system wholeness of human capital, social prospects, and technology (Karniouchina, Carson, Short, & Ketchen, 2013). Credited with the initial development of the systems theory in 1968, von Bertalanffy first

and 1972. The theory describes systems as comprised of interdependent components, which includes the study of science, and living organisms as well as social phenomena (Caws, 2015). Other researchers described systems theory as the input-throughput-output of an organization (Adams, Hester, Bradley, Meyers & Keating, 2014). Conceptually bringing together the subsystems aids the understanding of how those systems function within the organization (Young & Leveson, 2014). As Rousseau (2015) described systems theory as any group of objects that collaborate to produce some results. Eason, (2014) emphasized the appropriateness of systems theory for examining, managing, and planning within the organization. The concept may also reestablish a point of view that permits managers to comprehend their workers' importance as a vital system in the organization (Morgeson, Mitchell, & Liu, 2015). The perspective of systems theory will allow a leader to gain a deeper understanding and the big picture of the relationship and function of a general nature, and society as a whole.

However, systems theory was not appropriate for this study because it incorporates a wide field of research with different conceptualizations and areas of focus. Conversely, TLT portrays more explicitly how managers can create and actualize necessary changes in an organization. Leaders engage with their subordinators, which fosters increased inspiration and better-quality work for both employees, and leaders. TLT embraces leaders with specific qualities, such as certainty, extroversion, and specific values, which in turn motivate subordinates. Transformational leaders nurture their employees and help workers achieve their highest potential.

Associating Turnover with Poor Leadership

Turnover. Turnover is challenging and costly to any organization from the demand of replacing employees who voluntarily quit or fired from their jobs to training employees. Employees seeking better employment sometimes leave their jobs with important knowledge and experiences that could help the competition. That could sometimes reduce morale among other workers (Collini, Guidroz, & Perez, 2015; Katisikea, Theodosiou, & Morgan, 2015). *Turnover*, defined by Martin (2015) as the rate at which employers gain and lose employees, is endemic (Babalola, Stouten, & Euwema, 2016; Nivethitha & Kamalanabhan, 2014). The high rate of turnover cost businesses billions of dollars annually (Alexander, 2016; Nichols et al., 2016). The forthcoming retirement of the baby boomer population, which forms a significant portion of the workforce, threatens organizations that have poor retention, as those organizations will either be understaffed, or confronted with a low performing workforce (Kraemer & Gouthier, 2014; Milman & Dickson, 2014). Employee turnover hurts a company bottom line and damages the morale among the remaining staff. Hiring the correct person that fits the organizational culture may eliminate some turnover.

Effective leadership is critical to any organization. Having good leadership builds teams, set goals, motivates, and inspires others to accomplish goals. As noted by Puni, Agyemang, and Asamoah (2016) leadership continues to shape organization strategies, and their performance; and sustainability inspires workers to execute tasks past expected organizational targets accomplishing articulated organizational goals. In a different sense, poor leadership style may be the reason why a worker stays, quit their job, or even

participate in Counterproductive Work Behaviors (CWBs). Also, poor leadership can lead to employees' dissatisfaction and can hinder worker retention. Leaders are essential to the organization and having good leadership knowledge to lead can build trust in the leader employee relationship that drives morale, and productivity. Good leaders can motivate and inspire workers to accomplish goals. On the other hand, poor leadership can be devastating to the organization, which causes a loss of motivation, and a loss of productivity among workers, and create damaging relationships between the leader and the employee. It is imperative to have good leadership that drives the team to success or suffer the consequences of turnover.

Impact of turnover. Some researchers suggested that turnover is suitable for an organization but detrimental turnover can impact the revenue and profitability of the business. Lashley (2001) noted that turnover might benefit some companies because it allows the firm to replace poorly skilled and unmotivated employees. However, most researchers suggested that turnover is disruptive to an organization and can limit the ability of the business to provide adequate service to its customers (Hunter, 2014). When workers leave, these employees may take away information that is valuable to the company's' future growth. Employees leave an organization for different reasons for retirement, job dissatisfaction, too much work for the pay, not enough flexible hours. Deciding to leave an organization reflects the choice of the worker to terminate the employment relationship. Therefore, employee turnover negatively affects the organization's workforce planning and strategy (Hongvichit, 2015; Babalola, Stouten, & Euwema, 2016). Employee turnover can rid businesses of poor performers who perform

below the organization expectations. Any turnover can affect the organization, not just revenue but also the knowledge that the employee gained from the business. Therefore, turnover has a negative impact on the organization.

Voluntary turnover of main employees may cost businesses directly and indirectly. Recruitment and training of new hires incur direct administration costs, and sometimes this can hinder the growth and success of the firm (Hom, Lee, Shaw, & Hausknecht, 2017; Polanski, Avey, & Jiraporn, 2014; Peachey, Burton, & Wells, 2014). Time, another of a company's valuable resources, is also diverted to filling open positions in organizations with a high turnover rate (Anvari, JianFu, & Chermahini, 2014; Cloutier, Felusiak, Hill, & Pemberton-Jones, 2015). The manager foresees voluntary turnover and prepare, so productivity and time are not lost. Recognizing the commitment an individual has for their organization and an organization has for its workers create an environment where workers want to work, will help a business meet the needs of the employees, and the goals of the organization.

Employee turnover presents several additional difficulties to businesses including the loss of knowledgeable and experienced employees, a reduction in employee morale, and unpredictable financial performance (Eckardt, Skaggs, & Youndt, 2014; Katsikea, Theodosiou, & Morgan, 2015). Although employees are the backbone of any business' success, Collins et al. (2015) emphasized that employee, the expense maybe even more disturbing than the related financial expense associated with turnover. Individuals who do not fit into an organization may spend a lot of their time upsetting the morale of more satisfied workers. Therefore, before an employee decides to leave the organization, they

tend to irritate the client, customer, and community relations, which are all noteworthy costs. On the other hand, losing valuable employees with useful information may also have a detrimental consequence on the organization (Hofhuis, Van der Zee, & Otten, 2014; Nica, 2016; Zhang, 2016). Turnovers can have many consequences. Understanding the cause and effect can help business development strategies and policies to increase retention.

Causes of turnover. Employee turnover is expensive, and management may be the cause of some employee's voluntary resignation. Katsikea et al. (2015) noted that one of the more apparent reasons a business may experience turnover is that employees may receive higher pay at another organization. This phenomenon could apply to all levels of the economic ladder, from entry-level positions to top executives. However, research has demonstrated that although money plays a role when an employee decides to leave their position, it is often not the cause of turnover (McManus & Mosca, 2015). Circumstances that lead to turnover included the lack of employee engagement, poor communication, poor working conditions, a negative atmosphere, not enough benefits or rewards. Also, ineffective leadership, inadequate supervision, lack of advancement opportunities, and job dissatisfaction (Arnold, & Malshe, 2017; Babalola, Stouten, & Euwema, 2016; Chughtai, Byrne, & Flood, 2014; Rothausen, Henderson, 2017). Leaders that find ways to involve employees in departmental operation have a mass communication system in place for employees to learn about the organization, and its future, while also allowing feedback may eliminate some of the causes of turnover. The following are factors that contributed to turnover.

Job satisfaction. Job satisfaction is a critical aspect of organizational success. An employee is having a positive feeling or emotional state about what they perceived about the nature of work that could be inclined by factors such as organization administration, also, policies, supervision, quality, and salary (Diestel, Wegge, & Schmidt, 2014; Dusek, Ruppel, Yurova, & Clarke, 2014; Farooqui & Nagendra, 2014; Huang & Gamble, 2015). There are also, times when an employee is not satisfied with their job and want to seek employment elsewhere (Mohsin & Lengler, 2015). Katsikea et al. (2015) identified low levels of job satisfaction as one of the leading causes of turnover. As noted by Waldman, Avey, & Jirapiron (2014) that the lack of job satisfaction increases absentee rates and turnover while presenting additional organizational challenges.

Furthermore, Buky, Asare, Kwesiga, and Bline (2014) and Kim, Henderson, and Eom (2015), stated that organizational commitment and job satisfaction are a prominent predictor of employee turnover intention and absenteeism. When employees leave the organization, it is not always for better pay. Some leave because of poor morale and unmotivated employees that caused problems for others, and sometimes good employees leave lousy management. Organizations hiring leaders and managers that fit not only the business but also the culture can eliminate bad supervisors, and managers.

Therefore, Chen, Friedman, and Simons, (2014) evaluated whether senior management who has no contact with the line employee affect their satisfaction or dissatisfaction, and their turnover intention. The fact of middle manager's satisfaction or dissatisfaction with their senior executives trickle-down to line employee's satisfaction or dissatisfaction with their supervisors plays a significant role, on employees (Chen et al.,

2014). Moreover, Cloutier et al. (2015) suggested that business leaders contribute significantly to high turnover due to poor relationships with employees. Having a good relationship with employees creates a pleasant work environment. An employee likes to know that as a person they matter and fit into the organization. Leaders showing an employee that they care may keep that person from leaving the organization and reduce turnover.

Engagement. Employee engagement is an important concept that is based on trustworthiness and honesty, and employee engagement contributes to employee productivity and performance. Employee engagement is a vital indicator of intrinsic motivation and an essential component of employee performance to their wellbeing (Alagaraja & Shuck, 2015; Bedarkar & Pandita, 2014). Saks and Gruman (2014) and Memon, Salleh, and Baharom (2016) defined engagement as an individual's involvement with, satisfaction with, and enthusiasm for their work. Strong employee engagement positively affects morale and productivity within an organization and therefore helps businesses to retain their workers (Anitha, 2014; Lu, Lu, Gursoy, & Neale, 2016). When employees engage in organizational decisions, it gives them a sense of pride, belonging, and security. Engaged employees demonstrate more accountability for decision making and job performance (Kopperud, Martinsen, & Humborstad, 2014; Kumar & Pansari, 2016).

Similarly, Neves and Eisenberger (2014) also found that when subordinates engage in the decision making process, they tend to demonstrate consistency in achieving organizational goals and their own goals. Employees are a company's greatest asset, and

they want to feel they are a big part of the business success; these feelings contribute to an employee's self-determination (McManus & Mosca, 2015). An employee with self determination provides the satisfaction that is essential for adequate performance (Kovjanic et al., 2013). Engaged employees have support from leaders to express their views on concerns of the organizations. When leaders include employees, they tend to develop a positive attitude, a sense of pride in belonging to something great.

On the other hand, disengaged employees lack the initiative to engage and disconnect from the organization. Organizations around the world suffer from the phenomena of employee disengagement (Aslam, Muqadas, Imran, & Rahman, 2018). Disengaged employees tend to perform poorly, say bad things about the management staff and the organization, and look for another job. Carpenter and Berry (2014) referenced statistics indicating that 56% of workers in the United States lacked engagement with their work and that about 15% of employees actively disengaged with their work. Chaudhary, Rangnekar, and Barua (2013) asserted that employee engagement decreased to 56% in 2010 in the Asian/Pacific Region from 60% the previous year, which represented the most significant decline globally in the last 15 years. Disengaged employees lack motivation and innovation; they make no effort to help the organization reach goals, always have a negative attitude about one thing or another, and continuously undermine their coworkers. Disengaged employees can disrupt and collide with other members. Leaders recognizing disengaged employees should include involving workers in the day to day operations, develop a strategy to stimulate employee engagement, and use their talents to motivate.

The consequences of disengaged employees can cost the organization more than a financial burden. Auh, Menguc, Spyropoulou, and Wang (2016) noted that little interactions between supervisors and employees might form a critical barrier to employee engagement. Bonner, Greenbaum, and Mayer (2016) stated that leaders are in a position to have extensive influence on their workers' perceptions of ethical standards and subsequent behaviors. Leaders that suffer from moral disengagement may negatively influence subordinates (Christie, Bemister, & Dobson, 2015; Egan, Hughes, & Palmer, 2015). Although leaders are in a position to influence employee behavior, some leaders may lead with an iron fist that neither motivate nor inspire an employee to engage. Hiring the correct leader that represents a decisive leadership such as transformational leadership to help employees to work beyond their normal performance will change the perceptions of the employee.

Disengaged employees may have been superior workers who became ordinary workers. For some reason, these employees lost enthusiasm for their occupation or their organization (Saunders & Tiwari, 2014). Leaders and managers must fix the problem by executing new strategies that guarantee employees stay inspired by their employment (Tims, Bakker, & Derks, 2014). The economic losses for employees not engaged is estimated at approximately \$500 billion annually (Miller, 2014). However, different circumstances may cause employees to become disengaged. Some employees experience a lack of trust and confidence in senior management; some employees perceive too few opportunities for job advancement within their department or organization (Jin & McDonald, 2016). In some cases, job expectations may have changed from how they

were described at recruitment, which may cause employees to feel a misuse of their talents (Valentin, Valentin, & Nafukho, 2015). In addition, employees tend to disengage when they have to deal with the bad behavior of their managers, and management may fail to intervene quickly when a good employee shows signs of poor engagement (Saunders & Tiwari, 2014). Managers have begun regarding worker engagement as a priority for action because of the adversities caused by disengaged employees (Saunders & Tiwari, 2014). Management needs to consider implementing strategies to encourage learning, performance, and change.

The lack of employee engagement, caused by employees feeling left out of organizational decision making, can lead to employee absenteeism. Businesses in the United States spend \$720 million annually to improve employee engagement and retain skilled workers (Alagaraja & Shuck, 2015; Bedarkar & Pandita, 2014). Leaders who fail to recognize and address employee disengagement may have an adverse effect on the organization's success (Chandani, Mehta, Mall, & Khokhar, 2016). Exploring strategies to improve employee engagement may be essential to the organization's success and vital to the long-term growth of the business (Radda, Maiidadi, & Akanno, 2015). The focus of disengaged employees is epidemic and costs business millions of dollars. Developing strategies that engage employees may reduce absenteeism and tardiness, and even reduce turnover.

Communication. Communication in the workplace can improve employee engagement. Scholars suggested that communication between leaders and employees should address the vision, mission, values, and policies of an organization (Cloutier et al.,

2015). Failure to communicate these components in a way that is understood by employees can lead to unhealthy communication and can contribute to an unhealthy work culture, which in turn may lead to employee turnover (Mikkelson, York, & Arritola, 2015). Therefore, managers having internal communications with the employee are the underlying influence of employee engagement that helps to decrease turnover and improve the organizational image (Karanges, Johnston, Beatson, & Lings, 2015). With many organizations struggling to keep skilled employees, excellent internal communication can be beneficial to the business. It builds trust and fosters employee engagement (Mishra, Boynton, Mishra, & Martin, 2014). The central concept of communication is sharing information among employees.

In addition, employees may respond better when receiving information from a channel they prefer (Mishra et al., 2014). Face-to-face communication allows a person to have a dialogue with a critical audience (Bedarkar & Pandita, 2014). Having internal communication ensures the business operates effectively and productively while increasing employee morale and job satisfaction.

Toxic employees. The destruction caused by toxic employees can crush a business by reducing the morale and productivity of others. Numerous organizations employ harmful workers that threaten to undermine the working environment (Minor & Housman, 2015). Toxic employees spread discontent among their peers, which brings down a department's morale and productivity. Toxic workers may engage in adverse behavior, may become involved in workplace violence, and may sometimes breach company policies (Self & Self, 2014). A toxic employee tends to hang around the

business to influence others to act like them or bully and intimidate others until they decide to leave. Leaders must deal with toxic employees to ensure they do not influence the departure of a good employee or influence others to adopt their adverse behavior.

Toxic workers tend to gossip and contaminate the working environment, yet management may neglect to deal with them; this neglect may potentially be more damaging to the business (Cheang & Appelbaum, 2015). On the other hand, toxic employees sometimes have unique skills that a company needs to maintain a vast domain of product and services (Minor & Housman, 2015). Some managers are reluctant to discipline these particular employees for fear of not being able to find other qualified applicants (Özer, Ugurluoglu, Kahraman, & Avci, 2017).

However, the poor demeanor of toxic workers may cause their performance to decrease and their negative attitude to spread (Saunders & Tiwari, 2014). These workers tend to locate in a business where they recapture their interest, which leads to a spike in productivity until they lose interest six months later (Bektas & Erkal, 2015). Managers must identify these types of employees and eliminate them from the business because disengaged employees may be bitter and may disrupt workflow.

Abusive supervision. Abusive supervision is a serious and growing problem in today's organizations. Workplace mistreatment encompasses a multitude of behaviors such as harsh criticism, silent treatment, ridicule, and abusive supervision. The volatile behavior described as abusive and destructive leadership may have a detrimental effect on staff (Barnes, Lucianetti, Bhave, & Christian, 2015; Day & Sammons, 2016). Both scholarly and practitioner interest in abusive supervision have grown due to its pervasive

negative impact on an organization regarding decreased employee organizational commitment, job performance, and citizenship behavior (Gabler & Hill, 2015). Abusive supervisors engage in hostile verbal and nonverbal behavior, which creates an undue hardship on their subordinates.

Similarly, Mackey, Frieder, Brees, and Martinko (2015) argued that abusive supervision causes a wide assortment of undesired consequences. The performance of a demanding boss contributed to low-quality exchanges and dysfunctional work behavior (Farh & Chen, 2014). Some employees who experience abusive supervision seldom report it due to fear of losing their job or they do not want to cause trouble for themselves. Abusive supervision may increase subordinates' emotional distress, counterproductive behaviors, deviation, and turnover (Chua, Murray, 2015; Mackey et al., 2015). Also, abusive supervision may cause some employees to experience depression, which may lead to additional health issues (Decker, & Van Quaquebeke, (2015). As noted, some supervisors usually target victims whom they felt were disrespectful and annoying, which creates negativity and poor work performance among employees, eventually creating a turnover (Hoobler, Wu, Liden, Hu, & Wilson 2017). Abuse from workplace authorities is a serious problem that creates an undue hardship on employees, emotional distress, health problems, and severe problems for the organization. Inappropriate behavior from a supervisor leads employees to call off work to escape the abuse. Although abuse happens, organizational leaders must implement primary preventive measures such as; training and development programs that model appropriate behavior, stringent policies to counter abusive behavior, and enact policies

that welcome whistleblowers. Stringent policies can reduce unethical behavior among employees, address the causes of turnover, and provide goals to engage and encourage the worker to meet. Such policies also increase morale, productivity, and employee motivation.

Although supervisors hold power over the subordinates, employees may consequently retaliate against the supervisor when frustrated with the abusive supervision. However, this would lead to formal sanctions on or punishment of the employee (Zoghbi-Manrique-de-Lara & Suárez-Acosta, 2014). Retaliatory employees may experience counterretaliation by abusive supervisors, especially when those supervisors report unfair acts against them from other departments or workers, which are called the trickle-down fashion (Chen, Friedman, & Simons, 2014). Supervisors' depression and emotional distress linked to their perceptions of injustice and subordinate's reports of abusive behavior (Wang, Harms, & Mackey, 2014). Emotional distress may lead supervisors to engage in hostile behavior such as retaliation against employees, with those workers subsequently left feeling scared of losing their job or feeling as if they work in a hostile environment (Parks et al., 2017). According to guidance provided by the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, employees have the right to report abusive supervision without fear of retaliation from the supervisor or employer. Supervisors must learn to have self-control and not abuse their supervisory power to retaliate against their workers (Harvey, Harris, Gillis, & Martinko, 2014; Lian et al., 2014). Supervisors and employees must learn to work out their differences in a nonhostile environment that allow each party to stress concern without retaliation, which

can build a respectful relationship between supervisors, and subordinates. The immediate supervisor can play a significant role in building a positive work environment that may help retain valued employees.

Retention Strategies

Importance of developing retention strategies. Effective employee retention strategies are essential to organization stability and revenue. Employees are the vital assets of any organization (Kossivi & Kalgora, 2016). Organizational leaders face the dilemma and challenges of replacing 70 million experienced and talented workers (Oladapo, 2014). Also, researchers have found that retaining employees is challenging due to different employees are motivated by different retention strategies, such as training and development, appraisal and compensation which are essentials of the job (Mohamed, Nor, & Dahalan, 2014). A strategy to retain employees is the use of reward programs that reward employees for a job well done (Ferreira & Almeida, 2015). When leaders recognize employees for their work, they tend to be happy and have job satisfaction. For businesses to remain competitive and decrease turnover managers will need to develop or strengthen their retention strategies to attract, hire, develop, and retain valuable employees.

Also, retention in a health care organization is a significant and costly concern when it comes to organizational performance and quality of care (Steinmetz, Vries, & Tijdens, 2014). Researchers have defined retention as the process where those employees are encouraged to remain with their employer for a satisfactory length of time (Gupta & Singh, 2014; Kossivi & Kalgora, 2016). Sandhya and Kumar (2015) agree that employee

retention is a systematic effort by employers to develop an environment that encourages current employees to remain with the organization. Leaders, operating in a competitive business market, are concerned with and challenged by this task (Terera, & Nigirande, 2014). Therefore, the ability of organizations to manage and survive turnover is increasingly essential.

Similarly, Martin (2015) noted that employee retention has emerged as management's most critical challenge of the workforce of the future. Sypniewska (2014) also asserted that businesses face dilemmas when trying to decrease turnover related to low job satisfaction, lack of skills, training, knowledge, and leadership. Employee retention strategies should be a vital part of an organization's best practice of operations. Replacing knowledge and talented employees are expensive, including the expenses of recruiting to fill vacated positions and training. The development of retention strategies can help keep critical employees.

The disruption of the workflow can interrupt the success of the business. The inability to maintain employees makes it difficult to maintain a positive employee culture and morale (Cloutier et al., 2015). As technology continues to advance, the skills of the workforce need to be updated, and so retaining valuable employees is essential to the organization's stability, development, and revenue (Aruna & Anitha, 2015; Darkwa, Newman, Kawkah, & Chowdhury, 2015). Therefore, it is vital that managers implement retention strategies that strengthen the ability of the business to grow with higher competence, with more innovation, and with long lasting strategic business objectives (Mahesh, 2017). Employees that understand the retention strategies work better for the

welfare of the organization (Ashmore & Gilson, 2015). Develop programs that enhance the workflow of the organization. Therefore, retaining workers and having employee strategies in place that enhance the organization are crucial elements of the organization's vision, mission, values, and policies (Mahesh, 2017). However, developing employee training programs, explaining employee expectations, and providing a platform for the employee to speak without fear of retaliation are long lasting strategies for retention that allows a business to grow.

Possible retention strategies. A successful retention strategy requires leaders to think from the employee's view. One of the most significant challenges in the business world is the perplexing problem of employee retention (Yang, Wan, & Fu, 2012). Employee turnover can bring devastation to an organization regarding decreased productivity, increased costs involved with training and recruitment, stress, and the inability to reach organizational goals. There are four retention strategies managers used to help reduce turnover (a) effective communication (b) hire a diverse workforce, (c) hire skilled employees who are appropriate for the job, and (d) implement development and training programs that can help employees to grow and advance within the organization (Mamun & Hasan, 2017). Retention strategies reduce turnover and absenteeism.

Researchers have found that compared to workers in other industries, workers in the health care industry experienced a high level of job satisfaction, but turnover is still high (Morgan, Dill, & Kalleberg, 2013). In addition, Sandhya and Kumar (2015) and Abu Elanain (2014) argued that creative strategies need to go beyond pay and benefits to retain employees. These strategies may include programs such as; fostering employee

engagement programs, health programs, and safety; providing flexible work schedules for work life balance and regular wellness programs. Leaders and managers need to work together to build a rapport with subordinates to help decrease employee turnover.

Both job satisfaction and leadership function as important indicators of whether an employee remains at their job and contributes to the success of the organization, or instead leaves their job, and contributes to the failure of the organization (Alex & George, 2014). Similarly, Ahmad and Rainyee (2014) stated that organizational commitment and job satisfaction plays a prominent role in employee turnover retention and absenteeism. Furthermore, Ahmad, Abbas, Latif, and Rasheed (2014) found that when an employee receives feedback, has job security, and a work schedule that fits their lifestyle, the employee tends to stay with the organization.

Other scholars have identified job satisfaction as the means to attract and retain qualified employees (Kumar et al., 2014). Many aspects influence job satisfaction: supervisor-employee relationships, compensation, benefits, rewards, leadership, communication, colleagues, recognition, and employee advancement opportunities (Mohammad et al., 2011). Based on the finding of Terera and Ngirande (2014) rewards and job satisfaction have many bearings on retaining employees. Also, training and development opportunities and promotion and performance management are factors contributing to employee job satisfaction. Another contribution to whether an employee stays or leave is compensation. Employees want to know what benefits an organization has to offer that is beneficial to workers and families. Another possible retention strategy is employee engagement, which researchers have identified as a solution to reducing

turnover. When a department has high employee engagement, they tend to experience less turnover (Mumtaz, Salleh, Baharom, 2016). Therefore, it is essential for an organization to develop a retention strategy that highlights both job satisfaction and compensation as significant factors.

Communication plays a vital role in the organization that reaches all types of audiences. The ability to communicate the challenges and strategies to employees enable the workers to provide feedback and suggestions. For an organization to maintain success, leaders need to follow and understand five levels of communications: intrapersonal, interpersonal, group, organizational, and intercultural (Cloutier et al., 2015). Also, as noted by Cloutier et al. understanding these communication levels allows managers time to examine the employee to see if they adopt the vision and fit into the business culture. The positive effect of training employee influences workers' satisfaction and performance. Mandhanya (2015) recommend that as a retention strategy for decreasing turnover organizations needs to develop recruiting, reward, and training programs that help retain human capital. Hafeez and Akbar (2015) found that employee training has an enormous effect on the efficiency of organizations and allocating more money into training programs leads to more productivity. Equipping employees with the right kind of training and information allows for the capabilities of carrying out their responsibilities.

Therefore, it is vital that managers of the organization implement retention strategies that strengthen the ability of the business to grow with greater competence and innovation as well as to attract and retain their workforce with long-lasting strategic

business objectives (Sandhya & Kumar, 2015). Organizations with high turnover are inundated with the high cost of recruitment and the time spent replacing open positions (Anvari, JianFu, & Chermahini, 2014). It is evident, that EVS encounters many challenges such as retention and turnover. Implementing effective strategies can help eliminate some challenges in retaining, training, and motivating employees. For a business to grow, leaders have to allocate resources to equip the employees with the correct training that promotes, inspires, motivate, and increase productivity.

The efficacy of transformational leadership as a retention strategy.

The strategy of transformational leadership in retaining employees goes beyond exchanges between the managers and subordinates. Although these aspects play a role in employee job satisfaction, transformational leaders focus on promoting and developing their subordinates (Patiar, & Wang, 2016). Adopting an effective leadership style helps leaders to manage critical problems and overcome challenges (Sethuraman & Suresh, 2014). Leadership style affects employee development and commitment to the organization (Nanjundeswaraswamy & Swamy, 2015). Leaders of transformational leadership cultivate the foundation for creating a great place for employees to work. TLT leaders using their leadership style to encourage employees to exceed their normal expectations has a direct impact on the results the leader achieves.

Transformational leaders created an atmosphere of confidence that improves productivity and job satisfaction among employees while decreasing the turnover rate (Yao, Fan, Guo, & Li, 2014).). Transformational leaders and workers motivate each other to more inspirational and ethical quality (Burns, 1978). Also, transformational leadership

functions better than transactional or laissez-faire leadership regarding job satisfaction and retention (Kumar et al., 2014). The way a leader act and lead employees can have a profound effect on a follower being supportive of them or not.

The consideration from transformational leaders builds a solid foundation for the manager and their workers that reduces employee turnover (Root, 2016). Also, transformational leaders aim to connect with and draw out the best in each employee (Perko, Kinnunen, & Feldt, 2014). These managers take the time to invest in workers; developing approaches that will make the subordinates' jobs easier while helping them build careers (Kumar et al., 2014). Because transformational leaders care about their employees' well-being, that leadership style tends to reduce stress, and work pressures while raising employees' self-esteem, all of which result in increased job satisfaction (Salem, 2015). Transformational leaders used their influence to draw employees towards achieving their goals and the organization goals by acting as role models.

Moreover, organizational leaders play a significant role in the outcome of the business, regarding factors such as employee attitudes, employee commitment, and the finances of the company (Robertson & Barling, 2013). Love, Trammell, and Cartner (2010) demonstrated the efficacy of transformational leadership as a retention strategy when using it to increase minority representation and retention in the predominantly white institution of higher education. While placing focus on how diverse groups learn, transformational leaders, increased the ability to support changes in the way instructors teach and the way various groups learn.

A shared vision and commitment to institutional changes created an innovative learning environment that engaged a shared community and led to improved retention among academic success for minority groups. Also, as noted by Love et al. that the foundation of institutional diversity and equality of education involved building change through transformational leadership by creating a learning environment that engages a shared community. Therefore, transformational leadership is useful in boosting employees' morale and has a positive outcome of job satisfaction (Asrar-ul-Hag & Kuchinke, 2016). Some researchers found that transformational leadership characteristics and behaviors have a positive effect on the organization in the areas of teamwork success, effectiveness, staff satisfaction, commitment; and enhanced followers' work-oriented values, and shaped self-efficiencies of followers (Mah'd Alloubani, Almatari, & Almukhtar, 2014). Transformational leaders behavior played a unique role in the outcome of the organization day to day operations that can aid the employee commitment which in turn encourages retention.

Health care EVS Departments Reflect Themes

Background on health care EVS. The literature indicated that many of the above-described phenomena are evident both generally in the hospital industry and specifically within EVS departments. Understanding some background of the department and its unique role in the hospital industry helps illuminate how these phenomena manifest in hospital EVS. Housekeeping plays a different role in the hospital industry than in the hotel industry, where it first originated (Hines, 2013). Cleaning services,

health and safety, medicine recycling, waste management, toxic waste disposal, and many other areas fall under the EVS umbrella.

Importance of EVS. Environmental Services is one of the most critical departments in the hospital organization. Caring for the health care environment is one of the most critical responsibilities in a health care facility. The most vital role of environmental services in controlling and preventing the spread of hospital infection (Ling et al., 2015). Employees accomplished this by cleaning patient, clinical, examination, and procedure rooms as well as disposing of patients' bodily fluids. Han et al. (2015) noted that health care associated infectious diseases have claimed a vast number of lives and cost hospital billions of dollars annually. EVS provides the best possible cleaning of the physical environment and critical in battling the spread of infectious diseases. Every EVS employee must, in addition to basic cleaning, learn about the transmission of infections and be well prepared to utilize best practices that shield patients from harm (Rupp et al., 2014). The EVS team handles toxic waste and follow strict infection control guidelines requiring extensive training (Ling et al., 2015). Hospital EVS employees must adhere to federal, state, and local health codes that ensure a safe and healthy environment (Hines, 2013; Leas et al., 2015). Failure to adhere to all regulatory guidelines may result in stiff financial penalties against the hospital. Understanding the role of the EVS is crucial to capitalize on the performance and productivity of the staff. Environmental cleaning is an essential principle of infection prevention in health care settings.

EVS cleans patients' rooms, procedure rooms, surgical areas, and all other parts of the hospital. EVS is the primary defense against eliminating infectious diseases. EVS serves as the hospital's first line of defense for many issues, such as reporting broken equipment, in addition to fighting infectious disease (Mosadeghrad, 2014). Hospital EVS is one of the most diverse departments in the hospital and interacts with nearly every department (Nayak et al., 2015). A vital influence on the cleanliness score, the quality of EVS departments correlates to overall patient satisfaction (Swanberg et al., 2016). EVS has a critical job in the hospital industries in the prevention and controlling of serious infectious diseases to keep patients and others safe. Therefore, comprehensive understanding and recognizing the value and importance of caring for the health care environment from the perspective of patients is critical in providing excellent customer services

Work conditions. Most frontline jobs in the health care industries usually considered low wage workers with limited advancement opportunities. Nichols et al. (2016) defined frontline health care support employees, which includes EVS, as those who provide direct care or support services and earn less than \$40,000 per year at jobs that require minimum levels of education and training. Hospitals in the United States provide vast quantities of low-skilled, low-wage occupations such as EVS and nursing assistants, dietary, and patient transportation to name a few (Dancer, 2014; Nichols et al., 2016). These jobs make up a large number of jobs that, seemingly invisible, form the backbone of any U. S. hospital. The U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) predicted frontline jobs would increase by 28% of the total workforce in 2012-2022, with the majority of

health care facility jobs performed by frontline workers, EVS, dietary, nursing assistants, and patient transportation (Nichols et al., 2016). The Bureau of Labor Statistics revealed in 2017 that EVS employees working in hospitals earned an average of \$27,450 a year. EVS employees take on many responsibilities and paid less than most frontline workers. These employees work on the frontline of defense. EVS employees work in a challenging and demanding environment, sometimes overwhelming, often considered invisible to most people in the organization, and paid less.

EVS employees often do not need an education credential to apply for the job; however, hospitals prefer to hire high school graduates with excellent communication skills and physical ability to perform the cleaning task. Although there is, no particular training required for hire in an EVS department, most employers require workers to have a high school diploma or equivalency, and some prefer applicants to have some previous experience (Knox et al. 2014; Keller, 2014). Also, noted by Knox and Keller in earlier years, EVS employees had little or no formal education and carried out job duties with little training. Employees learned everything on the job, and their job duties seemed ritual (Keller, 2014; Knox et al., 2014). In the late 2010's, before an EVS employee starts working, they must attend training classes, learn hospital EVS policies, and adapt to hospital EVS procedures so that patient care is not jeopardized, and the department avoids scrutiny (Zoutman, Ford, & Sopha, 2014). Although EVS employees are not paid for their education because the job only requires a high diploma or equivalent, education has become an essential aspect of the EVS Department requirement, as well as excellent communication skills. A big part of the job is being able to communicate and convey

information to patients, nursing, and other departments. Being able to communicate is also a part of providing excellent customer services.

EVS Techs must be able to work in high risk and challenging environment. An employee may be exposed to unforeseen and uncomfortable settings along with exposure to strong cleaning agents. In addition to potential exposure to infectious substances (blood, body fluids, and needle sticks), employees may also be exposed to upsetting sights, and images of death (Boyce, 2016). These employees may be at risk for infection and may become a risk factor (Dancer, 2014). It is essential for all EVS Techs to have some education and the reading skills to perform everyday job duties, such as being familiar with chemicals and reading labels, and having knowledge of Safety Data Sheets (SDS). Employees receive on the job training to ensure proper techniques are performed to protect patients, themselves, and others.

Turnover and retention in EVS Departments. Health care services are increasing rapidly. One challenge confronting service business leader is retention of frontline employees, such as EVS, who perform critically, lifesaving tasks and often act as ambassadors for the firm (Kumar, Dass, & Topaloglu, 2014). Nichols et al. (2016) stated that 24 million people quit their jobs in 2013 and that 20% of all workers quit in U.S. hospitals alone. Therefore, it is crucial for EVS employees to stay satisfied with their jobs because this department experiences the highest turnover rate in the industry (Heavey, Holwerda, & Hausknecht, 2013; Nayak et al., 2015). The consequences of frontline employee turnover reduce the quality of service and can be damaging to the safety of patient care; it also affects the morale and motivation of the staff. With health

care increasing rapidly and turnover being one of the leading challenges, implementing retention and turnover strategies can ensure adequate services.

Impact of turnover in EVS departments. Turnover in EVS departments creates challenges for management and hardship amongst employees, generates extra workload for employees, and increases over time for the department. Shortages of staff interfere with patient care and have an adverse impact on the hospital (Robinson, Kralj, Solnet, Goh, & Callan, 2014). The adverse impact on the quality of patient care, which also ultimately hurts the business overall financial performance, has resulted in increased concern with high turnover rates (Heavey et al., 2013; Swanberg et al., 2016). High turnover rates in the hospital put patient care at risk because the demand for health care is proliferating (Swanberg et al., 2016). A shortage of staff can be detrimental to the safety of patients and creates an undue hardship on others. Developing a defensive plan of action to retain employees can help prevent inadequate staffing.

Turnover in the health care industry could cost hospital billions of dollars.

Turnover in the EVS and dietary services departments could cost hospitals as much as 100% of a worker's salary (Swanberg et al., 2016). Health care organizations in the United States continue to face dynamic and complex problems, such as retention issues, that affect their success in providing the best, and most affordable health care (Collins et al., 2015). Also, as noted by Collins et al. employee turnover, the shrinking of a skilled workforce, remains one of the highest ranked organizational risks, and annually cost the U.S. industry billions of dollars. Turnover in health care poses a significant challenge to

the organization while trying to build high performing teams to take care of patients and customers' needs.

Causes of turnover in EVS departments. Some frontline workers such as EVS employees are treated differently in the organization due to their jobs. Auh et al., whose 2016 study involved 25 million employees in more than 189 countries, asserted that frontline workers represent some of the most disengaged employees in the workforce. Kumar, Dass, and Topaloglu (2014) also characterized frontline employees, such as EVS, as underpaid, undertrained, overworked, and highly stressed. EVS is one of the most critical departments in health care. Hines (2013) and Leas et al. (2015) noted that EVS employees play a huge role in the control of infections in hospitals, but viewed, as "behind the scene" players, do not get the same consideration as other members of the health care team. Similarly, Nayak et al. (2015) noted that these employees receive little recognition from senior management or other departments compared relative to their essential and challenging role contribution within the hospital.

Hospital leaders, thinking of EVS employees as expendable, provided the least investment in, status for, and respect for a department that has one of the essential jobs in the hospital (Holman, 2013; Knox et al., 2014; Nayak et al., 2015). EVS employees are one of the lowest paid workers in the health care system (Nayak et al., 2015). Also, Knox et al. characterized frontline health care employees as the least educated workgroup with few advancement opportunities. Many of these workers have a low education level and receive low pay yet undertake vital tasks (Dill, Morgan, & Marshall, 2013). EVS employees have a job that is physical, occasionally hard, employee sometimes works in

unpleasant and stressful environments, sometimes exposed to life threatening diseases, handle unpleasant blood and body fluids but paid less than most. Sometimes EVS employees received little respect and viewed as the invisible employees. Employees' working in difficult areas with unpleasant sights of death do not feel they receive enough pay like other departments. EVS is the first line of defense when it comes to fighting infectious diseases.

Job dissatisfaction. There are many reasons an employee can become dissatisfied with their jobs such as low wages, workload, lack of control, unfair treatment from the boss, and unpredictable schedules. In additional, some EVS supervisors' jobs require employees to work hours that interfere with their family and social life (Fiksenbaum, 2014). Supervisors must often manage chaotic inconsistency in work schedules (Gerhart, & Fang, 2014; Swanberg et al., 2016). Schedules in frontline health care jobs demonstrate instability, rigidity, and unpredictability. Employees want schedules that are more attractive to their lifestyle. Instability in schedules occurs when time adjustments are made to accommodate patient care needs (Swanberg et al., 2016). Rigidity in schedules arises when managers instruct employees to report to work on days not noted in their schedules. Employees, in these cases, have no control over when they work or take breaks. Unpredictability in schedules occurs when employees call off of work or called in to work without notice because of staff shortage or other reasons. These challenges contribute to voluntary turnover and may negatively affect the quality of patient care while straining the overall financial performance of the hospital (Hayward, Bungay, Swanberg et al., 2016, Wolff, & MacDonald, 2016). Working a set schedule in a health care setting where adequate staffing is necessary, may not always fit the person. However, a flexible schedule could reduce employees being disappointed because they cannot meet their personal needs or outside commitments; and may even reduce turnover and decrease absenteeism, and tardiness. When some employees fail to show up for work they leave coworkers taking on more work responsibility because there is not enough staff to take care of patients.

Turnover as a cause. Research indicated turnover itself contributes to additional turnover. Although some employees voluntarily leave, those who stay may have to pick up extra duties. An excessive workload may increase stress, which may decrease the satisfaction of both patient and employee. Therefore, employees may then start to feel disinterested and be triggered to leave (Thanacoody et al., 2014; Swanberg et al., 2016). Also, employee turnover links to additional administrative costs incurred by the process of recruiting and hiring staff, and errors often made in the course of hiring new employees (Collini, Guidroz & Perez, 2015). That may lead to low morale among staff, to the loss of productivity, and to overwhelmed, burned-out workers. With the increase of turnover having direct and indirect adverse impacts on employee morale, and productivity, it also plays a significant effect on an organization's reputation, productivity, and effectiveness (Collini et al., 2015). Change is inevitable as people get older and retires; companies have to make the necessary adjustments to seek more employees that are dependable to continue the organization day to day mission. There are many reasons an employee leaves their current job and transition else somewhere.

Whatever the reason, finding out why a person wants to leave helps the organization to develop policies and strategies to eliminate short staffed and hardship on others who stay.

Transformational leadership as a retention strategy. Using transformational leadership in a health care setting promotes teamwork among employee, job satisfaction, decrease turnover and improves patient care, and encourages positive self esteem. Early research on transformational leadership draws heavily on leadership studies in the military; later the research expanded, exploring business leadership in government, education, health care settings, and in the non-profit sector (Bass & Riggio, 2006). Lavoie-Tremblay, Fernet, Lavigne, and Austin (2016) stated that developing transformational nursing leadership is a vital organizational strategy to improve patient outcomes. Lavoie-Tremblay et al., also, used transformational leadership practice among nursing management in a diverse field of military and financial industries that improved job satisfaction, productivity, retention, and patient satisfaction. The strategy involved defining the transformational leadership style, the use of role-playing that demonstrated the use of transformational leadership in a work setting, and one-on-one sessions with leaders. Transformational leaders can influence the way employees act and achieve hospital goals that promote patient safety.

On the other hand, poor leadership can destroy an organization. Weberg (2010) described poor leadership as a mutating cancer cell that causes toxic symptoms that have an adverse impact on health care organizations: disgruntled employees, burnout, and stress at all levels. Also, noted by Weberg that implementing Burns's (1978) TLT in the health care system increased employee job satisfaction and decreased employee stress

and intent to leave. In Addition, Weberg compared other leadership types, such as transactional leadership and laissez-faire leadership, and found that those styles led to employee dissatisfaction, stress, and burnout. Weberg emphasized that health systems should facilitate transformational leadership for the ultimate purpose of creating a healthy work environment and improving job satisfaction to reduce employee turnover. Inspiring an employee through transformational leadership creates a better working environment, fosters job satisfaction, and generates employee awareness of and commitment to their organization's mission and values (Weberg, 2010). Interacting and working with people in a hospital setting can bring about stress and anxiety but using the right leadership style such as transformation leadership can influence how people deal with change and build a relationship that increases the likelihood of people being motivated, and meeting the organizational goals.

Transition

Section 1 included the foundation of the study, the background of the problem, the problem statement, and the purpose statement. The foundation of the proposed study focused on the background of retention, turnover, and leadership in hospital organizations. The background of the study described problems faced by U.S. hospital leaders, the increase in employee turnover, retention, the importance of retention strategies, and leadership style. The problem statement included the hook, anchor, general problem, and specific business problem that explained, and provided the context for the study. The purpose statement described the primary goal of the research,

identified the specific population group, the geographic location, and the contribution to business practices and social change for this proposed study.

Section 1 in addition included the nature of the study, the overarching research question, the interview questions, the conceptual framework, operational definitions, assumptions, limitations, and delimitations. The nature of the study included a description of the research method and design as well as the reasons for selecting the qualitative method and a multiple case study design. The overarching research question encapsulated the fundamental core of the study that shaped the directions, stages of inquiry, analysis, and reporting and needed addressing with reliable, and valid methods. The interview questions, a vital source of the research study, guided the conversation between the interviewer and the interviewees (Yin, 2014). Burns's TLT is the conceptual framework for the proposed study. The operational definitions referred to terms utilized in the proposed study. Assumptions involved facts that I as the researcher assume to be true but cannot verify. Limitations involved potential weaknesses of this study that I cannot control, and delimitations provided the boundaries I set for this study.

Section 1 concluded with the significance of the study followed by a review of the academic literature. The significance of the study included an explanation of potential benefits and the overall impact the study may have on business practices. The literature review included Burns's TLT and its constructs that set the underlying foundation for this study. I based the research used in this study on previous literature that relates to retention, turnover, and leadership style. Header and subheaders utilized in this study focused on the EVS workforce regarding turnover, work conditions, salary, education,

retention, turnover challenges in hospitals, job satisfaction, and job dissatisfaction. Other header and subheaders utilized in the study focused on employee engagement and disengagement, toxic employees, abusive supervision, supervisory retaliation, research on retention, retention strategies using transformational leadership, and leading causes of employee turnover.

Section 2 included the business project purpose, the restatement of the purpose statement, the role of the researcher, the participants, the research method and design, the population, the sampling, and ethical research. Also, Section 2 described data collection instruments and technique, data organization skills, data analysis, and reliability and validity.

Section 3 begins with the introduction of the purpose of the study, the presentation of findings, application to professional practice for a social change, the recommendation for action, and further research. Section 3 concludes with the reflections of the study, conclusion, and appendices.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 comprises the purpose statement, my role as the researcher, descriptions of participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, an in-depth description of the data collection instruments, data technique, data organization approach, and data analysis. Sections 2 also contains a description of the reliability and validity of data and concludes with a transition and summary.

Purpose Statement

My purpose in this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies that some hospital managers used to reduce EVS employee turnover. The population for this study consisted of two hospitals and five EVS managers with recruiting and hiring responsibilities from the Piedmont Triad and Research Triangle Park of North Carolina. The potential implications for positive social change include retaining experienced and talented EVS employees, decreasing voluntary turnover, decreasing the unemployment rate, increasing the potential to improve sustainability and growth of the organization, and increasing patient safety by developing effective turnover strategies.

Role of the Researcher

The researcher is the primary data collection instrument in qualitative studies (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Morse, Lowery, & Pezalla, Pettigrew, & Miller-Day, 2012, Steury, 2014). I served as the primary data collection instrument by conducting semistructured interviews, audio recording, note taking, and viewed departmental documents. Regarding my relationship with the topic and participants, I was familiar with the themes of this study because I am an EVS operational manager with experience in

hiring, training, and retaining EVS employees. However, I did not know the manager participants selected for this study. My role was to explore the subject in an unbiased manner. Part of my role in this study as the researcher was to select the appropriate procedures to complete the research, which includes recruiting potential participants, collecting and analyzing data, managing the interview process, selecting the appropriate research methodology and design for this study, and respecting the rights of the participants.

I adhered to the highest ethical standards by not plagiarizing or falsifying information. Collecting and honestly reporting data ensured accuracy and credibility (Yin, 2014). I collected documents and maintained data in a professional competence that ensured trustworthiness. I adhered to the protocol outlined in the Belmont Report. According to the Belmont Report, the informed consent form services two objectives: (a) to respect and promote participants' autonomy and (b) to protect participants from potential harm (U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979; Judkins-Cohn, Kiewasser-Withrow, Owen, & Ward, 2014). The foundation for these objectives lies in the Belmont principles of autonomy, respect for the person, and beneficence. Autonomy requires that before enrolling in a research study, a participant must provide voluntary, informed consent or that an alternative means must be explored and participant(s) notified (Judkins-Cohn et al., 2014). Respect for the person requires that during the informed consent process there is full disclosure of any information that pertains to the participants, such as their name, organization's name, and location. The researcher is obliged to protect each participants identity, places, and the location of the interview

(Anney, 2014). I shared the nature of the study, the process, the possibility of withdrawal from the study, and measures taken to maintain the privacy of the participants. The informed consent for this study consisted of disclosure, capacity, comprehension, and voluntary, independent permission.

I advised participants on the requirements needed to meet the demands of this study. All steps within the process met the expectations set by the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) guidelines (Bebe, 2016; Judkins-Cohn et al., 2014). Informed consent is a process that protects human subjects (Boblin, Ireland, Kirkpatrick, & Robertson, 2013; Judkins-Cohn et al., 2014; Stuckey, 2014). Judkins-Cohn et al. (2014) stressed the importance of the participants' understanding of the informed consent process. Before starting the interview process, I explained to each participant the nature of the study, the purpose of the study, the participants' rights, and my responsibility to protect their identity, privacy, and confidentiality. I maintained ethical procedures, during this study to prevent any moral and legal issues.

As Moustakas (1994), Scott (2016), Wilson and Washington (2007), and Berger (2015) noted bias could occur at any point in research or exposed bias that cannot readily be eliminated, the use of bracketing and reflexivity can help eradicate. Following their recommendation, I acknowledged the core assessment of my research topic to mitigate bias in data collection through bracketing and reflexivity. Reflexivity or reflection is the ability to evaluate oneself and does not let the researcher views and bias influence the study (Berger, 2015). I maintained an objective focus throughout the study that helped to eliminate bias and not knowing the participants helped to reduce bias. I conducted this

study in the Piedmont Triad and Research Triangle Park of North Carolina but not in my place of employment. I avoided using any data collection from my place of employment to protect the integrity of data collected for this study. In addition, as the researcher, I worked with the participants in an ethical manner by respecting their lived perceptions of the phenomenon in this study (Scott, 2016).

One of the most important sources of a qualitative research study is the interviewing process (Yin, 2016). Although I was familiar with the themes presented in this study, I did not personally know the participants selected for this study, which reduced bias. An interview protocol enhanced the reliability and quality of data obtain from the participants (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). It is essential to use the same interview protocol (see Appendix B) with each participant to ensure the consistency of the interview process among all participants. I avoided bias by selecting participants and organizations unknown to me. By using these methods, I refrained from bias, which ensured the responses come from the human participants' perspective.

Participants

Selecting the correct participants with the most knowledge was critical to the study because the research depended on the validity, honest, and actual participation (Bebe, 2016; Yin, 2014). The participants in this study were five environmental services (EVS) managers who work in the health care industry in the Piedmont Triad and Research Triangle Park in North Carolina. The eligibility criteria for this study consisted of full-time managers who have (a) 5 years of EVS experience, (b) recruiting and hiring responsibilities, and (c) implemented strategies reducing EVS employee turnover. This

purposive sampling method targeted a population that met specific criteria. Purposive sampling referred to selective sampling that allowed the researcher to select informative and unique cases or to target specific, difficult-to-reach populations, and to identify a particular type of case for in-depth study (Pezalla et al., 2012; Rowley, 2012; Sangestani & Khatiban, 2013). I selected five managers from two hospitals: three from the Piedmont Triad area and two from the Research Triangle Park area.

I gained access to participants from the recommendations of the human resource coordinator of the hospital organizations. I obtained the contact information of potential participants from the coordinator. I then called and talked to each manager, explaining who I was and what the study was about, and obtained permission from participants to email them the informed consent form. The informed consent document explained the nature of the study, the purpose of the study, the rights of participants, and my responsibility to protect their identity, privacy, and confidentiality (Bebe, 2016; Hammersley, 2014; Judkins-Cohn et al., 2014).

It was essential to establish a working rapport with the participants built on honesty and trust to gain access to data (Rowley, 2012). I established a positive working relationship with participants at the initial contact by having open communication and dialogue, introducing myself, clearly stating my intent and the purpose of the study, and I let the participants know that their identity and organization are confidential and anonymity throughout this study. It was crucial to establish permission from the organization before collecting data from the participants (Strauss & Corbin, 2015). I obtained written permission before conducting an interview and collecting data. I

contacted participants to set up face-to-face appointments at their facilities for the interview.

Research Method and Design

As the researcher, answering the research questions relies on identifying the appropriate research method and design. I selected a qualitative research method and multiple-case designs.

Research Method

I focused on exploring EVS managers' perspective on strategies that hospital managers used to reduce EVS employee turnover. Qualitative researchers explore human behaviors of individuals or groups in a social phenomenon (Hazzan & Nutov, 2014), which is why I used a qualitative method to explore EVS employee turnover reductions strategies. A qualitative study allowed the researcher to engage in an efficient process for studying managers who operate in different locations within one complex program (Stake, 2013). The qualitative approach required a sympathetic understanding in that investigators must try to explore the situation, events, and actions from the participant's point-of-view and not imposed their perspective (Holloway & Galvin, 2016). Yin (2016) and Robson and McCartan (2016) described the allure of qualitative research as conducting in-depth studies about a comprehensive selection of topics. Yin (2016) also noted qualitative research had become the mainstream form of research in many different academic and professional fields. Qualitative research method includes three principal purposes of research: to explore, explain, or describe the phenomenon of interest (Marshall & Rossman, 2014), which is what I used to explore, explain, and describe the

phenomenon of this study. The qualitative method was appropriate because it allowed me to explore, explain, and describe the phenomenon of how managers in the health care industry reduced EVS employee turnover.

Quantitative research approach required the gathering of data in large volumes that examined the relationship between variables, using standardized methods, generalized samples, hypothesis testing of theories, and relied on statistical information instead of the perception of individuals (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015; Yilmaz, 2013). I found quantitative research inappropriate for this study because I did not test a theory using variables or measurements with numbers and I did not analyze statistics in the framework to determine if the theory explained or predicted the phenomenon of interest. I did not use a hypothesis, manipulated and control data, or used surveys, and systematic measurements. Instead, I used the qualitative method to explore strategies to reduce turnover. I did not select a mixed method design for the study because that method involved collecting and analyzing a mixture of qualitative and quantitative data in a single study of inquiry. Mixed research required the researcher to have expertise in qualitative and quantitative methods (Anwar, Rahman, & Ismail, 2016; Cameron, 2011; Razali,). There was no need to use two research methods because the purpose of the research study was to explore strategies that leaders in the health care industry used to reduce EVS employee turnover, which I accomplished using the qualitative method because it allowed me to conduct an in-depth study with open-ended questions.

Research Design

The case study design provided a blueprint of the research that addressed the research question in the form of asking why and how questions (Wahyuni, 2012; Yin, 2014). A case study distinctly studies complex issues such as retention and turnover from a holistic, real-world perspective (Wahyuni, 2012). Also, the case study design allows the facilitation of an in-depth investigation of a contemporary phenomenon, using natural context sources such as people and their interactions while focused on contemporary events as opposed to historical events (Wahyuni, 2012). Harland (2014) described a case study design as a complex real-life social situation that makes use of the ability of humans to learn from each other's experiences. A multiple case study design is more compelling and regarded as a more robust study. It allows the researcher to explore different locations with the same problem and provides a more comprehensive understanding (Yin, 2014). I selected the case study design because it enabled me to gain an in-depth view of the situation. The case study design also allowed for how and why questions that are suitable for extensive and in-depth descriptions of complex social phenomena.

I did not find an ethnographic approach appropriate for this study because ethnographers, while participating in the lives of those under study, carefully depict the beliefs and feelings of a group or culture and look for predictable patterns in lived human experiences (Reich, 2015; Sangasubana, 2011). Ethnographers also obtain rich data from human participants by observing their behavior through different manifestations of data collection including interviews, collaboration from a team discussion, incidental

& Horman, 2010). In this study of retention strategies, I focused on neither a group nor culture nor did I involve my participation in the lives of those under study. Thus, an ethnographic design was not the best design for this study.

A phenomenological design relies on the interpretive understanding of human experiences that have already passed (Conklin, 2014; Tomkins & Eatough, 2013). Moustakas (1994) noted that phenomenology refers to the way a person lives, creates, and relates to the world, which is not the intent of this study. I did not use a phenomenological design because phenomenologists explore the participants' lived experiences and the meaning of those experiences. The focus was on gaining in-depth information that was not solely focused on addressing the historical phenomenon. I did not find a narrative approach for this study appropriate because narrative researchers focus chronologically on the events that have occurred in an individual's life (Rooney, Lawlor & Rohan, 2016). Scholars have described a narrative as a sequence of events or as individual events presented in a coherent story (Augenstein & Palzkill, 2015; Press & Arnould, 2014). In a multiple case study design, scholars can understand a complex social phenomenon (Yin, 2014). I found a multiple case study design most appropriate because it better permits the understanding of the complex social phenomena such as retention and turnover in a hospital setting.

Following researchers' suggestions, I will ensure data saturation by observing patterns and themes from participants until reaching data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Ragab & Arisha, 2013). Fusch and Ness also noted that a researcher could meet data

saturation when enough information has been obtained to replicate the study. O'Reilly and Parker (2012) asserted that data saturation has occurred when a researcher can no longer obtain additional new information and when there is no need for further coding. Data saturation depends on the depth of data and not about how many people have been interviewed (Fusch & Ness, 2015). To ensure data was captured correctly, I used an audio recorder to collect the data along with note taking and member checking. To achieve data saturation, I repeated the questions to each participant until all findings were exhausted, and no new information emerged. Though two hospital organizations were the intended sample, there was an extra participant in the event additional information was needed to reach data saturation or scheduled meetings to the initial interviews to attain further data collection from the five participants until all data is exhausted.

Population and Sampling

In this qualitative multiple case study, the population consisted of purposeful sampling. The geographic area consisted of two large hospitals in the Piedmont Triad and Research Triangle Park of North Carolina and five managers who work in those hospitals and are responsible for the recruitment and hiring of EVS employees. These EVS managers have experienced turnover and have explored strategies to reduce EVS employee turnover. Using a small, purposeful criterion sampling can increase the credibility of the results substantially (Suri, 2011). Ishak and Baka (2014) and Yin (2014) also suggested that a sample size of 10 participants could provide compelling support in a multiple case design study. The sample size included two large hospital and five participants. Gentles et al., (2015) noted that a purposeful sampling allows a researcher to

gather in-depth information and learn a great deal about the issues of central importance to the purpose of the inquiry. I used purposeful criterion sampling that enabled me to conduct a qualitative inquiry, gave vital insight into the subject while allowing me to gain an in-depth understanding. Purposeful sampling also allows the researcher to select participants based on their knowledge and relevance of information about the study research question (Yin, 2014). I used the purposeful criterion sampling to select participants for this study (a) managers employed full-time with five years with EVS experience who (b) work in a hospital environment (c) have recruiting and hiring responsibilities, and (d) had implemented strategies reducing EVS employee turnover. The purposeful criterion sampling method targeted a population that met specific criteria for this proposed study. Dworkin (2012) and Yin (2009) noted that small sample size could provide adequate information in a case study; therefore, I used a purposeful criterion sample size of five participants because these managers shared insights on how to retain EVS employees in a hospital organization. I used purposeful sampling because it enabled me to gain an in-depth, comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon, and achieved data saturation.

The concept of reaching data saturation in the course of the interviews, there is no new data, no new themes, no new coding, and the information can be replicated (Fusch & Ness, 2015). In other words, obtaining data saturation occurs when (a) all significant data has been obtained, (b) no new themes emerge, and (c) no additional coding exists.

I obtained data saturation through face-to-face interviews with each participant in their place of employment. As suggested by Khan (2014) and Dikko (2016) researchers

should provide a comfortable, private place without any interruptions. I ensured the participants of their privacy and confidentiality of the interview. Prior to the interview process, I asked the participant to provide a private, comfortable place with no interruptions. Selecting the correct place to interview a participant can have a profound effect on the direction the interview will go, and the content shared (Yin, 2016).

Fusch and Ness recommended interviewing multiple participants and asking the same questions until the researcher can no longer identify new information or otherwise data saturation would not be achieved, as it would be a continually moving target. I followed the interview protocol (see Appendix B) to attained rich data. To achieve data saturation, Daniel (2012) asserted that a researcher should continue the interview the participants until no new information is identified. I asked probing questions to each participant until all findings were exhausted, and no new information emerged. There was also an extra participant in the event additional information was needed to reach data saturation or schedule meetings to the initial interviews to attain further data collection from the five participants until all data saturation is obtained.

Ethical Research

The consent form was used to support the participants when trying to decide whether to participate in a research study (Schrems, 2014). Protecting the research participants confidentiality is crucial to safeguarding the research and the collection of data (Abbott, & Grady, 2011; Check et al., 2014; Yin, 2014). In accordance with recommended research practices, I ensured all aspects of the participants' privacy and confidentiality was safeguarded by ensuring the disclosure of information. Yin asserted

any information that can identify a participant should be disclosed to protect the person. I completed the National Institute of Health (NIH) Office of Extramural Research training on November 9, 2014 and pledged to protect human research. The participant consent form included my IRB Approval number 04-04-19-0140259. In addition, the informed consent process provided the essential function of protecting participants from any unethical research during the interview process (Jackson, 2013; Judkins-Cohn et al., 2014). Therefore, ethics permeated every step of this investigation.

After receiving permission from the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB), I delivered to each participant an informed consent form, which each participant signed electronically by replying *I consent*. I also delivered to the participants an invitation to participate, the purpose of the study, the research procedures, and information regarding compensation. The consent form also explained the participant's right to withdraw from the study at any time without penalties (Hardicre, 2014; U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 2014) by notifying me by telephone or email. If a participant withdrew from the study, I was compelled to discontinue all communication and destroy any data collected from the participants (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 2014).

It is up to the researcher to offer participants incentives such as voucher and small prizes, and cash of monetary value. I offered no incentives for participation in this voluntary study. The researcher offering participants incentives must understand that incentives can affect the reliability and validity finding of the study (VanderWalde & Kurzban, 2011). I explained to participants the importance of disclosing names and other

identifying characteristics along with company documents. It is imperative that all information about participant be disclosed for the protection of human subjects (Yin, 2014). I called participants to schedule an appropriate and convenient interview appointment. This conversation provided the managers with an opportunity to ask questions about the research and the intent of the study.

I conducted myself professionally, adhered to the interview protocol throughout the selection of, and while interviewing participants. I followed the universal protocol for ethical research to the highest standard in upholding the protection of participant's identity, privacy, and confidentiality (Judkins-Cohn et al., 2014). To ensure the protection of participants and organizations, I identified each as P1, P2, P3, P4, and P5. I stored collected data in a security safe, computer, and on a flash drive with password protection for 5 years. After five years, I will destroy all consent forms, interviews, recordings, notes, and transcribed data by deleting the electronic data from the hard drive, and by shredding the written data (Yin, 2014).

Data Collection Instruments

In a qualitative research study, the researcher serves as the data collection instrument (Merriam, & Tisdell, 2015; Morse et al., 2014; Pezalla et al., 2012; Yin, 2011). Therefore, I served as the primary data collection instrument for this study. As a case study requires a minimum of two data, collection instruments (Yin, 2016). I conducted face-to-face interviews, opened-ended questions using a semistructured interview technique, viewed hospital EVS documents, note taking, and audiotaped the interview for data collection. Dikko (2016) noted face-to-face interviews as a data

collection method gives the researcher a better insight into the subject of the study and allows for more personal, and insightful access to data. I conducted face-to-face interviews using the interview protocol (see Appendix B) in a private setting at each participant's place of employment. Stuckey (2014) suggested that the advantage to qualitative methods involving open-ended questioning and probing where the researcher avoids driving participants' attention to fixed responses is that those types of interviews give participants the opportunity to answer questions in their own words.

Researchers have described semistructured interviewing as a highly used method for collecting data in qualitative social research method with respect for interpretation of data of the described phenomenon (Anyan, 2013; Doody & Noonan, 2013; Harvey, 2001). Stuckey (2014) stated that the researcher sets the outline for the topics covered, but that the participants determine the way the interview is directed. Therefore, the purpose of the prepared interview questions was to explore themes in a consistent, systematic manner to gain rich insight on retention and turnover in health care EVS. This process included using follow-up questions for gaining additional information from participants (Dikko, 2016). Note taking can improve the researchers' memory and reduce bias as well as allow the researcher to compare and gain new knowledge from the interview (Akhayan & Dehghani, 2015). Audio recording allows the researcher to capture the participant's words verbatim for transcribing data accurately (Christie, Bemister, & Dobson, 2015). The use of audio recording and notes allowed me to capture the participant's conversation verbatim for interpreting data. The viewing of company documents provided background and historical information on the context of the study.

(Houghton et al., 2013). Each interview consisted of eight semistructured, open-ended interview questions regarding their experiences with retention and turnover, and their strategies used to reduce turnover (see Appendix A).

I used member checking to enhance the reliability and validity of the data collected. Harper and Cole (2012) defined member checking as a quality control process used to improve the accuracy, credibility, and validity of recorded information during the interview process. Qualitative inquiries employ a variety of techniques, but member checking is the most appropriate for this study because it allows the participants to verify their information (Carlson, 2010; Fusch & Ness, 2015; Harper & Cole, 2012). I gave participants 24 hours to check and approve all aspects of their recorded interview, from the interview process itself to my interpretation of the data (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Ortman, 2017).

Data Collection Technique

In this study, I collected data by conducting face-to-face interviews, asking opened-ended questions using a semistructured interview technique, taking notes, and audio-taping each participant in their place of employment (see Appendix A). Also, I viewed hospital EVS documents. The advantages of interviewing included meeting the participants face-to-face, which increased the probability that the participants will share vital, honest information about their retention and turnover experiences. Another advantage of employing face-to-face interviews enabled me to gain a deeper in-depth understanding of turnover in the EVS department from participants' experiences and their views and allows for more personal insights, and access to data. Face-to-face

interviewing allowed for asking follow-up questions for gaining additional information from participants. Dowling, Lloyd, and Suchet-Pearson (2016) and Cassidy, Sherman, and Jones (2012), noted face-to-face interviewing enables the researcher to gain in-depth information from participants and enables the researcher to ask an additional follow-up question. The disadvantages of face-to-face interviews for collecting data were the participants may act different from usual, and the participants may not comment or willingly share all information when asked (Vogl, 2015) about their retention and turnover. I followed the interview protocol (see Appendix B) as suggested by Yin (2014). Before meeting with participants, I emailed each person a recruitment letter for study participants which stated who I was, what the study was about, and the eligibility requirement to see which participants are eligible for this study. After determining the eligibility of the participants, each person received an email to confirm the date and time. To ensure the participants' confidentiality, all interviews were done separately, privately, and in their place of employment. The use of an audio recorder to record the interviews was essential to collecting data for this study and a test conducted to ensure the device works before the interview process. It is imperative for a researcher to test any devices used in an interview to ensure it works (Feilzer, 2010). In accordance with recommended research practices, I checked to see how clear and loud the recorder records, which allowed for efficient transcription, and use the audio recorder application on my Apple iPhone® as a backup.

Reviewing documents for a research study can have advantages and disadvantages. One of the advantages to reviewing the EVS departmental documents

such as the attendance policy and retention and turnover documents provided background information as well as historical insight on the context of the study and allowed me to ask more probing questions. Marshall and Rossman (2014) noted that reviewing company documents may generate new interview questions, can contain valuable information in tracking change and development, and can help to verify the finding. The disadvantage of viewing company documents was the information can contain insufficient details to the context of the research study (Yin, 2016), so attaining the correct documents to review is crucial the study.

Once the participants agreed to the study, each person received a copy of the signed consent form; I answered questions containing to the interview process and explained their right to withdraw from the interview anytime without penalties. Grant et al. asserted when a participant agrees to participate in a research study it is highly recommended that the researcher discusses with the participant their right to withdraw from the study at any point and time without any retaliation or penalties. As suggested by Berete (2011), I asked the participants for permission before recording the interview. In accordance with recommended research practices:

- I asked for permission to audio record the interview and explained its necessity to transcribe their responses accurately
- 2. The notebook contained written notes with the date and time of the interview, and any follow-up questions, and
- 3. I introduced the participant to codes used in the study ensures their identity is safe and the reliability of the study (Yin, 2016).

The semistructured interview started with question 1 through 8 followed by additional probing questioning. After each interview, I transcribed participant responses and used member checking to ensure accurate information was obtained. A researcher should allow the participants to review their transcribed responses for any inconsistencies in data collected (Al-Kadri et al, 2013). Following all steps and procedures to obtain data collection and the use of member checking in this research study enhanced the reliability and validity of the data that enhanced the trustworthiness of the study. Member checking is useful to confirm the credibility of the results (Carter et al., 2014; Thomas, 2017). The participants had a final chance to review the results.

Data Organization Technique

The way a researcher collects, documents, and organizes the data is crucial in a qualitative case study (Yin, 2014). I used the QuickTime™ Player audio recorder located on my laptop for each interview session. Prior to each interview session, I tested the QuickTime recorder to ensure it works properly. The use of a pen and a small notebook to record the day, time, and coded location of the interview. Note taking is a valuable tool for documenting notes in interviewing (Murthy, 2013; Yin, 2016). I ensured the data was not altered, lost, or misplaced by organizing, and storing data on a device that is password protected (Saldana, 2013; Yin, 2014). The recorded interviews were labeled and stored for later transcribing to a Microsoft Word document. Taylor and Land (2014) noted that when a researcher conducts interviews it is important to label, store, organize, and use codes for easy analyzing data. The data collection technique consisted of semistructured, face-to-face interviews with open-ended questions. I also viewed each departmental

attendance policy, retention and, turnover documents, and created a folder in Microsoft Word called "organization and participant info" that housed the transcribed interviews. Researchers assigning a genetic code for participants will ensure the protection of human subject (Johnson, 2015). The data information folder contained five subfolders labeled with the identity-protected codes for each participant, organization and documents viewed as P1; P2, P3; P4; and P5. Having identity protection codes ensured that the participants and organizations used in this study were kept confidential. Identity codes will ensure the confidentiality and the anonymity of the participants in a qualitative study (Gibson, Benson, & Brand, 2013).

To ensure collected data is not lost, I stored data on a password-protected USB drive and hard drive on my computer located in my home, which I am the only person with access. Raw data such as documents were stored in a security safe within my home. As noted by Wolf et al. (2015) any information used in a research study about participants should be destroyed after the initial intent. All information will be stored for 5 years. After 5 years, all collected data from organizations and participants will be destroyed because of the universal best practice for research. I am the only person who will have access to any information involving the organizations and participants of the study.

Data Analysis

The purpose of this qualitative multiple-case study was to explore strategies that managers in the health care industry used to reduce EVS employee turnover. I created interview questions that facilitated themes and patterns answering the central research

question. In a qualitative research study, methodological triangulation is used to gain rich and thick data from multiple sources (Carter et al., 2014; Wilson, 2014). I used methodological triangulation to gain rich and thick data, from the interviews, notes, and departmental documents (e.g. attendance policy, retention, and turnover). Asking interview questions enabled me to understand the participants' insights on EVS turnover better. Carter et al. (2014) and Wilson (2014) noted the usefulness of methodological triangulation in collecting data about the same phenomenon using multiple methods such as interviewing and note-taking. Triangulation allowed for a comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon and increased validity through the convergence of information from various sources (Carter et al., 2014; Wilson, 2014).

After the face-to-face interviews with participants, I collected the department attendance policy along with retention and turnover documents. I carefully examined these documents and took notes for later compilation. I organized participant data by categories established in the literature review relating to retention, turnover, and leadership strategies. For turnover and retention strategies, I used the role of EVS in hospital organizations, work conditions, salary, recognition and reward, opportunities, training, voluntary turnover, involuntary turnover, and employee engagement. Other topics, I used communication, supervisor leadership style, encouragement, motivation, manager-employee relationship, coaching, and decision-making. I selected the categories according to those that emerged from the literature review, I in addition analyze data according to themes that may emerge during the interviews. If for some reason the previously selected categories did not fit, I adjusted. The themes emerged from all data

collected for this study to provide an accurate indicator of this study. These categories may provide the most insight on how to reduce EVS turnover.

Researchers have suggested a logical and sequential order for data processing (Harper & Cole, 2012; Schreier, 2014). The data process includes collecting open-ended data from participants. After each interview, I (a) transcribed information the same day for accuracy, (b) emailed participants a copy of the transcribe responses for member checking and validation of their responses, and (c) asked participants to confirm that I have accurately interpreted their responses. I uploaded the transcribed audio recordings onto my desktop computer. I used NVivo 12 Plus software because it is comprehensive in qualitative data analysis (Zamawe, 2015). Hilal and Alabri (2013) noted that NVivo 12 Plus provides ease of use and yields results that are more professional. The software assists me in organizing, analyzing, and coding transcribed interviews (Hutchison, Johnson, & Breekan, 2010; Zamawe, 2015). Researchers have asserted the necessity of the data cleaning process (Devi & Kalia, 2015; Harvey, 2001). This process helps to eliminate incorrect conclusions (Devi & Kali, 2015).

I analyzed data using Yin's (2011) five stages of data methods: (a) collected and compiled data, (b) disassembled the data, (c) reassembled data, (d) interpreted data, and (e) concluded the data. I imported the textual transcript into NVivo 12 Plus from Microsoft Word. After completing this process, I compiled the data by organizing it into categories. Next, I disassembled the compiled data by breaking it into smaller pieces. My next step involved reassembling the data into different groups until themes emerged to satisfaction (Sharon, 2013; Yin, 2011). I interpreted the reassemble data and described its

meaning in my own words (Sharon, 2013; Yin, 2011, 2014). Finally, I concluded the data. Concluding the data relates to the interpretation of data and bring unity to the entirety of the study (Yin, 2011).

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Reliability ensures dependable research and the consistency and accuracy of the findings that engender similar results (Ali & Yusof, 2014; Yin, 2014). Dependability is an element that increases the confidence of the qualitative findings (Munn, Porritt, Lockwood, Aromataris, & Pearson, 2014). To ensure dependability, I used comprehensive documentation of the process for data collection. Loh (2013) recommended using more than one source to collect data such as semistructured interviews and document analysis. I used an interview protocol with the precise openended questions using a semistructured technique for each participant, allowing the same amount of time for response (see Appendix A). As noted by (Alshengeeti, 2014) an interview protocol strengthens the dependability of the data collection. The use of the interview protocol allows the researcher to gain a more in-depth understanding of additional information relative to the study at hand (Castillo-Montoya, 2016).

Castillo-Montoya (2016) also recommended asking four types of questions that can preserve the conversation and inquiry goals of the research: (a) introductory questions, (b) transition questions, (c) key questions, and (d) closing questions. Asking these questions, the interviewer tends to solicit the most valuable information from participants. In addition to asking interview questions, document analysis, and an audio

recording device was used to ensure accurate data collection, which creates dependability. The view of departmental documents provided background information and together facts.

The concept of dependability aligns with reliability (Munn et al., 2014; Harvey, 2015). Dependability refers to the stability of the data (Bengtsson, 2016). The researcher establishes dependability by maintaining an accurate and consistent recording of the research and decision-making. Member checking is a form of dependability that is a quality control process, which qualitative researchers used to validate interview data (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Member checking permits each participant to read his or her transcribed responses to ensure these have been recorded and therefore credible.

Validity

Azham and Hamidah (2011) stated that validity ensures that researchers have captured what they planned to study and truthfully recorded what they have seen or heard. Kihn and Ihantola also, noticed that validity alludes to the degree to which the conclusions drawn in research give an accurate description or explanation of what happened. Validity reflects trustworthiness of the data (Boesch, Schwaninger, Weber & Schotz, 2013; Yin, 2014).

Researchers consider credibility, transferability, and confirmability as trustworthiness criteria that ensure the rigor of qualitative studies (Anney, 2014).

Researchers are known to established credibility when the results of data collected from participants are believable (Marshall & Rossman, 2014). I used member checking of the interview data and triangulation through the use of interviews and document analysis to

achieved creditability. Also, Yin suggested that member checking of participants' transcribed responses ensures credibility and mitigate bias. Each participant had a chance to view his or her interpreted responses to ensure trustworthiness.

Transferability refers to the degree to which the findings from the study can be transferred to other settings or groups, allowing the reader to identify with the finding based on their knowledge (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). I used an interview protocol (see Appendix B) and provided a comprehensive description of the context topic of this study that ensures transferability of the study's findings.

Confirmability researchers focus on the authentic and accuracy of the data collected and the findings from a qualitative study are verifiable by other researchers (Houghton et al., 2013; Marshall and Rossman, 2016). Researchers achieve confirmability when other scholars confirm or corroborate the research results and enable scholars to contribute to the study (Nilsson et al., 2016). To ensure confirmability Fusch and Ness (2015) noted that member checking is useful in validating a qualitative case study. I employed member checking to validate the interview data where each participant had the chance to view and validate my interpretation of their interview responses.

Achieving data saturation is not about the number of interviews but about attaining in-depth data to reach data saturation, which is an essential part of improving validity in a qualitative study (Yin, 2015). Moreover, the researcher should select and interview a sample size of participants to reach data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I interviewed five participants that were familiar with the topic for better elaborating on employee turnover in the EVS department. To confirm data saturation was met, the

researcher must continue to interview the participants until no new data is obtained (Onwuegbuzie & Leech, 2007). To confirm data saturation, I utilized data triangulation by asking probing interview questions to EVS managers until no new data emerged, and no further coding was feasible and viewed departmental documents, and asked follow-up questions.

Transition and Summary

In Section 2, I provided a more in-depth analysis entailed of the purpose statement, a description of the participants, the research method and the research design. I provided a description of the population and sampling method, ethical research, data collection instruments, data collection techniques, data organization techniques, and data analysis techniques. Section 2 concluded with a discussion regarding reliability and validity. Section 3 begins with an introduction and will entail (a) presentation of the findings, (b) applications to professional practices, (c) implications for social change, (d) the recommendation for action, (e) the recommendations for further research, and (f) researcher reflection and the conclusion.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

My purpose in this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies that some hospital managers use to reduce EVS employee turnover. I conducted semistructured interviews with five EVS hospital managers from the Piedmont Triad and Research Triangle Park of North Carolina. The interviews occurred in a private, relaxing and quiet setting where the interviewees provide informative answers to the semistructured interview questions. I took notes collected from participant interviews and reviewed hospital and departmental documents (e.g., documents related to attendance policies and retention and turnover). I reached data saturation when no new data emerged from interviews, notes, or documents review.

The participants answered eight open-ended questions (see Appendix A) to identify the strategies that they use to retain EVS employees and increase productivity. After audio-recording and thoroughly transcribing the interviews, and reviewing data from department documents and my notes, I allowed each participant to review and validate my interpretation of their interview responses. The corrected and revised transcripts of the interviews analyzed and coded into themes using NVivo 12 plus for Microsoft.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question of this study was: What strategies do hospital managers use to reduce EVS employee turnover? The conceptual framework for this doctoral study was TLT.

Data obtained from multiple sites and all data collected from participants, hospitals and departmental documents were confidential throughout Section 3. In this study five hospital managers identified as Participant (P1), Participant (P2), Participant (P3), Participant (P4), and Participant (P5). Documents consisted of the hospital and departmental attendance policy, retention, and turnover. Evidence from the literature review coincided with the themes that emerged from the data collection. Following is a discussion of the findings that identify with the emerging strategies and conceptual framework of Burns's TLT. The four themes that emerged through my analysis of the data: (a) communication, (b) leadership, (c) training and development, and (d) reward and recognition.

Table 1
Summary of Themes for Strategies to Retain EVS Employee

	Theme	%
Theme 1	Communication	27
Theme 2	Leadership Style	26
Theme 3	Training and Development	25
Theme 4	Reward and Recognition	22

Keys Words

After reviewing participants responses, departmental documents, and notes, I created a list of keywords (*see Table 2*) and their frequency. The word *leadership* occurred the most and participants used it in their explanation of recruiting the right person for the job. All the participants referred to the word *employees* approximately 117 times during the interview. Also, *EVS* (110) was another popular word used during the interview process. Another word used during the interview and document review

turnover used 81 times. Other words used frequently in the interviews were *retention*, *strategies*, *training*, *communication*, *feedback*, and *expectation*.

Transformational leadership and training and development phrases used 67 times during participants interview. Other key phrases used during the interview were reward and cognition and job satisfaction. Participants used the following when describing strategies used to retain employees.

Table 2

Keyword Frequency: Top 14 Keywords and Phrases

Keyword/phrases	Frequency
Leadership	120
Employees	117
EVS	110
Turnover	81
Transformational leadersl	nip 67
Training and developmen	t 67
Retention	66
Strategies	63
Reward and recognition	60
Training	54
Job satisfaction	54
Communication	50
Feedback	27
Expectation	25

Emerging Theme 1: Effective Communication

The first theme that emerged from the analysis of participant's responses was *effective communication* as an important strategy that helps improve EVS employee's retention. The participant's response showed that managers use effective communication, feedback, and expectations as a crucial element for retention. P1 stated,

I believe one of the essential elements of retaining employees is to communicate in a clear and concise manner and allow the employee to share their feedback.

When an employee understands his or her responsibilities and expectations it allows the employee to perform their job at a satisfying level. Without communicating clearly to employees, managers are unable to get assignments completed in a timely manner.

Northhouse (2015) noted that transformational leaders clearly communicate expectations to the employee in a clear manner so that employees can see how their work is meaningful. P2 discussed having an environment where employees are free to share feedback about their job with someone who values their ideas. P2 also noted that keeping the lines of communication open is a vital part of employee retention strategy used to retain employees. P2 stated,

My employees can come to me with questions, concerns, or just to share their ideas. I feel keeping the lines of communication open, employees can contribute to the department and it enables the employees and employer to connect and have a better working relationship.

P4 stated,

Effective communication starts when an employee is first hired, and it is important to communicate a clear vision and employee expectations. Stress the purpose of their job and the importance they bring to the big picture of the organization.

P5 discussed that having consistency in communication is the blueprint to employee understanding their expectation. Since EVS is frontline employees they do not always have time to read their emails and some are not computer savvy and have a hard time getting the information. It is up to the management team to ensure each employee is knowledgeable about what is going on in the department and organization.

All participants talked about how daily huddles as a forum for sharing departmental and hospital information, sector meetings, which allows the employee to share their views on other issues. Cloutier et al. (2015) noted that communicate in a way where people can understand this will allow for employee engagement. When employees are engaged, they tend to stay on the job because they feel they are a part of the organization. When a leader fails to communicate in a clear voice it could lead to an unhealthy work culture (Mandhanya, 2015). Another important point P1 and P2 shared in the communication process, always be willing to listen to feedback from employees. In comparison to P1 and P2, P3 stated, "I listen to my employees, I observe and seek to understand what they are doing by asking pertinent questions. I use this information to retain my employees. I want to hear what employees need and want, I take this information and use as a retention strategy."

Emerging Theme 2: Leadership

The second theme that derived from data analysis was *leadership*. The second theme emerges from the strategies and conceptual framework of Burns's TLT. P1, P2, and P4 had similar comments noting that, to sustain a better working environment EVS managers must hire the right person for the job. Hiring the correct person who has the

skills to manage other people is a strategy to combat employee turnover. P1 discussed having the correct person in place who comprehends what the EVS employees endure on a day-to-day basis adds to the comfort of the employee knowing someone cares and understands what they go through. P1 believes that a manager needs to be personable and qualified to lead a team because bad or poor management makes it difficult for an employee to work. P2 noted that hiring the wrong person to lead a team could be a disaster to the department and aids to the loss of good employees. P3 and P5 discussed a manager should want an employee to achieve their day to day task. P3 noted a leadership is all about inspiring people to do their best, motivating people to do more each day. P4 stated.

A leader must give everyone the opportunity to shine in their own strengths and develop in areas for growth. A leader must have the courage to let the best shine and look for opportunities for increased levels of responsibility for them to pursue.

P5 discussed when a manager leads by example showing employees that the leader is committed to the job and creating an environment of trust that most employees will follower and improve their productivity. P5 also stated,

Effective leadership comes from remembering the human aspect. In order to lead by example, or apply the fair and consistent treatment, you must be willing to listen to staff. You must keep an unbiased, open mind and really listen to what they have to say.

P3 noted transformational leadership was founded to be the most rewarding to employees because employees are influenced and empowered to do the right things and creating ways for employees to reach their goals. Being a transformational leader allows the manager to attend to employee's needs. Kamal and Kamal (2014) stated that listening and learning what is valuable to the employee and communicating appreciation allows the employee to focus more on the job.

Emerging Theme 3: Training and Development

The third theme that emerged from the analysis of participant's responses and departmental documents was training and development. P1 and P2 noted training program starts with an orientation class and continues throughout the employee employment at the hospital. P2 added that the EVS department has a training development mentoring program in place in which each employee attends. Each must go through a 40 hours training program that is intense and hands on. Employees must be able to demonstrate their knowledge of learning at the end of the program. P3's response confirmed what P1 and P2 noted; EVS employees in a training and developmental mentoring program gives the employee a chance to develop, be productive, and helps enables the manager to retain valuable employees. Also, there is a team leader program that provides team leaders opportunities to mentor and coach, while allowing team leaders to develop supervisory skills. P4 and P5 also noted that EVS employee training and development start at the beginning of employment, continuing throughout the employee's tenure. Employees must attend all training sessions that place emphasis on their health care training and development.

Documentation from each participants' organization indicated training and development programs are in place to help employees engage and grow within the business. Coloquhoun et al. (2016) noted that training and development programs should be relevant to the job that increases the best practice for job responsibilities and productivity. Mamun and Hasan (2017) denoted a similar finding that implementing training and development programs that help to grow and advance employees within the organization reduces turnover. The employee gains experience and a high level of job satisfaction. When an employee has job knowledge of their responsibilities it can ensure organizational commitment and influence retention.

Emerging Theme 4: Employee Engagement and Productivity

The final theme that emerged from the participant responses was *employee engagement and productivity*. Managers focus on strategies that are nurturing to employees such as job satisfaction, employee engagement, and employee productivity. Fostering a culture of employee reward and recognition translates to higher employee productivity. Engaged employees tend to have a high level of job satisfaction when rewarded for a job well done and distinctly influence employee performance behavior, and ultimately impact the organization success (Alagaraja & Shuck, 2015). Since employees thrive on feedback, having a one on one conversation with employees is a phenomenal way to get employees engaged. One on one conversations allows the manager and employee to connect, and discuss the employee's expectations and productivity (Saks & Gruman, 2014).

In reviewing participants departmental documents there are several rewards programs employee can be engaged in and receive rewards. Employee handbooks from participants P1, P2, and P3 showed the organization has implemented several rewards and recognition programs to help motivate employees to engage more in their work. The reward and recognition programs include various incentives such as a managers tool kit that have various items like gift cards, shout outs, and thank you cards. The employee is also rewarded with accrued paid time off, years of service reward and recognition.

Another incentive for employees is education reimbursement, which may provide up to 50 percent of their paid tuition. The employee also has the opportunity to be an employee of the month, which may include getting to park in a special more convenient area.

Participant P1 noted that to keep employees happy and engaged leaders must continue to find ways to involve employees to help motivate and improve their performance. P2 stated,

management must communicate with employees on how important they are and their work is to the organization, and how the employee can contribute to the business success.

P3 stated.

must be willing to talk and listen to their employees to see what motivated them because reward and recognition are very important in the retention of employees keeping in mind that most employees want recognition when they are doing a good job.

P4 and P5 hospital organizations reward and recognition programs consist of accruing paid time off, and if more than 280 hours PTO is accrued they will roll over into a long term sick leave bank. Employees who report to work and accumulate 88 hours or more PTO time, can sell back their time per quarter. Another reward program is the annual recognition celebration and awards which is based on the length of services, and is given at 5-year intervals. Employees have the opportunity to become an employee of the month. The employee handbook also revealed the inclusion of various educational rewards.

The environmental services managers of the health care organizations I interviewed applied retention and turnover strategies to decrease turnover and retain valuable employees by using a transformational leadership style. The data revealed that managers using effective communication and employing the right leadership allowed employees to feel connected to their superiors and the organization. Managers utilizing training and development programs where employees learn new and innovative ways to do their jobs, and enhance existing employee knowledge, and skills lead to a loyal employee and a cohesive workforce. (Cloutier et al, 2015). Training and development of employees allow employees to engage in daily activities, improve morale, productivity, and enhance motivation (Karanges et al., 2015). Employees' engagement and productivity lead to a higher level of job satisfaction that contributes to the overall organization. The findings of this doctoral study align with Burns's TLT and the literature review. The study revealed retention and turnover strategies on effective

business practices that managers used to decrease turnover, retain valuable employees, and increase productivity.

Applications to Professional Practice

The consequences of losing good employees are critical to the health care industry. Maintaining a productive workforce is the essence of recruiting and retaining top talented employees. Some researchers have revealed strong evidence that unwarranted turnover is detrimental to organization performance because it slows down work productive and brings on added cost in replacing employees (Sun & Wang, 2017). Losing valuable employees brings on the loss of talented employees with the correct knowledge and experience to keep things running smooth. The emerging demand for skilled and talented employees is becoming more important in a competitive world of uncertainty. The development of new strategies and the enhancement of old strategies may significantly reduce turnover as managers strive to meet the demands of the organization. It is important to retain hospital EVS employees that work in the patient care areas because it takes a special person to work in the emergency room or ICU, for these employees are exposed to unexpected and uncomfortable settings.

Environmental Services Managers in the hospital industry used several strategies to enhance and implement employee retention strategies that are applicable to the sustainability of the health care organization. The findings from this study are relevant to sustaining and improving business practices by providing better communication tactics, allowing the employee to provide feedback, and being clear about employee job expectations. Cloutier et al., (2015) noted leaders who communicate with employees

daily, employees feel better about their job and provide better feedback without fear of retaliation and understand their job expectations. The study also revealed that employees want leadership that fits the job and leaders that share the interest of the employees. Investing in training and development programs that give the employees the opportunities to learn and improve their skills and day to day experience, give the employees a sense of belonging, an environment of trust, and relationship (Anitha, 2014). Organizations that have little to no training and developing programs tend to have poor job performance and a high degree of turnover (Al Mamun & Hasan, 2017). Organizations using training and development programs have a high ratio of accomplishment and minimize employee turnover (Andersen et al., 2017). Employees want to engage in different aspects of the job. Workers want to engage in hospital activities and decision making, which creates job engagement, job satisfaction and increase job productivity (Bedarkar & Pandita, 2014). Allowing the employee to engage stimulates workers to want to be on the job and perform their job duties to a high expectation. Managers implementing the findings from the study will improve patient safety because there would be enough staff in environmental services controlling and preventing the spread of hospital infection that may save a patient's life. The findings from this doctoral study may also contribute to strategies that lead to improving how managers make decisions that deal with employees, lower the turnover rate, improve employee productivity, and job longevity.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change include the potential for job longevity and increased retention, which contributes to the financial state of the organization

stability, the success of employees, the communities, and families. Managers realized that turnover in a hospital organization is inevitable; where there are opportunities for job improvements, some people will leave their job to seek employment elsewhere. Ensuring that an employee stays committed, the hospital organization rewards employees for a job well done. Every employee wants to feel that their work is meaningful and makes a difference. EVS employees play a vital role in patient care and provide a lifesaving task that utilizes best practices to shield patients from harm. EVS is the first line of defense and acts as an ambassador for the organization. Without EVS employees, a hospital cannot meet its full potential of serving the community.

Recommendations for Action

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that some hospital managers used to reduce EVS employee turnover. A high turnover rate delays the efficiency of products and services to customers and patients (Cloutier, 2015). The studied participants identified the importance of having open communication, allowing employees to provide feedback, and explaining employees job expectations. Participants emphasized the importance of having leadership that fits the job and show interest in the employees and their needs. Organizations need to provide opportunities for the employee to grow by implementing training and development programs and engaging employees in aspects of the business and the decision-making process that helps to improve productivity. Based on the results of this doctoral study, implementing effective strategies to retain valuable employees and increase productivity are essential to the success and wealth of the organization. Although I interviewed only EVS managers in

hospital organizations, the findings are relevant to all levels of leadership within a hospital; and leaders in various industries can benefit from the findings of this study all over the world

Leaders in the service industries should pay close attention to the results of this study and implement strategies to reduce turnover and enhance employees lives on the job because this industry has a workforce that is susceptible to very high turnover rates (St. Clair, 2014). Managers that implement retention strategies reduces turnover (Park & Shaw, 2013). Managers are struggling to come up with ways to reduce turnover and deliver quality services (Steinmetz, Vries, & Tijdens, 2014).

I will disseminate the results of the study through conferences, scholarly journals, and business journals. I will also circulate the results from this study through participants email that include a one to two pages summary of the study and leadership training classes regarding retention strategies that company leaders need to retain EVS employees. Dissemination will also include publication in ProQuest Dissertation and Theses Database for future scholars and other organizations.

Recommendations for Further Research

This study intends to identify strategies hospital EVS managers used to reduce EVS employee turnover. The findings from this study warrant additional exploration of retention strategies for EVS employees. Therefore, the manager should explore other strategies that could help retain valued employees. I also suggest that the researcher to further explore the limitation of retention and turnover strategies from the views of the EVS employees and not only those in a leadership role. One of the limitations noted from

this study was the participant's knowledge of the strategies used by the department to reduce employee turnover limited the purposeful sample selection. The second limitation was the honesty and thoroughness of the participants' responses to the interview questions because the responses were self-reported information and could contain biases, selective memory, telescoping, and attribution (Connelly, 2013; Stocia, 2015). Further recommendations for future research are to expand the population to supervisor and EVS employees in a larger geographic location and focus on strategies that could strengthen the supervisor-employee relationship.

Reflections

My aspiration for this doctoral degree started long ago as a dream, and now that dream has turned into reality. The doctoral program was a challenging yet rewarding experience. I faced many challenges and setbacks, often left feeling frustrated, discouraged, and overwhelmed but was told many times by a colleague quitting is not an option, so I kept pressing on. The support and prayers from a good friend helped me to focus and stay on task. I was able to collaborate on various topics that expanded my learning comprehension and enhanced my abilities as a researcher. Learning to use a scholarly voice took time to acquire, however, I am a better writer today. I found joining a group of scholarly writers to hash out a solution to problems or just expound on a word of encouragement kept me focused and true to my dream. The support I received from family and friends was impeccable. As this wonderful journey come to an end, I will always be grateful. I will never forget the engaging learning experiences and development I received from Walden faculty.

The finding from this study affected me personally because I have focused my past research on EVS leadership, and I wanted to see what other managers thought and perceived about their employees. Using a transformational leadership style, I have always been able to build a strong team and retain employees and minimize turnover. One thing I learned is that employees are the greatest asset within an organization and treating employees well and letting them know that they are valuable to the organization increases productivity. Observing other managers in this field who were not supportive of their employees revealed the risk of losing many valuable employees. I eliminated personal bias by self-reflecting, I had to step back from my behavior, and preconceived notions about turnover, and focus objectively on the information I collected through participant interviews. Also, not knowing the participant personally and using an interview protocol made the process more objective to focus on the research and maintain honesty.

The participants in this doctoral study were knowledgeable about the strategies used by EVS departments to retain EVS employees emphasizing the importance of communicating, and sharing knowledge with the employees, allowing for feedback, importance of explaining job expectations, having a person in leadership that fits the job, creating training and development programs for employees to learn and advance to the next level, and allowing the employees to engage in their job to increase productivity. This information can provide a blueprint to gaining a competitive advantage in my new role as a manager in a different hospital and my future business endeavors as a business owner.

Summary and Study Conclusion

For an organization to have a competitive advantage, leaders must place retention and turnover strategies at the forefront of their business to survive. Some researchers noted employee turnover in hospitals increases employee recruitment and training costs, which can be 200% of an employee's salary, thereby impacting the profitability of hospitals, and increasing patients' health care costs (Call et al., 2015), can be disruptive to the operation which affects the organization's overall success. EVS employees are valuable and indispensable to a hospital organization. These employees merit respect and gratitude from others who work within their environment.

The conceptual framework for this doctoral study provides a platform between the strategy's managers espoused on implementing for reducing turnover. Transformational leadership is about leaders achieving a high level of performance from their subordinates (Moynihan, Pandey, & Wright, 2015). Leaders must learn to inspire workers to have more interest in their job and motivate employees to accomplish more than anticipated that brings about positive change. To bring about positive change and reduce turnover, the participants in this study provided four key determinants of effective leadership strategies that reduced turnover: (a) communication, (b) leadership, (c) training and development, and (d) employee engagement and productivity. Applying effective retention strategies starts with the findings of what employees need, feel, and want as the basis for developing a strategic plan to achieve.

References

- Abbott, L., & Grady, C. (2011). A systematic review of the empirical literature evaluating IRBs: What we know and what we still need to learn. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, 6(1), 3–19. doi:10.1525/jer.2011.6.1.3
- Abu Elanain, H. M. (2014). Leader-member exchange and intent to turnover: Testing a mediated-effects model in a high turnover work environment. *Management Research Review*, *37*, 110–129. doi:10.1108/MRR-09-2012-0197
- Abu-Tineh, A. M., Khasawneh, S. A., & Al-Omari, A. A. (2008). Kouzes and Posner's transformational leadership model in practice: The case of jordanian schools.

 Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 29, 648–660.

 doi:10.1108/01437730810916613
- Adams, K. M., Hester, P. T., Bradley, J. M., Meyers, T. J., & Keating, C. B. (2014).

 Systems theory as the foundation for understanding systems. *Systems Engineering*, *17*, 112–123. doi:10.1002/sys.21255
- Afsar, B., F. Badir, Y., & Bin Saeed, B. (2014). Transformational leadership and innovative work behavior. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 114, 1270–1300. doi:10.1108/imds-05-2014-0152
- Ahmad, A., & Rainyee, R. A. (2014). Which is the better predictor of employee turnover intentions: Job satisfaction or organizational commitment? A literature review.

 *International Journal of Information, Business and Management, 6(1), 74–81.

 *Retrieved from https://ijibm.elitehall.com/

- Ahmad, F., Abbas, T., Latif, S., & Rasheed, A. (2014). Impact of transformational leadership on employee motivation in telecommunication sector. *Journal of Management Policies and Practices*, 2(2), 11–25. doi:10.15640/jmpp
- Akhavan, P., & Dehghani, M. (2015). Knowledge acquisition techniques selection: A comparative study. *IUP Journal of Knowledge Management, 13*, 17–30.

 Retrieved from http://www.iupindia.in
- Al Mamun, C. A., & Hasan, M. N. (2017). Factors affecting employee turnover and sound retention strategies in the business organization: A conceptual view.

 *Problems and Perspectives in Management, 15(1), 63–71.

 doi:10.21511/ppm.15(1).2017.06
- Alagaraja, M., & Shuck, B. (2015). Exploring organizational alignment: Employee engagement linkages and impact on individual performance: A conceptual model.

 Human Resource Development Review, 14, 17–37.

 doi:10.1177/1534484314549455
- Alex, J., & George A., P. (2014). The effects of workplace dimensions on job satisfaction and organizational commitment. *Journal of Organization & Human Behaviour*, 3(2/3), 63–72. Retrieved from http://www.publishingindia.com/johb/
- Alexander, J. F. (2016). *Mitigating the effects of withdrawal behavior on organizations* (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10119505).
- Ali, A. M., & Yusof, H. (2011). Quality in qualitative studies: The case of validity, reliability and generalizability. *Issues in Social and Environmental Accounting*,

- 5(1/2), 25–64. Retrieved from http://isea.icseard.uns.ac.id
- Al-Kadri, H., Al-Kadi, M., & Van Der Vleuten, C. (2013). Workplace-based assessment and students' approaches to learning: A qualitative inquiry. *Medical Teacher*, *35*, S31–S38. doi:10.3109/0142159X.2013.765547
- Amankwaa, A., & Anku-Tsede, O. (2015). Linking transformational leadership to employee turnover: The moderating role of alternative job opportunity.

 *International Journal of Business Administration, 6(4), 19–29. doi:10.5430/ijba. v6n4p19
- Andersen, J. A. (2015). Barking up the wrong tree. On the fallacies of the transformational leadership theory. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, *36*, 765–777. doi:10.1108/lodj-12-2013-0168
- Andersen, L. B., Bjørnholt, B., Bro, L. L., & Holm-Petersen, C. (2017). Achieving high quality through transformational leadership: A qualitative multilevel analysis of transformational leadership and perceived professional quality. *Public Personnel Management*, 47(1), 51–72. doi:10.1177/0091026017747270
- Anitha, J. (2014). Determinants of employee engagement and their impact on employee performance. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance*Management, 63, 308–323. doi:10.1108/IJPPM-01-2013-0008
- Anney, V. (2014). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research: Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies*, 5, 27–281. Retrieved from http://jeteraps.scholarlinkresearch.com
- Anvari, R., JianFu, Z., & Chermahini, S. H. (2014). Effective strategy for solving

- voluntary turnover problems among employees. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 129*, 186–190. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.03.665
- Anyan, F. (2013). The influence of power shifts in data collection and analysis stages: A focus on qualitative research interview. *The Qualitative Report, 18*(18), 1–9.

 Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/sss/QR/index.html
- Aruna, M., & Anitha, J. (2015). Employee retention enablers: Generation Y employees. SCMS Journal of Indian Management, 12(3), 94–103. Retrieved from www. http://scmsgroup.org/
- Ashmore, J., & Gilson, L. (2015). Conceptualizing the impacts of dual practice on the retention of public sector specialists: Evidence from South Africa. *Human Resources for Health*, *13*(1), 1–9. doi:10.1186/1478-4491-13-3
- Aslam, U., Muqadas, F., Imran, M. K., & Rahman, U. U. (2018). Investigating the antecedents of work disengagement in the workplace. *Journal of Management Development*, *37*, 149–164. doi:10.1108/jmd-06-2017-0210
- Asrar-ul-Haq, M., & Kuchinke, K. P. (2016). Impact of leadership styles on employees' attitude towards their leader and performance: Empirical evidence from Pakistani banks. *Future Business Journal*, *2*(1), 54–64. doi:10.1016/j.fbj.2016.05.002
- Augenstein, K., & Palzkill, A. (2015). The dilemma of incumbents in sustainability transitions: A narrative approach. *Administrative Sciences*, 6(1), 1–23. doi:10.3390/admsci6010001
- Auh, S., Menguc, B., Spyropoulou, S., & Wang, F. (2016). Service employee burnout and engagement: The moderating role of power distance orientation. *Journal of*

- the Academy of Marketing Science, 44, 726–745. doi:10.1007/s11747-015-0463-4
- Avolio, B. J., Bass, B. M., & Jung, D. I. (1999). Re-examining the components of transformational and transactional leadership using the multifactor leadership. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 72, 441–462. doi:10.1348/096317999166789
- Awan, A. G. (2015). Cost of high employee turnover rate in oil refinery industry of Pakistan. *Information and Knowledge Management*, *5*(2), 92–102. Retrieved from http://iiste.org/Journals/index.php/IKM
- Azham, A., & Hamidah, Y. (2011). Quality in qualitative studies: The case of validity, reliability, and generalizability. *Issues in Social & Environmental Accounting*, 5(1/2), 25–64. Retrieved from http://isea.icseard.uns.ac.id
- Babalola, M. T., Stouten, J., & Euwema, M. (2016). Frequent change and turnover intention: The moderating role of ethical leadership. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 134, 311–322. doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2433-z
- Bacha, E. (2014). The relationship between transformational leadership, task performance and job characteristics. *Journal of Management Development*, *33*, 410–420. doi:10.1108/jmd-02-2013-0025
- Bacha, E., & Walker, S. (2013). The relationship between transformational leadership and followers' perceptions of fairness. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *116*, 667–680. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1507-z
- Balakrishnan, L., & M. V. (2014). A study on retention strategies followed by education institutions in retaining qualified employees. *SIES Journal of Management*, 10(1),

- 69–80. Retrieved from
- http://www.siescoms.edu/journals/siescoms_journal.htmlBarnes, C. M., Lucianetti, L., Bhave, D. P., & Christian, M. S. (2015). "You wouldn't like me when I'm sleepy": Leaders' sleep, daily abusive supervision, and work unit engagement. *Academy of Management Journal*, *58*, 1419–1437. doi: 10.5465/amj.2013.1063
- Bartlett, C. A., & Ghoshal, S. (2002). Building competitive advantage through people. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, *43*, 34–41. Retrieved from http://http://web.mit.edu/smr
- Bass, B. M. (1985). *Leadership and Performance Beyond Expectation*. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Bass, B. M. (1997). Does the transactional–transformational leadership paradigm transcend organizational and national boundaries? *American Psychologist*, *52*(2), 130–139. doi:10.1037/0003-066x.52.2.130
- Bass, B. M. (1998). The ethics of transformational leadership. *Ethics, the Heart of Leadership*, (pp. 169–192. Retrieved from http://www.journals.uchicago.edu/loi/et
- Bass, B. M. (1999). Two decades of research and development in transformational leadership. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 8, 9–32. doi:10.1080/135943299398410
- Bass, B. M., & Riggio, R. E. (2006). *Transformational leadership* (2nd ed.). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers Mahwah, NJ: Psychology Press.

- Bayram, H., & Dinc, S. (2015). Role of transformational leadership on employee's job satisfaction: The case of private universities in Bosnia and Herzegovina.

 European Researcher Series A, 93, 270–281. doi:13187/er.2015.93.270
- Bebe, I. A. (2016). *Employee turnover intention in the U.S. fast food industry* (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10016173).
- Bedarkar, M., & Pandita, D. (2014). A study on the drivers of employee engagement impacting employee performance. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *133*, 106–115. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.04.174
- Bektas, M., & Erkal, P. (2015). Toxicity behaviors in organizations: Study of reliability and validity of toxic emotional experience scale. *Research Journal of Business and Management*, 2, 519–529. doi: 10.17261/Pressacademia.2015414060
- Belias, D., & Koustelios, A. (2014). Transformational leadership and job satisfaction in the banking sector: A review. *International Review of Management and Marketing*, 4, 187–200. Retrieved from http://www.econjournals.com/index.php/irmm
- Bengtsson, M. (2016). How to plan and perform a qualitative study using content analysis. *NursingPlus Open, 2,* 8–14. doi:10.1016/j.npls.2016.01.001
- Berete, M. (2011). *Relationship between corporate social responsibility and financial performance in the pharmaceutical industry* (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3457470)

- Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, *15*, 219–234. doi.10.1177/1468794112468475
- Bhuvanaiah, T., & Raya, R. P. (2014). Employee engagement: Key to organizational success. *SCMS Journal of Indian Management*, 11(4), 61–71. Retrieved from http://www.scmsgroup.org/
- Birasnav, M. (2014). Knowledge management and organizational performance in the service industry: The role of transformational leadership beyond the effects of transactional leadership. *Journal of Business Research*, *67*, 1622–1629. doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2013.09.006
- Blanken, R. (2013, January). 8 common leadership styles. Associations Now. Retrieved from https://www.asaecenter.org/resources/associations-now
- Bloomberg, L. D., & Volpe, M. (2012). *Completing your Qualitative Dissertation: A Road Map from Beginning to end* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Boblin, S. L., Ireland, S., Kirkpatrick, H., & Robertson, K. (2013). Using Stake's qualitative case study approach to explore implementation of evidence-based practice. *Qualitative Health Research*, *23*, 1267–1275. doi:10.1177/1049732313502128
- Boesch, I., Schwaninger, M., Weber, M., & Scholz, R. (2013). Enhancing validity and reliability through feedback-driven exploration: A study in the context of conjoint analysis. *Systemic Practice & Action Research*, *26*, 217–238. doi:10.1007/s11213-012-9248-6

- Boies, K., Fiset, J., & Gill, H. (2015). Communication and trust are key: Unlocking the relationship between leadership and team performance and creativity. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 26, 1080–1094. doi:10.1016/j.leagua.2015.07.007
- Bonner, J., Greenbaum, R., & Mayer, D. (2016). My boss is morally disengaged: The role of ethical leadership in explaining the interactive effect of supervisor and employee moral disengagement on employee behaviors. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *137*, 731–742. doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2366-6
- Bottomley, K., Burgess, S., & Fox III, M. (2014). Are the behaviors of transformational leaders impacting organizations? A study of transformational leadership.

 *International Management Review, 10(1), 5–9. Retrieved from http://www.usimr.org
- Boyce, J. M. (2016). Modern technologies for improving cleaning and disinfection of environmental surfaces in hospitals. *Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control*, 5, 10. doi:10.1186/s13756-016-0111-x
- Breevaart, K., Bakker, A., Hetland, J., Demerouti, E., Olsen, O. K., & Espevik, R. (2014). Daily transactional and transformational leadership and daily employee engagement. *Journal of occupational and organizational psychology*, 87(1), 138–157. doi:10.1111/joop.12041
- Bryant, P. C., & Allen, D. G. (2013). Compensation, benefits and employee turnover: HR strategies for retaining top talent. *Compensation and Benefits Review*, 45, 171–175. doi:10.1177/0886368713494342

- Buch, R., Martinsen, Ø. L., & Kuvaas, B. (2015). The destructiveness of laissez-faire leadership behavior: The mediating role of economic leader–member exchange relationships. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 22, 115–124. doi:10.1177/1548051813515302
- Buky Folami, L. Asare, K., Kwesiga, E., & Bline, D. (2014). The impact of job satisfaction and organizational context variables on organizational commitment.

 *International Journal of Business & Public Administration, 11(1), 1–18.

 Retrieved from http://www.iabpad.com/home
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. New York, NY: Harper
- Caillier, J. G. (2014). Toward a better understanding of the relationship between transformational leadership, public service motivation, mission valence, and employee performance: A preliminary study. *Public Personnel Management, 4*, 218-239. doi:10.1177/0091026014528478
- Call, M. L., Nyberg, A. J., Ployhart, R. E., & Weekley, J. (2015). The dynamic nature of collective turnover and unit performance: The impact of time, quality, and replacements. *Academy of Management Journal*, 58, 1208–1232. doi:10.5465/amj.2013.0669
- Cameron, R. (2011). Mixed methods research: The five Ps framework. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 9, 96–108. Retrieved from http://www.ejbrm.com
- Campbell, D. T., & Fiske, D. W. (1959). Convergent and discriminant validation by the multitrait-multimethod matrix. *Psychological Bulletin*, 56 (2) 81–105. Retrieved

- from http://www.apa.org/pubs/journals/bul/
- Carlson, J. A. (2010). Avoiding traps in member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 5, 1102–1113. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tgr/
- Carmeli, A., Sheaffer, Z., Binyamin, G., Reiter□Palmon, R., & Shimoni, T. (2014).

 Transformational leadership and creative problem□solving: The mediating role of psychological safety and reflexivity. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, 48(2), 115–135. doi.10.1002/jocb.43
- Carpenter, N. C., & Berry, C. M. (2014). Are counterproductive work behavior and withdrawal empirically distinct? A meta-analytic investigation. *Journal of Management*, 43, 834-863. doi:10.1177/0149206314544743
- Carraher, S. M. (2011). Turnover prediction using attitudes towards benefits, pay, and pay satisfaction among employees and entrepreneurs in Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania. *Baltic Journal of Management*, *6*, 25–52. doi:10.1108/17465261111100905
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology nursing forum*, 41, 545–547. doi:10.1188/14. onf545–547
- Cassidy, J., Sherman, L., & Jones, J. (2012). What's in a word? Linguistic characteristics of adult attachment interviews. *Attachment & Human Development*, *14*, 11–32. doi:10.1080/14616734.2012.636649

- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report, 21*, 811–831. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Caws, P. (2015). General systems theory: Its past and potential. *Systems Research and Behavioral Science*, *32*, 514–521. doi:10.1002/sres.2353
- Cetin, M. O., & Kinik, F. S. F. (2015). An analysis of academic leadership behavior from the perspective of transformational leadership. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 207, 519–527. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.10.122
- Chandani, A., Mehta, M., Mall, A., & Khokhar, V. (2016). Employee engagement: A review paper on factors affecting employee engagement. *Indian Journal of Science and Technology*, *9*(15), 1–7. doi:10.17485/ijst/2016/v9i15/92145
- Chaudhary, R., Rangnekar, S., & Barua, M. K. (2013). Engaged versus disengaged: The role of occupational self-efficacy. *Asian Academy of Management Journal*, *18*(1), 91–108. Retrieved from http://www.usm.my/aamj/
- Cheang, H. S., & Appelbaum, S. H. (2015). Corporate psychopathy: Deviant workplace behaviour and toxic leaders—part one. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 47, 165–173. doi:10.1108/ICT-12-2013-0086
- Check, D. K., Wolf, L. E., Dame, L. A., & Beskow, L. M. (2014). Certificates of confidentiality and informed consent: Perspectives of IRB chairs and institutional legal counsel. *IRB*, *Ethics and Human Research*, *36*(1), 1–8. doi:10.1038/gim.2014.102
- Chen, M. (2014). The effect of training on employee retention. Proceedings from the

- 2014 International Conference on Global Economy, *Commerce and Service Science*. doi:10.2991/gecss-14.2014.90
- Chen, Y., Friedman, R., & Simons, T. (2014). The gendered trickle-down effect: How mid-level managers' satisfaction with senior managers' supervision affects line employee turnover intentions. *Career Development International*, *19*, 836–856. doi:10.1108/CDI-02-2014-0031
- Chiaburu, D. S., Smith, T. A., Wang, J., & Zimmerman, R. D. (2014). Relative importance of leader influences for subordinates' proactive behaviors, prosocial behaviors, and task performance. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, 13(2), 70–86. doi:10.1027/1866-5888/a000105.
- Choi, S. L., Goh, C. F., Adam, M. B. H., & Tan, O. K. (2016). Transformational leadership, empowerment, and job satisfaction: The mediating role of employee empowerment. *Human resources for health*, *14*(1), 73. doi:10.1186/s12960-016-0171-2
- Chou, H. W., Lin, Y. H., Chang, H. H., & Chuang, W. W. (2013). Transformational leadership and team performance. *SAGE Open*, *3*(3). 1–10. doi:10.1177/2158244013497027
- Christie, C. D., Bemister, T. B., & Dobson, K. S. (2015). Record-informing and note-taking: A continuation of the debate about their impact on client perceptions.

 *Canadian Psychology/Psychologie Canadienne, 56(1), 118–122.

 doi:10.1037/a0037860
- Chua, S. M. Y., & Murray, D. W. (2015). How toxic leaders are perceived: Gender and

- information processing. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 36, 292–307. doi:10.1108/LODJ-06-2013-0076
- Chughtai, A., Byrne, M., & Flood, B. (2014). Linking ethical leadership to employee well-being: The role of trust in supervisor. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 128, 653–663. doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2126-7
- Cloutier, O., Felusiak, L., Hill, C., & Pemberton-Jones, E. J. (2015). The importance of developing strategies for employee retention. *Journal of Leadership*,

 **Accountability and Ethics, 12(2), 119–127. Retrieved from http://www.nabusinesspress.com/jlaeopen.html
- Cohen, G., Blake, R. S., & Goodman, D. (2016). Does Turnover Intention Matter?

 Evaluating the usefulness of turnover intention rate as a predictor of actual turnover rate. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, *36*, 240–263. doi:10.1177/0734371x15581850
- Collini, S. A., Guidroz, A. M., & Perez, L. M. (2013). Turnover in health care: The mediating effects of employee engagement. *Journal Nurse Management*, 23, 169–178. doi:10.1111/jonm.12109
- Collins, S. K., McKinnies, R. C., Matthews, E. P., & Collins, K. S. (2015). A mini study of employee turnover in US hospitals. *The Health Care Manager*, *34*, 23–27. doi: 10.1097/HCM.00000000000000038
- Colquhoun, H. L., E., Lowe, D., Hill, S., Mayhew, A., & Grimshaw, J. M. (2016).

 Development of training for medicines-oriented policymakers to apply evidence.

 Health Research Policy & Systems, 14(1), 57. doi: 10.1186/s12961-016-0130-3

- Conklin, T. A. (2013). Work worth doing: A phenomenological study of the experience of discovering and following one's calling. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, *21* 298–317. doi:10.1177/1056492611414426
- Connelly, L. M. (2013). Limitation section. *Medsurg Nursing*, 22, 325–336. Retrieved from http://www.medsurgnursing.net/cgi-bin/WebObject/MSNJournal.woa
- Cooper-Thomas, H. D., Paterson, N. L., Stadler, M. J., & Saks, A. M. (2014). The relative importance of proactive behaviors and outcomes for predicting newcomer learning, well-being, and work engagement. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 84, 318–331. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2014.02.007
- Coupal, L. (2005). Practitioner-research and the regulation of research ethics: The challenge of individual, organizational, and social interests. *Qualitative Social Research*, *6*(1), 1–12. Retrieved from http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs
- Dancer, S. J. (2014). Controlling hospital-acquired infection: Focus on the role of the environment and new technologies for decontamination. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 27, 665–690. doi:10.1128/cmr.00020-14
- Darkwa, E. K., Newman, M. S., Kawkab, M., & Chowdhury, M. E. (2015). A qualitative study of factors influencing retention of doctors and nurses at rural health care facilities in Bangladesh. *BMC Health Services Research*, *15*(1), 1–12. doi:10.1186/s1293-015-1012-z
- Dartey-Baah, K. (2015). Resilient leadership: A transformational-transactional leadership mix. *Journal of Global Responsibility*, *6*, 99–112. doi: 10:1108/jgr-07-2014-0026.

- Davis, T. L. (2013). A qualitative study of the effects of employee retention on the 122 organization. *Insights to a Changing World Journal*, 2013, (pp.25–112).

 Retrieved from http://www.franklinpublishing.net/insightschangingworld.html
- Day, C., Gu, Q., & Sammons, P. (2016). The impact of leadership on student outcomes:
 How successful school leaders use transformational and instructional strategies to
 make a difference. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 52, 221–258.
 doi:10.1177/0013161x15616863
- Devi, S., & Kalia, A. (2015). Study of data cleaning & comparison of data cleaning tools.

 *International Journal of Computer Science and Mobile Computing, 3, 360–370.

 *Retrieved from http://ijcsmc.com/
- Dhar, R. L. (2015). Service quality and the training of employees: The mediating role of organizational commitment. *Tourism Management*, *46*, 419–430. doi: 10.1016/j.tourman.2014.08.001
- Diestel, S., Wegge, J., Schmidt, K.-H. (2014). The impact of social context on the relationship between individual job satisfaction and absenteeism: The roles of different foci of job satisfaction and work-unit absenteeism. *Academy of Management Journal*, *57*, 353–382. doi:10.5465/amj.2010.1087
- Dikko, M. (2016). Establishing construct validity and reliability: Pilot testing of a qualitative interview for research in Takaful (Islamic insurance). *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 521–528.http://www.nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Dill, J. S., Morgan, J. C., & Marshall, V. W. (2013). Contingency, employment intentions, and retention of vulnerable low-wage workers: An examination of

- nursing assistants in nursing homes. *The Gerontologist*, *53*, 222–234. doi: 10.1093/geront/gns085
- Doody, O., & Noonan, M. (2013). Preparing and conducting interviews to collect data.

 Nurse researcher, 20(5), 28–32. doi:10.7748/nr2013.05.20.5.33.e295
- Dowling, R., Lloyd, K., & Suchet-Pearson, S. (2016). Qualitative methods 1. *Progress in Human Geography*, 40, 679–686. doi:10.1177/0309132515596880
- Downton, J. V. (1973). Rebel Leadership: Commitment and Charisma in the Revolutionary process. New York: Free Press.
- Dusek, G. A., Ruppel, C. P., Yurova, Y., & Clarke, R. (2014). The role of employee service orientation in turnover in the U.S. hotel industry. *Journal of Organizational Culture, Communications & Conflict, 18*, 87–104. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org
- Dusick, D. M. (2014). *BOLD educational software: Writing the assumptions and limitations*. Retrieved from http://www.bold-ed.com/
- Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth interviews. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *41*, 1319–1320. doi:10.1007/x10508-012-0016-6
- Eason, K. (2014). Afterword: The past, present and future of sociotechnical systems theory. *Applied Ergonomics*, *45*, 213–220. doi:10.1016/j.apergo.2013.09.017
- Eckardt, R., Skaggs, B. C., & Youndt, M. (2014). Turnover and knowledge loss: An examination of the differential impact of production manager and worker turnover in service and manufacturing firms. *Journal of Management Studies*, *5*, 1025–

- 1057. doi:10.1111/joms.12096
- Effelsberg, D., Solga, M., & Gurt, J. (2014). Getting followers to transcend their self-interest for the benefit of their company: Testing a core sssumption of transformational leadership theory. *Journal of Business and Psychology, 29(1), 131–143.* doi: 10.1007/sl10869-013-9305-x
- Egan, V., Hughes, N., & Palmer, E. J. (2015). Moral disengagement, the dark triad, and unethical consumer attitudes. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 76, 123–128. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2014.11.054
- Elo, S., Kaariainen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).

 Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *SAGE Open*, 4(1), 1–10.

 doi:10.1177/2158244014522633
- Engberg, S., & Berben, L. (2012). Selecting instruments: Reliability and validity considerations. *Journal of Wound Ostomy & Continence Nursing*, *39*, 18–20. doi: 10.1097/WON.0b013e3182400d7f
- Farh, C. I., & Chen, Z. (2014). Beyond the individual victim: Multilevel consequences of abusive supervision in teams. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *99*, 1074–1095. doi:10.1037/a0037636
- Farooqui, M. S., & Nagendra, A. (2014). The impact of person organization fit on job satisfaction and performance of the employees. *Procedia economics and Finance*, 11, 122–129. doi:10.1016/S2212-5671(14)00182-8
- Feilzer, M. Y. (2010). Doing research pragmatically: Implications for the rediscovery of pragmatism as a research paradigm. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *4*, 6–16.

- Ferreira, L., & Almeida, C. (2015). Employee turnover and organizational performance:

 A study of the Brazilian retail sector. *Brazilian Business Review*, *12*(4), 27–56.

 doi:10.15728/bbr.2015.12.4.2
- Fiksenbaum, L. M. (2014). Supportive work–family environments: Implications for work–family conflict and well-being. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 25, 653–672. doi:10.1080/09585192.2013.796314
- Fors Brandebo, M., Nilsson, S., & Larsson, G. (2016). Leadership: Is bad stronger than good? *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, *37*, 690–710. doi: 10.1108/LODJ-09-2014-0191
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408–1416. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Gabler, C., & Hill, R. (2015). Abusive supervision, distributive justice, and work-life balance: Perspectives from salespeople and managers. *Journal of Personal Selling* & *Sales Management*, 35, 247–261. doi:10.1080/08853134.2015.1058167
- Garg, S., & Dhar, R. L. (2014). Effects of stress, LMX and perceived organizational support on service quality: Mediating effects of organizational commitment.

 Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management, 21, 64–75.

 doi:10.1016/j.jhtm.2014.07.002

- Gentles, S. J., Charles, C., Ploeg, J., & McKibbon, K. A. (2015). Sampling in qualitative research: Insights from an overview of the methods literature. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1772–1789. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Gerhart, B., & Fang, M. (2014). Pay for (individual) performance: Issues, claims, evidence and the role of sorting effects. *Human Resource Management Review*, 24(1), 41–52. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2013.08.010
- Ghasabeh, M. S., Reaiche, C., & Soosay, C. (2015). The emerging role of transformational leadership. *Journal of Developing Areas*, 49, 459–467. doi: 10.1353/jda.2015.0090
- Gibson, S., Benson, O., & Brand, S. L. (2013). Talking about suicide: Confidentiality and anonymity in qualitative research. *Nursing Ethics*, *20*, 18–29. doi:10.1177/0969733012452684
- Gilbert. S., Horsman, P., & Kelloway, E. K. (2016). The motivation for transformational leadership scale: An examination of the factor structure and initial tests.

 *Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 37, 158–180. doi:10.1108/lodj-05-2014-0086
- Gillet, N., & Vandenberghe, C. (2014). Transformational leadership and organizational commitment: The mediating role of job characteristics. *Human Resource*Development Quarterly, 25, 321–347. doi:10.1002/hrdq.21192
- Golafshani, N. (2003). Understanding reliability and validity in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 8, 597–606. Retrieved from http://www.nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol8/iss4/6

- Grant, M. A., Rohr, L. N., & Grant, J. T. (2012). How informants answer questions?

 Implications for reflexivity. *Field Methods*, *24*, 230–246.

 doi:10.1177/1525822X11432081
- Grossoehme, D. H. (2014). Overview of qualitative research. *Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy*, 20, 109–122. doi:10.1080/08854726.2014.925660
- Gupta, S., & Singh, P. (2014). A study on turnover and employee retention: A closer review. *Asian Journal of Management*, *5*, 221–226. Retrieved from http://www.indianjournals.com
- Gyensare, M. A., Anku-Tsede, O., Sanda, M. A., & Okpoti, C. A. (2016).

 Transformational leadership and employee turnover intention: The mediating role of affective commitment. *World Journal of Entrepreneurship, Management and Sustainable Development*, *12*, 243-266. doi:10.1108/wjemsd-02-2016-0008
- Hafeez, U., & Akbar, W. (2015). "Impact of training on employee's performance" (Evidence from Pharmaceutical Companies in Karachi, Pakistan). *Business Management and Strategy*, 6(1), 49–64. doi:10.5296/bms.v6i1.7804
- Hammersley, M. (2014). On ethical principles for social research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *18*, 433–449. doi:10.1080/13645579.2014.924169
- Han, J. H., Sullivan, N., Leas, B. F., Pegues, D. A., Kaczmarek, J. L., & Umscheid, C. A.
 (2015). Cleaning Hospital Room Surfaces to Prevent Health Care—Associated
 Infections. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 163, 598–607. doi:10.7326/m15-1192
- Hardicre, J. (2014). Valid informed consent in research: An introduction. British Journal

- of Nursing, 23, 564–567. doi:10.12968/bjon.2014.23.11.564
- Harland, T. (2014). Learning about case study methodology to research higher education.
 Higher Education Research & Development, 33, 1113–1122.
 doi:10.1080/07294360.2014.911253
- Harold, C. M., & Holtz, B. C. (2015). The effects of passive leadership on workplace incivility. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *36*(1), 16–38. doi: 10.1002/job.1926
- Harper, M., & Cole, P. (2012). Member checking: Can benefits be gained similar to group therapy? *The Qualitative Report*, *17*, 510–517. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR17-2/harper
- Harvey, P., Harris, K. J., Gillis, W. E., & Martinko, M. J. (2014). Abusive supervision and the entitled employee. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *25*, 204–217. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.08.001
- Harvey, W. S. (2001). Strategies for conducting elite interviews. *Qualitative Research*, 11, 431–441. doi:10.1177/146879111404329
- Hayward, D., Bungay, V., Wolff, A. C., & MacDonald, V. (2016). A qualitative study of experienced nurses' voluntary turnover: Learning from their perspectives. *Journal of clinical nursing*, 25, 1336–1345. doi:10.1111/jocn.13210
- Hazzan, O., & Nutov, L. (2014). Teaching and learning qualitative research: Conducting qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report, 19*(24), 1–29. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR19/hazzan1.pdf
- Heavey, A. L., Holwerda, J. A., & Hausknecht, J. P. (2013). Causes and consequences of

- collective turnover: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 98, 412–453. doi:10.1037/a0032380
- Henker, N., Sonnentag, S., & Unger, D. (2015). Transformational leadership and
 employee creativity: The mediating role of promotion focus and creative process
 engagement. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 30, 235–247.
 doi:10.1007/s10869-014-9348-7
- Herman, H. M., & Chiu, W. C. (2014). Transformational leadership and job performance:

 A social identity perspective. *Journal of Business Research*, *67*, 2827–2835.

 doi.10.1016/j.jbusres.2012.07.018
- Herman, H. M., Huang, X., & Lam, W. (2013). Why does transformational leadership matter for employee turnover? A multi-foci social exchange perspective. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 24, 763–776. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.07.005
- Hicks, D. (2016). Time to turnover cleaning staff into certified technicians. Retrieved from http://infectioncontrol.tips/2016/02/22/the-time-has-come-to-turn-cleaning-staff-into-certified-technicians/pdf
- Hilal, A. H., & Alabri, S. S. (2013). Using NVivo for data analysis in qualitative research. *International Interdisciplinary Journal of Education*, *2*, 181–186. Retrieved from http://iijoe.org/index.htm
- Hines, C. (2013). Know the players behind hospital acquired infection control. Retrieved from https://www.microhealthllc.com/
- Hirschi, A., & Valero, D. (2017). Chance events and career decidedness: Latent profiles in relation to work motivation. *Career Development Quarterly*, 65, 2–15.

- doi:10.1002/cdq.12076
- Hoare, Z., & Hoe, J. (2013). Understanding quantitative research: Part 2. *Nursing Standard*, 27(18), 48–55. doi:10.7748/ns2013.01.27.18.48.c9488
- Hoffmeister, K., Gibbons, A. M., Johnson, S. K., Cigularov, K. P., Chen, P. Y., & Rosecrance, J. C. (2014). The differential effects of transformational leadership facets on employee safety. *Safety science*, *62*, 68–78.

 doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2013.07.004
- Hofhuis, J., Van der Zee, K. I., & Otten, S. (2014). Comparing antecedents of voluntary job turnover among majority and minority employees. Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: *An International Journal*, *33*, 735–749. doi:10.1108/edi-09-2013-0071
- Holloway, I., & Galvin, K. (2016). *Qualitative Research in Nursing and Health care*. (4th ed.). Iowa: John Wiley & Sons.
- Holman, D. (2013). Job types and job quality in Europe. *Human Relations*, *66*, 475–502. doi:10.1177/0018726712456407
- Holstad, T. J., Korek, S., Rigotti, T., & Mohr, G. (2014). The relation between transformational leadership and follower emotional strain: The moderating role of professional ambition. *Leadership*, 10, 269–288. doi:10.1177/1742715013476083
- Hom, P. W., Lee, T. W., Shaw, J. D., & Hausknecht, J. P. (2017). One hundred years of employee turnover theory and research. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102, 530– 545. doi:10.1037/apl0000103
- Hongvichit, S. (2015). The research progress and prospect of employee turnover intention. *International Business Research*, *8*, 218–223. doi.10.5539/ibr.v8n6p218

- Hoobler, J. M., & Hu, J. (2013). A model of injustice, abusive supervision, and negative affect. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 24, 256–269. doi:10:1016/leaqua. 2012.11.005
- Hooijberg, R., & Lane, N. (2013). Transformational theory of leadership. *Encyclopedia of Management Theory*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE doi:10.4135/9781452276090.n275
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative casestudy research. *Nurse researcher*, 20(4), 12–17. doi: 10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Huang, Q., & Gamble, J. (2015). Social expectations, gender and job satisfaction:

 Front □ line employees in China's retail sector. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 25, 331–347. doi:10.1111/1748-8583.12066
- Hughes, Tawney A. (2014). *Idealized, inspirational, and intellectual leaders in the social* sector: Transformational leadership and the Kravis Prize. CMC Senior Theses.Paper 906. Available from http://www.scholarship.claremont.edu/
- Hunter, J. (2014). The strategic imperative for investing in the health-care industry's frontline workforce. *Employment Relations Today*, *41*, 27–32. doi:10.1002/ert.21440
- Hutchison, A., Johnston, L., & Breckon, J. (2010). Using QSR-NVivo to facilitate the development of a grounded theory project: An account of a worked example.
 International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 13, 283–302.
 doi:10.1080/13645570902996301
- Ishak, N. M., & Bakar, A. Y. A. (2014). Developing sampling frame for case study:

- Challenges and conditions. *World Journal of Education*, *4*(3), 29. doi: doi.org/10.5430/wje.v4n3p29
- Jiang, J., Gao, A., & Yang, B. (2018). Employees' critical thinking, leaders' inspirational motivation, and voice Behavior. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, 17(1), 33–41. doi:10.1027/1866-5888/a000193
- Jin, M. H., & McDonald, B. (2016). Understanding employee engagement in the public sector: The role of immediate supervisor, perceived organizational support, and learning opportunities. *The American Review of Public Administration*, 47, 881–897. doi:10.1177/0275074016643817
- Johnson, T. P. (2015). *Handbook of health survey methods*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Judkins-Cohn, T. M., Kielwasser-Withrow, K., Owen, M., & Ward, J. (2014). Ethical principles of informed consent: Exploring nurses' dual role of care provider and researcher. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 45(1), 35–42. doi:10.3928/00220124-20131223-03
- Jyoti, J., & Bhau, S. (2015). Impact of transformational leadership on job performance:

 Mediating role of leader–member exchange and relational identification. *SAGE Open*, 5(4), 1–13. doi:10.1177/2158244015612518
- Jyoti, J., & Dev, M. (2015). The impact of transformational leadership on employee creativity: The role of learning orientation. *Journal of Asia Business Studies*, 9, 78–98. doi:10.1108/JABS-03-2014-0022
- Kamal, S., & Kamal, S. (2014). Destiny school of business: Will leadership flaws

- continue to reduce employee morale? *IOSR Journal of Business Management,* 16(6), 117–119. doi:10.9790/487x-1661117119
- Karanges, E., Johnston, K., Beatson, A., & Lings, I. (2015). The influence of internal communication on employee engagement: A pilot study. *Public Relations Review*, *41*(1), 129–131. doi:10.1016/j.pubrev.2014.12.003
- Karatepe, O. M. (2014). Hope, work Engagement, and organizationally valued performance outcomes: An empirical study in the hotel industry. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 23, 678–698. doi:10.1080/19368623.2014.855994
- Karniouchina, E. V., Carson, S. J., Short, J. C., & Ketchen, D. J. (2013). Extending the firm vs. industry debate: Does industry life cycle stage matter? *Strategic Management Journal*, 34, 1010–1018. doi:10.1002/smj.2042
- Katou, A. A. (2015). Transformational leadership and organisational performance. *Employee Relations*, *37*, 329–353. doi:10.1108/er-05-2014-0056
- Katsikea, E., Theodosiou, M., & Morgan, R. E. (2015). Why people quit: Explaining employee turnover intentions among export sales managers. *International Business Review*, *24*, 367–379. doi:10.1016/j.ibusrev.2014.08.009
- Kazmi, S. A. Z., & Naaranoja, M. (2015). Innovative drives get fuel from transformational leadership's pied pipers' effect for effective organizational transformation. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 181, 53–61. doi.10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.04.865
- Keller, F. S., & Schoenfeld, W. N. (2014). Principles of psychology: A systematic text in

- the science of behavior. 2, 352–400. doi:10.1037/11293-000
- Khan, S. (2014). Qualitative research method phenomenology. *Asian Social Science*, 19, 298–310. doi:10.5539/ass.v10n21p298
- Kihn, L. A., & Ihantola, E. M. (2015). Approaches to validation and evaluation in qualitative studies of management accounting. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 12, 230–255. doi:10.1108/gram-03-2013-0012
- Kim, T., Henderson, A. C., & Eom, T. H. (2015). At the front line: examining the effects of perceived job significance, employee commitment, and job involvement on public service motivation. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, 81, 713–733. doi.10.1177/0020852314558028
- Knox, A., Warhurst, C., Nickson, D., & Dutton, E. (2015). More than a feeling: using hotel room attendants to improve understanding of job quality. The International *Journal of Human Resource Management*, 26, 1547–1567. doi:10.1080/09585192.2014.949818
- Kopperud, K. H., Martinsen, Ø., & Humborstad, S. I. W. (2014). Engaging leaders in the eyes of the beholder: On the relationship between transformational leadership, work engagement, service climate, and self—other agreement. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 21(1), 29–42. Retrieved from http://jlo.sagepub.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org
- Kossivi, B., Xu, M., & Kalgora, B. (2016). Study on determining factors of employee retention. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, 4, 261. doi:10.4236/jss.2016.45029

- Kouzes, J. M., & Posner, B. Z. (2014). *The student leadership challenge: Five practices for becoming an exemplary leader*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Kovjanic, S., Schuh, S. C., & Jonas, K. (2013). Transformational leadership and performance: An experimental investigation of the mediating effects of basic needs satisfaction and work engagement. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 86, 543–555. doi:10.1111/joop.12022
- Kraemer, T., & Gouthier, M. (2014). How organizational pride and emotional exhaustion explain turnover intentions in call centers: A multi-group analysis with gender and organizational tenure, *Journal of Service Management*, *25*, 125–148. doi:10.1108/josm-07-2013-0173
- Kuhnert, K. W., & Lewis, P. (1987). Transactional and transformational leadership: A constructive/developmental analysis. *Academy of Management Review*, *12*, 648–657. doi:10.5465/amr.1987.4306717
- Kumar, P., Dass, M., & Topaloglu, O. (2014). Understanding the drivers of job satisfaction of frontline service employees: Learning from "lost employees." *Journal of Service Research*, 17, 367–380. doi:10.1177/1094670514540981
- Kumar, V., & Pansari, A. (2016). Competitive advantage through engagement. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *53*, 497–514. doi:10.1509/jmr.15.0044
- Lashley, C. (2001). Costing staff turnover in hospitality service organizations. *Journal of Services Research*, 1, 3. Retrieved from http://www.jsr-iimt.in/
- Lau, W. K. (2014). Employee's participation: A critical success factor for justice perception under different leadership styles. *Journal of Management*, *2*, 53–76.

- doi: 10.15640/jmpp.v2n4a3
- Lavoie-Tremblay, M., Fernet, C., Lavigne, G. L., & Austin, S. (2016). Transformational and abusive leadership practices: Impacts on novice nurses, quality of care and intention to leave. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 72, 582–592. doi:10.1111/jan.12860
- Lee, M. (2014). Transformational leadership: is it time for a recall?. *International journal* of management and applied research, *I*(1), 17–29. doi:10.18646/2056.11.14-002
- Lewin, K., Lippitt, R., & White, R. K. (1939). Patterns of aggressive behavior in experimentally created "social climates". *The Journal of Social Psychology*, *10*, 269–299. doi:10.1080/00224545.1939.9713366
- Lian, H., Brown, D. J., Ferris, D. L., Liang, L. H., Keeping, L. M., & Morrison, R. (2012). Abusive Supervision and Retaliation: A self-control framework. *Academy of Management Journal*, *57*(1), 116–139. doi:10.5465/amj.2011.0977
- Ling, M. L., Apisarnthanarak, A., Thu, L. T. A., Villanueva, V., Pandjaitan, C., & Yusof,
 M. Y. (2015). APSIC guidelines for environmental cleaning and decontamination.
 Antimicrobial Resistance and Infection Control, 4, 58. doi:10.1186/s13756-015-0099-7
- Liu, Y., Jing, Y., & Gao, M. (2015). Transformational leadership: From the perspective of neurological leadership. *Open Journal of Leadership*, 04, 143–152. doi:10.4236/ojl.2015.44013
- Loh, J. (2013). Inquiry into issues of trustworthiness and quality in narrative studies: A perspective. *The Qualitative Report*, *18*(33), 1–15. Retrieved from

- http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Love, D., Trammell, A., & Cartner, J. (2010). Transformational leadership, campus climate and its impact on student retention. *Journal of Organizational Culture, Communications & Conflict, 14*(2), 75–81. Retrieved from http://alliedacademies.org/Public/Default.aspx
- Lu, L., Lu, A. C. C., Gursoy, D., & Neale, N. R. (2016). Work engagement, job satisfaction, and turnover intentions. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 28, 737–761. doi:10.1108/ijchm-07-2014-0360
- Lussier, R. N., & Hendon, J. R. (2015). *Human resource management: Functions, applications, and skill development*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Mackey, J. D., Frieder, R. E., Brees, J. R., & Martinko, M. J. (2015). Abusive supervision: A meta-analysis and empirical review. *Journal of Management*. 43, 1940–1965. doi:10.1177/0149206315573997
- Mah'd Alloubani, A., Almatari, M., & Almukhtar, M. M. (2014). Effects of leadership styles on quality of services in health care. *European Scientific Journal, ESJ*, 10(18), 118–129. Retrieved from www.http://eujournal.org/
- Mahesh, K. S. (2017). Employee attrition and retention strategies in amara raja batteries limited: An empirical investigation. *International Journal of Scientific Research and Management*. *5*, 5396–5409. doi:10.18535/ijsrm/v5i6.07
- Mandhanya, Y. (2015). Training and development strategies: Motivational tool for increasing employee retention. *Training & Development Journal*, *6*, 15–20. doi:10.5958/2231-069x.2015.00002.5

- Mann, P. D. D. P. W., & Gupta, M. P. (2014). A study on employee retention. *Journal of Social Science*, 1(1), 27–38. Retrieved from http://www.igmeta.com/
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2011). *Designing qualitative research* (2nd ed.).

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2014). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.).

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2015). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.).

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.).

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Martin, J. (2015). Transformational and transactional leadership: An Exploration of gender, experience, and institution type. *Portal: Libraries and the Academy, 15*, 331–351. doi:10.1353/pla.2015.0015.
- Mathew, M., & Gupta, K. S. (2015). Transformational leadership: Emotional intelligence. *SCMS Journal of Indian Management*, *12*, 75. Retrieved from http://www.scmsgroup.org/
- McCleskey, J. A. (2014). Situational, transformational, and transactional leadership and leadership development. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, *5*, 117.

 Retrieved from http://jbsq.org/
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, *30*, 537–542. doi:10.1177/0267659114559116

- McManus, J., & Mosca, J. (2015). Strategies to build trust and improve employee engagement. *International Journal of Management & Information Systems*, 19, 37–42. doi:10.13007/466
- Memon, M. A., Salleh, R., & Baharom, M. N. R. (2016). The link between training satisfaction, work engagement and turnover intention. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 40, 407–429. doi:10.1108/ejtd-10-2015-0077
- Men, L. R. (2014). Strategic internal communication: Transformational leadership, communication channels, and employee satisfaction. *Management Communication Quarterly*, 28, 264–284. doi:10.1177/0893318914524536
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. (4th ed.). San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Mikkelson, A. C., York, J. A., & Arritola, J. (2015). Communication competence, leadership behaviors, and employee outcomes in supervisor-employee relationships. *Business and Professional Communication Quarterly*, 78, 336–354. doi:10.1177/2329490615588542
- Miller, J. (2014). What's so hard about engaging people in improving their workplace?

 **Journal for Quality & Participation, 37(2), 10–14. Retrieved from http://www.asq.org/
- Milman, A., & Dickson, D. (2014). Employment characteristics and retention predictors among hourly employees in large U.S. theme parks and attractions. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 26, 447–469. doi:10.1108/ijchm-04-2013-0178

- Minor, D., & Housman, M. G. (2015). Toxic workers. *Academy of Management Proceedings*. 1. 13189–13189. doi:10.5465/AMBPP.2015.13189
- Mishra, K., Boynton, L., & Mishra, A. (2014). Driving employee engagement: The expanded role of internal communications. *International Journal of Business Communication*, *51*, 183–202. doi:10.1177/2329488414525399
- Mittal, S., & Dhar, R. L. (2015). Transformational leadership and employee creativity: Mediating role of creative self-efficacy and moderating role of knowledge sharing. *Management Decision*, *53*, 894–910. doi:10.1108/MD-07-2014-0464
- Mohamed, R. K. M. H., Nor, C. S. M., & Dahalan, N. (2014). The relationship between human resource management practices, leader member exchange, psychological contract fulfillment, trade union and employee retention behavior. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Science*, 4, 174. doi: 10.6007/ijarbss/v4-6/939
- Mohammad, S. I. S., Al-Zeaud, H. A., & Batayneh, A. M. E. B. (2011). The relationship between transformational leadership and employees' satisfaction at Jordanian private hospitals. *Business and economic horizons*, *5*, 35–46. doi:10.15208/beh.2011.13
- Mohsin, A., & Lengler, J. (2015). Exploring the antecedents of staff turnover within the fast-food industry: The case of Hamilton, New Zealand. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality and Tourism*, 14(1), 1–24. doi:10.1080/15332845.2014.904169
- Morgan, J. C., Dill, J., & Kalleberg, A. L. (2013). The quality of health care jobs: can

- intrinsic rewards compensate for low extrinsic rewards? *Work, Employment & Society, 27*, 802–822. doi:10.1177/0950017012474707
- Morgeson, F. P., Mitchell, T. R., & Liu, D. (2015). Event system theory: An event-oriented approach to the organizational sciences. *The Academy of Management Review*, 40, 515–537. doi:10.5465/amr.2012.0099
- Morse, J. M., Barrett, M., Mayan, M., Olson, K., & Spiers, J. (2002). Verification strategies for establishing reliability and validity in qualitative research. *International journal of qualitative methods*, *1*(2), 13–22.

 doi:10.1177/160940690200100202
- Morse, W. C., Lowery, D. R., & Steury, T. (2014). Exploring saturation of themes and spatial locations in qualitative public participation geographic information systems research. *Society & Natural Resources*, 27, 557–571. doi:10.1080/08941920.2014.888791
- Mosadeghrad, A. M. (2014). Factors Influencing Health care Service Quality. *International Journal of Health Policy and Management, 3*(2), 77–89.

 doi:10.15171/ijhpm.2014.65
- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Moynihan, D. P., Pandey, S. K., & Wright, B. E. (2015). Transformational leadership in the public sector: Empirical evidence of its effects. In Public Administration Reformation: Market Demand from Public Organizations (Vol. 18, pp. 87–104). Boca Raton, FL: Routledge/Taylor & Francis.

- Myers, M. D. (2013). *Qualitative research in business and management* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Nanjundeswaraswamy, T. S., & Swamy D R, D. R. (2015). Leadership styles and quality of work life in SMEs. *Management Science Letters*, *5*(1), 65–78. doi:10.5267/j.msl.2014.12.006
- Nayak, N., Pai, A., Prabhu, N., & Granil, P. D. (2015). Management perspective of employee turnover in the housekeeping department. *International Journal of Management and Social Sciences Research*, *4*(9), 4–7. Retrieved from http://www.irjcjournals.org/ijmssr/Sep2015/2.pdf
- Neves, P., & Eisenberger, R. (2014). Perceived organizational support and risk taking. *Journal of Managerial Psychology, 29*, 187–205. doi:10.1108/jmp-07-2011-0021
- Nica, E. (2016). Employee voluntary turnover as a negative indicator of organizational effectiveness. *Psychosociological Issues in Human Resource Management*, *4*, 220-226. doi:10.22381/pihrm4220169
- Nichols, H. M., Swanberg, J. E., & Bright, C. L. (2016). How does supervisor support influence turnover intent among frontline hospital workers? The mediating role of affective commitment. *The Health Care Manager*, *35*, 266–279. doi:10.1097/hcm.0000000000000119
- Nilsson, U., Jaensson, M., Dahlberg, K., Odencrants, S., Grönlund, A., Hagberg, L., & Eriksson, M. (2016). RAPP, a systematic e-assessment of postoperative recovery in patients undergoing day surgery: Study protocol for a mixed-methods study design including a multicentre, two-group, parallel, single-blind randomized

- controlled trial and qualitative interview studies. *British Medical Journal*, *6*(1), 1–7. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2015-009901
- Nivethitha, L. D., & T. J. Kamalanabhan, S. (2014). Human resource practices and employee turnover intentions in the hospitality industry. *Global Journal of Management and Business Research*, *14*(1). doi:10.17406/GJMBR
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, *18*, 34–35. doi.10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Noor, K. B. M. (2008). Case study: A strategic research methodology. *American Journal of Applied Sciences*, 5, 1602–1604. doi:1038/44ajassp.2008.1602.1604
- Norman, S. M., Gardner, D. G., & Pierce, J. L. (2015). Leader roles, organization-based self-esteem, and employee outcomes. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, *36*, 253–270. doi:10.1108/lodj-06-2013-0072
- Northouse, P. G. (2013). Leadership: Theory and practice. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Northouse, P. G. (2014). *Introduction to leadership: Concepts and practice*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Northouse, P. G. (2015). Leadership: Theory and practice. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Northouse, P. G. (2018). Leadership: Theory and Practice. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2012). 'Unsatisfactory saturation': A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 1, 190–197. doi:10.1177/1468794112446106
- Oladapo, V. (2014). The impact of talent management on retention. *Journal of business* studies quarterly, 5(3), 19–36. doi:10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n1p481

- Onwuegbuzie, A., & Leech, N. (2007). A call for qualitative power analyses. Quality & Quantity: *International Journal of Methodology, 41,* 105–121. doi:10.1007/s11135-005-1098-1
- Özer, Ö., Ugurluoglu, Ö., Kahraman, G., & Avci, K. (2017). A Study on toxic leadership perceptions of wealthcare workers. *Global Business and Management Research*, 9(1), 12–23. Retrieved from http://www.gbmr.ioksp.com
- Paladan, N. N. (2015) Transformational leadership: The emerging leadership style of successful entrepreneurs. *Journal of Literature and Art Studies*, *5*(1), 64–72. doi:10.17265/2159-5836/2015.01.008
- Palanski, M., Avey, J. B., & Jiraporn, N. (2014). The effects of ethical leadership and abusive supervision on job search behaviors in the turnover process. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *121*(1), 135–146. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1690-6
- Park, H., Hoobler, J. M., Wu, J., Liden, R. C., Hu, J., & Wilson, M. S. (2017). Abusive supervision and employee deviance: A multifoci justice perspective. (pp.1–19). *Journal of Business Ethics*. doi:10.1007/s10551-017-3749-2
- Patiar, A., & Wang, Y. (2016). The effects of transformational leadership and organizational commitment on hotel departmental performance. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 28, 586–608. doi:10.1108/IJCHM-01-2014-0050
- Patton, C. (2015). Asoka and Paul: transformations that led to effective transformational leadership. *Leadership and the Humanities*, *3*, 133–144. doi:10.4337/lath.2015.02.04
- Peltokorpi, V., & Hasu, M. (2014). Moderating effects of transformational leadership

- between external team learning and research team performance outcomes.

 *Research & Development Management, 45, 304–316. doi:10.1111/radm.12091
- Perko, K., Kinnunen, U., & Feldt, T. (2014). Transformational leadership and depressive symptoms among employees: Mediating factors. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, *35*, 286–304. doi:10.1108/LODJ-07-2012-0082
- Petty, N. J., Thomson, O. P., & Stew, G. (2012). Ready for a paradigm shift? Part 2: Introducing qualitative research methodologies and methods. *Manual Therapy*, 17, 378–384. doi:10.1016/j.math.2012.03.004
- Pezalla, A. E., Pettigrew, J., & Miller-Day, M. (2012). Researching the researcher-as-instrument: An exercise in interviewer self-reflexivity. *Qualitative Research*, *12*, 165–185. doi:10.1177/1487941111422107
- Phelps, A., & Horman, M. (2010). Ethnographic theory-building research in construction.

 *Journal of Construction Engineering & Management, 136(1), 58–65.

 doi:10.1061/(ASCE)CO.1943-7862.000010
- Pradhan, S., & Pradhan, R. (2015). An empirical investigation of relationship among 117 transformational leadership, affective organizational commitment and contextual performance. *Vision, 3*, 227–235. doi:10.1177/0972262915597089
- Press, M., & Arnould, E. J. (2014). Narrative transparency. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 30, 1353–1376. doi:10.1080/0267257x.2014.925958
- Puni, A., Agyemang, C. B., & Asamoah, E. S. (2016). Leadership styles, employee turnover intentions and counterproductive work behaviours. *International Journal*

- of innovative research and development, 5(1), 1–7. Retrieved from http://www.ijird.com/
- Qu, R., Janssen, O., & Shi, K. (2015). Transformational leadership and follower creativity: The mediating role of follower relational identification and the moderating role of leader creativity expectations. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 26, 286–299. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2014.12.004
- Quin, J., Deris, A., Bischoff, G., & Johnson, J. T. (2015). Comparison of transformational leadership practices: Implications for school districts and principal preparation programs. *Journal of Leadership Education*, *14*(3), 71–85. doi:10.12806/V14/I3/R5
- Radda, A. A., Majidadi, M. A., & Akanno, S. N. (2015). Employee engagement: The new model of leadership. *Indian Journal of Management Science*, *5*(2), 1–17. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-16217-1 2
- Ragab, M., & Arisha, A. (2013). Knowledge management and measurement: A critical review. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 17, 873–901. doi:10.1108/jkm-12-2012-0381
- Rana, S. S., Malik, N. I., & Hussain, R. Y. (2016). Leadership styles as predictors of job involvement in teachers. *Pakistan Journal of Psychological Research*, 31, 161–182. Retrieved from http://www.pjprnip.edu.pk/pjpr/index.php/pjpr
- Ratna, R., & Chawla, S. (2012). Key factors of retention and retention strategies in telecom sector. *Global Management Review*, *6*(3), 35–46. Retrieved from http://www.Sonamgmt.org/gmr.html

- Rawung, F. H., Wuryaningrat, N. F., & Elvinita, L. E. (2015). The influence of transformation and transactional leadership on knowledge sharing: An empirical study on small and medium businesses in Indonesia. *Asian Academy of Management Journal*, 20, 123–145. Retrieved from http://www.usm.my/aamj/
- Razali, R., Anwar, F., Rahman, M. A., & Ismail, F. F. (2016). Mixed methods research:

 Insights from requirements engineering. *Electronic Journal of Business Research*Methods, 14(2), 125–134. Retrieved from http://www.ejbrm.com
- Reich, J. A. (2015). Old methods and new technologies: Social media and shifts in power in qualitative research. Ethnography, 16, 394–415.doi:10.1177/1466138114552949
- Robertson, J. L., & Barling, J. (2013). Greening organizations through leaders' influence on employees' pro-environmental behaviors. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 34, 176–194. doi.org/10.1002/job.1820
- Robinson, R. N. S., Kralj, A., Solnet, D. J., Goh, E., & Callan, V. (2014). Thinking job embeddedness not turnover: Towards a better understanding of frontline hotel worker retention. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 36, 101–109. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2013.08.008
- Robson, C., & McCartan, K. (2016). *Real world research* (4th ed.). London: John Wiley & Sons.
- Rooney, T., Lawlor, K., & Rohan, E. (2016, May). Telling Tales: Storytelling as a Methodological Approach in Research. In *ECRM2016-Proceedings of the 15th European Conference on Research Methodology for Business Management*":

- ECRM2016 (p. 225). Academic Conferences and publishing limited.
- Root, G., (2016). Small business: The benefit of transformational leadership. Retrieved from http://www.smallbusiness.chron.com/benefits-transformational-leadership-10577.html
- Ross, E. J., Fitzpatrick, J. J., Click, E. R., Krouse, H. J., & Clavelle, J. T. (2014).

 Transformational leadership practices of nurse leaders in professional nursing associations. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, *44*, 201–206. doi: 10.1097/NNA.00000000000000058
- Rothausen, T. J., Henderson, K. E., Arnold, J. K., & Malshe, A. (2017). Should I stay or should I go? Identity and well-being in sensemaking about retention and turnover. *Journal of Management*, 43, 2357–2385. doi: 10.1177/0149206315569312
- Rowley, J. (2012). Conducting research interviews. *Management Research Review*, *35*, 260–271. doi:10.1108/01409171211210154
- Roy, R., & Gupta, S. (2015). Transformational leadership use a Determinant of Employee

 Creativity. *Quality Management Practices for Global Excellence*, 1, 234–241.

 Retrieved from http://www.alliedpublisher.com
- Rupp, M. E., Fitzgerald, T., Sholtz, L., Lyden, E., & Carling, P. (2014). Maintain the gain: Program to sustain performance improvement in environmental cleaning.
 Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology, 35, 866–868. doi:10.1086/676873
- Saeed, T., Almas, S., Anis-ul-Haq, M., & Niazi, G. S. K. (2014). Leadership styles: relationship with conflict management styles. *International Journal of Conflict Management*, 25, 214–225. doi:10.1108/IJCMA-12-2012-0091

- Saks, A.M., & Gruman, J. A. (2014). What do we really know about employee engagement? *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 25, 155–182. doi:10.1002/hrdq.21187
- Saldana, J. (2013). *Coding manual for qualitative researchers* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Salem, I. E. B. (2015). Transformational leadership: Relationship to job stress and job burnout in five-star hotels. *Tourism and Hospitality Research*, *15*, 240–253. doi:10.1177/1467358415581445
- Sandhya, K., & Kumar, D. P. (2015). Employee retention—A strategic tool for organisational growth and sustaining competitiveness. *Journal of Strategic Human Resource Management*, *3*(3), 42–45. Retrieved from http://www.publishingindia.com/jshrm/
- Sangasubana, N. (2011). How to conduct ethnographic research. *The Qualitative Report,* 16, 567–573. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR162/sangasubana
- Saunders, L., & Tiwari, D. (2014). Employee engagement and disengagement: Causes and benefits. *The International Journal of Business & Management*, 2, 44.

 Retrieved from http://www.theijbm.com
- Schmidt, J. A., & Pohler, D. (2015). The impact of job-based HR system differentiation on firm performance and employee attitudes. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 2015, 17934–17934. Retrieved from http://www.aomonline.org/
- Schreier, M. (2014). Qualitative content analysis. *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Data Analysis*, (pp. 170–183). doi:10.4135/9781446282243.n12

- Schrems, B. (2014). Informed consent, vulnerability and the risks of group-specific attribution. *Nursing Ethics*, *21*, 829–843. doi:10.1177/0969733013518448
- Schweitzer, J. (2014). Leadership and innovation capability development in strategic alliances. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, *35*, 442–469. doi:10.1108/LODJ-01-12-0001
- Scott, M. E. (2016). *Strategies for retaining employees in the hospitality industry*(Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3738026)
- Self, D. R. & Self, T. B., (2014). Negligent retention of counterproductive employees, *International Journal of Law and Management*, 56, 216–230.
 doi:10.1108/IJLMA-07-2012-0021
- Sethuraman, K., & Suresh, J. (2014). Effective leadership styles. *International Business Research*, 7, 165–172. doi:10.5539/ibr.v7n9p165
- Shaw, J. D., Park, T., & Kim, E. (2013). A resource-based perspective on human capital losses, HRM investments, and organizational performance. *Strategic Management Journal*, *34*, 572–589. doi:10.1002/smj.2025
- Shuck, B., Twyford, D., Reio, T. G., & Shuck, A (2014). Human resource development practices and employee engagement: Examining the connection with employee turnover intentions. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 25,239–270. doi:10.1002/hrdq.21190
- Skogstad, A., Hetland, J., Glasø, L., & Einarsen, S. (2014). Is avoidant leadership a root cause of subordinate stress? Longitudinal relationships between laissez-faire

- leadership and role ambiguity. *Work & Stress*, 28, 323–341. doi:10.1080/02678373.2014.957362
- Skowronski, M. (2012). When the bored behave badly (or exceptionally). *Personnel Review*, 41, 153–149. doi:10.1108/00483481211200006
- Sosik, J. J., Chun, J., Blair, A. L., & Fitzgerald, N. A. (2014). Possible selves in the lives of transformational faith community leaders. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, *5*, 283–293. doi:10.1037/a0032646
- St Clair, D., (2014). How can emerging disinfection technologies gain a foothold in the current culture of hospitals? *World Hospitals and Health Services*, 50(2), 19–22. Retrieved from http://www.ihf-fih.org/
- Stake, R. E. (2013). *Multiple case study analysis* (1st ed.). London: Guilford Publications Press.
- Steinmetz, S., de Vries, D. H., & Tijdens, K. G. (2014). Should I stay or should I go? The impact of working time and wages on retention in the health workforce. *Human* resources for health, 12(1), 23. doi:10.1186/1478–4491-12-23
- Stoica, C. (2015). Sleep, a predictor of subjective well-being. Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 187, 443–447. doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.03.083
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (2015). *Basics of qualitative research: Techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Stuckey, H. L. (2014). Three types of interviews: Qualitative research methods in social health. *Journal of Social Health and Diabetes*. *1*, 56–59. doi:10.4103/2321

- Sun, R., & Wang, W. (2016). Transformational leadership, employee turnover intention, and actual voluntary turnover in public organizations. *Public Management Review*, 19, 1124–1141. doi:10.1080/14719037.2016.1257063
- Suri, H. (2011). Purposeful sampling in qualitative research synthesis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 11, 63–75. doi:10.3316/QRJ1102063
- Swanberg, J. E., Nichols, H. M., & Perry-Jenkins, M. (2016). Working on the frontlines in U. S. hospitals: Scheduling challenges and turnover intent among housekeepers and dietary service workers. *Journal of Hospital Administration*, *5*(4), 76–86. doi:10.5430/jha.v5n4p76
- Sypniewska, B. A. (2014). Evaluation of factors influencing job satisfaction.

 Contemporary Economics, 8(1), 57–71. Retrieved from http://we.vizja.pl/en/home
- Taylor, C. M., J. Cornelius, C., & Colvin, K. (2014). Visionary leadership and its relationship to organizational effectiveness. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 35, 566–583. doi:10.1108/lodj-10-2012-0130
- Taylor, S., & Land, C. (2014). Organizational anonymity and the negotiation of research access. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, *9*, 98–109. doi: 10.1108/QROM-0-2012-1104
- Terera, S. R., & Nigirande, H. (2014). The impact of rewards on job satisfaction and employee retention. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, *5*, 481–489. doi: 10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n1p481
- Tews, M. J., Michel, J. W., & Ellingson, J. E. (2013). The impact of coworker support on

- employee turnover in the hospitality industry. *Group & Organization Management*, 38, 630–653. doi:10.1177/1059601113503039
- Thanacoody, P. R., Newman, A., & Fuchs, S. (2014). Affective commitment and turnover intentions among health care professionals; the role of emotional exhaustion and disengagement. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 25, 1841–1857. doi:10.1080/09585192.2013.860389
- Thomas, D. R. (2017). Feedback from research participants: Are member checks useful in qualitative research? *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 14,* 23–41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2016.1219435
- Thomas, S. (2015). Exploring strategies for retaining information technology professionals: A case study (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3681815)
- Tims, M., Bakker, A. B., & Derks, D. (2014). Job crafting and job performance: A longitudinal study. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 24, 914–928. doi:10.1080/1359432x.2014.969245
- Tomkins, L., & Eatough, V. (2013). The feel of experience: Phenomenological ideas for organizational research. Qualitative research in organizations and management:

 An International Journal, 8, 258–275. doi:10.1108/grom-04-2012-1060
- Trmal, S. A., Bustamam, U. S. A., & Mohamed, Z. A. (2015). The effect of transformational leadership in achieving high performance workforce that exceeds organisational expectation: A study from a global and Islamic perspective. *Global*

- Business and Management Research, 7, 88–94. Retrieved from www.gbmr.ioksp.com
- Tse, H. H. M., To, M. L., & Chiu, W. C. K. (2017). When and why does transformational leadership influence employee creativity? The roles of personal control and creative personality. *Human Resource Management*, *57*(1), 145–157. doi:10.1002/hrm.21855
- Tullar, J. M., Amick, B. C., Brewer, S., Diamond, P. M., Kelder, S. H., & Mikhail, O. (2016). Improve employee engagement to retain your workforce. *Health care management review*, 41, 316–324. doi:10.1097/hmr.000000000000000009
- Tyssen, A. K., Wald, A., & Spieth, P. (2014). The challenge of transactional and transformational leadership in projects. *Internationa Journal of Project Management*, 32, 365–375. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2013.05.010
- The U.S. Department of Labor Statistics. (2017). Job openings and employee turnover: January 2015. Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Secretary, The National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research* (45 CFR 46). Retrieved from http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2014). Informed consent information sheet. Retrieved from http://www.hhs.gov

- Valentin, M. A., Valentin, C. C., & Nafukho, F. M. (2015). The engagement continuum model using corporate social responsibility as an intervention for sustained employee engagement: Research leading practice. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 39, 182–202. doi:10.1108/EJTD-01-2014-0007
- Van Dierendonck, D., Stam, D., Boersma, P., De Windt, N., & Alkema, J. (2014). Same difference? Exploring the differential mechanisms linking servant leadership and transformational leadership to follower outcomes. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25, 544–562. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.11.014
- VanderWalde, A., & Kurzban, S. (2011). Paying Human Subjects in Research: Where are we, how did we get here, and now what? *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 39, 543–558. doi:10.1111/j.1748-720x.2011.00621.x
- Vasquez, D. (2014). Employee retention for economic stabilization: A qualitative phenomenological study in the hospitality sector. *International Journal of Management, Economics and Social Sciences*, *3*(1), 1–17. Retrieved from http://www.ijmess.com/
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative—quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, *37*(1), 21–54. Retrieved from http://www.misq.org/
- Vito, G., E. Higgins, G., & S. Denney, A. (2014). Transactional and transformational leadership: An examination of the leadership challenge model. *Policing:*An International Journal of Police Strategies & Management, 37, 809—822. doi.10.1108/PIJPSM-01-2014-0008

- Vogl, S. (2013). Telephone versus face-to-face interviews mode effect on semistructured interviews with children. *Sociological Methodology*, 43, 133–177. doi:10.1177/0081175012465967
- Von Bertalanffy, L. (1968). *General systems theory: Foundations, development, application*. New York, NY: Braziller.
- Wahyuni, D. (2012). The research design maze: Understanding paradigms, cases, methods, and methodologies. *Journal of Applied Management Accounting Research*, *10*(1), 69–80. Retrieved from http://www.cmawebline.org
- Waldman, D. A., Carter, M. Z., & Hom, P. W. (2015). A multilevel investigation of leadership and turnover behavior. *Journal of Management*, *41*, 1724–1744. doi: 10.1177/0149206312460679
- Weberg, D. (2010). Transformational leadership and staff retention: an evidence review with implications for health care systems. *Nursing Administration Quarterly*, *34*, 246–258. doi:10.1097/NAQ.0b013e3181e70298
- Welty Peachey, J., J. Burton, L., & E. Wells, J. (2014). Examining the influence of transformational leadership, organizational commitment, job embeddedness, and job search behaviors on turnover intentions in intercollegiate athletics. *Leadership & organization development journal*, 35, 740–755. doi:10.1108/LODJ-10-2012-0128
- White, P. (2014). Improving staff morale through authentic appreciation. Development and Learning in Organizations: *An International Journal*, 28(5), 17–20. doi:10.1108/DLO-05-2014-0034

- Wilson, D. W., & Washington, G. (2007). Retooling phenomenology: Relevant methods for conducting research with African American women. *Journal of theory construction & testing*, 11(2), 63–66. Retrieved from http://tuckerpub.com/jtct.htm
- Wilson, V. (2014). Research methods: Triangulation. *Evidence-Based Library and Information Practice*, *9*(1), 74–75. Retrieved from https://journals.library.ualberta.ca/eblip/index.php/EBLIP
- Wolf, L. E., Patel, M. J., Williams-Tarver, B. A., Austin, J. L., Dame, L. A., & Beskow,
 L. M. (2015). Certificates of confidentiality: Protecting human subject research
 data in law and practice. *Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics, 43*, 594–604.
 Retrieved from http://www.aslme.org/Back_Issues_And_Articles?journal=JLME
- Wong, S. I., & Giessner, S. R. (2016). The thin line between empowering and laissez-faire leadership: An expectancy-match perspective. *Journal of Management*, 44, 757–783. doi:10.1177/0149206315574597
- Yaghoubi, H., Mahallati, T., Moghadam, A. S., & Fallah, M. A. (2014). Transformational leadership: Enabling factor of knowledge management practices. *Journal of Management and Sustainability*, 4, 165. doi:10.5539/jms.v4n3p165
- Yahaya, R., & Ebrahim, F. (2016). Leadership styles and organizational commitment: literature review. *Journal of Management Development*, *35*, 190–216. doi:10.1108/jmd-01-2015-0004
- Yang, I. (2015). Positive effects of laissez-faire leadership: conceptual exploration.

 **Journal of Management Development, 34, 1246–1261. doi:10.1108/jmd-02-2015-

- Yang, J. T., Wan, C. S., & Fu, Y. J. (2012). Qualitative examination of employee turnover and retention strategies in international tourist hotels in Taiwan. *International Journal of Hospitality Management, 31*, 837–848. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhm.2011.10.001
- Yao, Y. H., Fan, Y. Y., Guo, Y. X., & Li, Y. (2014). Leadership, work stress and employee behavior. *Chinese Management Studies*, 8(1), 109–126. doi: 10.1108/CMS-04-2014-0089
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions:

 Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal of Education*, 48, 311–325. doi:10.1111/ejed.12014
- Yin, R. K. (2009). *Case study research: Design and methods* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2011). *Qualitative research from start to finish*. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Yin, R. K. (2013). Validity and generalization in future case study evaluation., 19, 213–332. doi:10.1177/1356389013497081
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed.). London: Sage Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2016). *Qualitative research from start to finish. (2nd ed.)*. New York, NY: Guilford Publications

- Young, W., & Leveson, N. G. (2014). An integrated approach to safety and security based on systems theory. *Communications of the ACM*, *57*(2), 31–35. doi:10.1145/2556938
- Zamawe, F. C. (2015). The implication of using NVivo software in qualitative data analysis: Evidence-based reflections. *Malawi Medical Journal*, *27*(1), 13–15. doi:10.4314/mmj.v27il.
- Zareen, M., Razzaq, K., & Mujtaba, B. G. (2015). Impact of transactional, transformational and laissez-faire leadership styles on motivation: A quantitative study of banking employees in Pakistan. *Public Organization Review*, *15*, 531–549. doi:10.1007/s11115-014-0287-6
- Zhang, Y. (2016). A review of employee turnover influence factor and countermeasure.

 Journal of Human Resource and Sustainability Studies, 4, 85.

 doi.org/10.4236/jhrss.2016.42010
- Zoghbi-Manrique-de-Lara, P., & Suárez-Acosta, M. A. (2014). Employees' reactions to peers' unfair treatment by supervisors: The role of ethical leadership. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 122, 537-549. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1778-z
- Zoutman, D. E., Ford, B. D., & Sopha, K. (2014). Environmental cleaning resources and activities in Canadian acute care hospitals. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 42, 490–494. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2014.01.013
- Zwingmann, I., Wegge, J., Wolf, S., Rudolf, M., Schmidt, M., & Richter, P. (2014). Is transformational leadership healthy for employees? A multilevel analysis in 16 nations. *German Journal of Research in Human Resource Management*, 28(1–2),

24-51. doi:10.1688/ZfP-2014-01.

Appendix A: Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use to retain EVS employees?
- 2. How did you gather information to implement strategies to reduce EVS turnover?
- 3. How do you measure the effectiveness of the EVS retention strategies?
- 4 How did the EVS employees respond to these strategies?
- 5 What elements of the occupation add to the employees' turnover?
- 6. Moreover, what elements of the organization contribute to, or detract from, EVS employee retention?
- 7. What advice can you provide to other management teams that struggle with implementing best practices for an effective leadership style that retain valuable employees?
- 8. What did I forget to ask that you found to be useful in reducing turnover?

Appendix B: Interview Protocol

- 1. Introduce self to the participant.
- 2. Present consent form, go over consent and answer questions and concerns of the participant.
- 3. Give participant a copy of consent form.
- 4. Turn on the recording device.
- 5. Follow the procedure to introduce the participant to pseudonym code identification, note the date and time.
- 6. Begin semistructured interview with Question 1; follow through to the final question.
- 7. Follow up with additional probing questions.
- 8. End interview sequence; discuss transcript review and member checking with participants.
- 9. Thank the participant for participating in the study. Reiterate contact numbers for follow up questions and concerns from the participant.
- 10. End of the protocol.